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Highlights and Financial Calendar
WEKRMKE B

2020 2019
2020F 2019
HK$°000 HK$°000
TER TER
Revenue I i
— Media Content Distribution Business — BN R 248,635 424,558 -41.4%
— Brand Licensing Business — R 66,487 50,964 +30.5%
Total i 315,122 475,522 -33.7%
Gross profit £ A 145,574 228,192 -36.2%
Gross profit margin £ & 46.2% 48.0%
Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company 7%/ il it 5 & ff i 71 35,951 105,579 -65.9%
Proposed final dividend per share® kB R AR R0 HK 0.21 cents HK 1.3 cents
0.217& 4L 1.3l
Liquidity ratio RBESLE
Current ratio® TR 2.9 2.0
Cash ratio® Bt goe 14 0.8
Capital adequacy ratio EXRELLE
Debt to equity ratio® BRI R N/A N/A
TER AR
(1) Proposed final dividend per share was calculated by dividing proposed final (1 R S A O B R R A R SR R LA A AR A
dividend by the number of Company’s ordinary shares of 1,992,000,000 in issue O H AR 2y A BB AT 8 T B0H 1,992,000,000
as at the date of the annual report. Jear 5 -

(2)  Current ratio was calculated by dividing the total current assets by the total — (2) Ui B Fb 3 J5 % i B & A8 (E B L&A B ALY
current liabilities as at the respective dates. B A AR

(3)  Cash ratio was calculated by dividing the cash and cash equivalents by the total ~ (3) WG RLH & RH SEEYHRUSABA
current liabilities as at the respective dates. Y B AR AR R T o

4) Our Group did not have any interest-bearing nor external borrowings. Thus the 4) A% 45 B S AT o] 5 S B AR AE B o Rk > fiK
debt to equity ratio was not applicable. BHER LR R A o

- 6 MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2020 Annual Report



Financial Calendar

Highlights and Financial Calendar
RERIK A

BB

Interim results announcement
28 November 2019

Paid date of the interim dividend
20 January 2020

Annual results announcement
30 June 2020

Closure of Register of Members

— Annual general meeting
21 September 2020 to 24 September 2020 (both
days inclusive)

—  Proposed final dividend!
30 September 2020 to 7 October 2020 (both
days inclusive)

Annual general meeting
24 September 2020

Payable date of the final dividend!
29 October 2020

Note 1: The proposed final dividend is subject to the approval
of the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

RIS
20194F11 A28 H

R % BOUR AT H
202041 H20H

AR E N
202046 H30H

L U R

—  WEHREAFERE
20204F9 H21H £20204F9H24H
(B ERE™MXR)

—  ERERE VR MR W B
20204F9H30H % 20204F10H7H
(B EREMR)
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20204F9H24H
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20204E10H29H
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e
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Chairman’s Statement

ERRE

Dear Shareholders,

[BIEPE > 154 %] (Never forget why you start any mission, and
it will be accomplished in the end) has been a constant reminder to
me and the management team throughout the Reporting Period.

While I have been in the industry for the last 31 years, we are new
to the capital market. There has been a lot to learn and we are still
learning. But tapping into the capital market allows us to scale
up our business, widen our reach and deepen our eco system for
sustainable growth. With our experience, knowledge of the markets
and distribution network, our long term goal is to own and distribute
our own content and brands, create new markets, and expand
collaboration with our partners and customers in a “win-win-win”
model.

We have laid down foundational groundwork of our 5 years strategy
by expanding on our distribution platform and strategic content and
brand investments. Our business has always evolved with technology
advancement and for the coming years, we will utilise and invest
more on technology related applications to enhance what we will
offer to our partners and customers.

We are at some unprecedented times and it has been a difficult
year. During the Reporting Period, with the US-China trade war
followed by COVID-19 outbreak affecting lives and the whole world,
we saw our revenue and profit dropped but I am grateful to our
dedicated team working tirelessly maintaining profit margins and
ensuring profitability of the Group. I am also grateful to our Board
of Directors for guidance and insights in navigating these challenges.
While we cannot control external factors, we believe our 5 years
strategy with a dedicated and persistent team will take us on the right
track achieving our long-term goal.

The Group’s long-term dividend policy is to share the fruits of our
hard work with all Shareholders, while efficiently utilising the
Group’s resources to expand business and improve profitability,
leading to value creation and sustainable growth. I am therefore
pleased to report that a final dividend of HK 0.21 cents per share was
proposed for the Reporting Period. Including the interim dividend of
HK 0.24 cents per share distributed during the Reporting Period, the
total dividends for the Reporting Period is HK 0.45 cents per share,
representing a distribution of approximately 25% of the Group’s
profit attributable to shareholders of the Company.

I also take this opportunity to thank you on behalf of the Board

and the Group for your support as our Shareholders and sharing our
vision for the Group.

Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia
Chairman and Executive Director

30 June 2020

MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2020 Annual Report
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

Business Review

During the Reporting Period, due to unfavorable global economic
outlook and the outbreak of the coronavirus disease globally, the
business environment has been difficult which has negatively
impacted our financial performance. Despite the unprecedented
hard times, the Group remains profitable and the Group’s financial
position remains healthy with sufficient cash on hand which includes
the fund raised from the Listing, to meet current business needs
and development. The gross profit margin for the Reporting Period
remains roughly the same as last year.

Media Content Distribution Business

Our Media Content Distribution Business continued to be our key
revenue contributor during the Reporting Period, accounting for
around 79% of our revenue. The unfavorable global economic outlook
caused some of our clients paid slower or delayed purchase for
contents as their stream of revenue from advertisements decreased.
The global outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic also slowed down
business activities as many territories were locked down. Events for
content acquisition and sales activities such as HK FILMART were
delayed. But according to Maoyan Entertainment', the pandemic led
to soaring traffic for online streaming platforms with total users
increased by 17.4% during the Chinese New Year holiday watching
dramas, comedy and movies. However, their advertising revenue
has dropped. During the Reporting Period, there was no impact on
movies distribution as cinemas closed after 28 March 2020 in Hong
Kong. Taiwan’s cinemas remained open and we did not distribute
any movies in China. During the Reporting Period, some of the more
popular titles we brought to the market include “Dr. Stone”, “My
Hero Academia Season 4”, “Food Wars! Shokugeki no Soma — The
Plate of God” and “Haikyu! Season 4”. In addition, we acquired and
distributed the popular Chinese drama series “Ever Night 2” (%14 2),
“Count Your Lucky Stars” (& 4 & #72), “Moonshine & Valentine”
(%5 & T K AW P14 to Asia. Market response to our titles has
been positive. Demand for quality entertainment with easy access
is heightened, especially when people maintain social distancing
and stay home during the pandemic. For the inflight media content
distribution, during the Reporting Period, we acquired more than 30
Asian titles including Asian blockbuster like “The Climbers” (%%
%), the beloved romantic comedy from Japan “Kaguya-Sama Love is
War” and also the adorable and touching movie “Little Q” CEH RN

Q).

! Maoyan: China’s Online Entertainment Market Booming with the COVID-19
Pandemic dated 9 April 2020 https://enmobile.prnasia.com/releases/apac/
maoyan-china-s-online-entertainment-market-booming-with-the-covid-19-
pandemic-277147.shtml
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE WD

Brand Licensing Business

Our Brand Licensing Business continues steady growth with revenue
up 31%. During the Reporting Period, Brand Licensing Business
accounted for 21% of our total revenue. The global outbreak of
the COVID-19 pandemic slowed down business activities as many
territories were locked down. Events and exhibitions for licensing
opportunities such as some character-themed Charity Run and
C3AFA HK were cancelled or delayed. However, as we have local
teams in the region, business activities were not significantly
disrupted. In line with our strategic plan, we expanded our licensing
brands portfolios and categories. We have been appointed as the
master licensee of Happiplayground, a local Hong Kong intellectual
property (“IP”). We also represent two international brands,
Finlayson and Pure Norway, brands that inspire nature and lifestyle.
We continue to focus in building our evergreen and pre-school brands
by adding in our portfolio Mr. Bean, Pinkfong and Baby Shark. With
good and long-term partnership with our international licensors,
licensees and teamwork, we won two awards. Our exhibition
showcasing Popeye’s 90th anniversary won the Star Award from the
China Licensing Federation and China Licensing Expo. Also, The
Little Prince Language Centre in China operated by our licensee
won the 2019 Annual Influential English Brand for Young Learners
from the Tencent News Education Award. Tapping on the rise of
e-commerce, our licensee launched the first flagship store of Le Petit
Prince on Tmall.com for official Le Petit Prince products. For our
evergreen brand Garfield, we entered into new collaboration with top
tier KOLs (key opinion leaders) and launched a variety of different
collections of apparel, fashion bags and cosmetics for general
consumers. Our licensee also launched a Garfield themed cruise tour
of the Pearl River in Guangzhou in July 2019 offering excitement to
the city of Guangzhou and also attracting visitors from the Greater
Bay Area.

Ani-One®

In line with our strategic plan, we have further strengthened and
expanded our own proprietary content distribution platform — Ani-
One®. In Hong Kong, we celebrated our 3rd anniversary of having
our Ani-One® platform on myTV SUPER. In addition to landing
in Taiwan, Singapore, Malaysia and Brunei, during the Reporting
Period, we launched Ani-One® in Vietnam. In addition, we launched
our flagship Anime Channel — Ani-One® YouTube Asia Channel
in December 2019 and since then, the channel has approximately
200,000 subscribers as of 31 March 2020.

- 10 MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2020 Annual Report
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Co-investment and our own IP

We have increased our co-investment in content production portfolio
with a view to having direct ownership of the underlying IP of such
content either in the form of shared copyright and/or monetisation
right. It elevates us to being a member of the production committee
and also allows us to earn additional revenue in addition to the grant
of our distribution right.

During the Reporting Period, the first animation movie in which we
co-invested and distributed — “Children of the Sea” (i 8k 2 F) was
released with a total box office of close to HK$3 million for Hong
Kong and Taiwan. The movie is highlighted not only for its animation
beauty but also for the prominent environmental conservation
message it carries and received the “2019 Best Animation Film
Award” in the 74th Mainichi Film Awards in Japan and “Animation
Division — Grand Prize” in the 23rd Japan Media Arts Festival.

The Group has also invested in a Chinese animated series “Kiki and
Nuna”, which the Group has been granted the content distribution and
licensing right globally. The distribution and licensing activities will
be conducted globally in late 2020.

We have also invested in three Hong Kong movies: (i) “The Shadows”
(B&F 22 ), a psychological thriller; (ii) “One Second Champion” (—
2 1), a motivational drama; and (iii) “Drifting” (¥ /K% ) which
talks about the lives of those who live under the flyovers of Sham
Shui Po.

Our existing contents and brands with effective licence:

The table below sets out the number of active titles of media contents
available for the Media Content Distribution Business and the number
of brands available for the Brand Licensing Business during the
Reporting Period:

Number of active titles of media AJ R ) R I R 23
contents available hi R B H
Number of brands available CIRRIORTY s gE]
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A 3G I 7 A RAEALG R LR A
75 38 3k =2 ROME R A BRE R T X
B A 5% 55 N 2 0 R B R i A o U ER R T
TRERME A R S REZA®
T3 T BAT AT RER [R5 > 4 JAM T LA
BUHE 20 4

R AR RE KBTS
—HEBEBXERZ FIETBLAHE L
B> MEEEE3E BT (B Z YA
B R S g S T B LT A o R R R AR
MEEREGEMMEZEBE - I £ %0 A&
7408 5 HE % 020195 11 8 5 5 58
DL K 5523 i H A di 8 2050 6 T A —
KEJBEIH -

AL H IR BE T B 3 (A A AN 5
ey Sl SR E R RN AT &
RHERER o BEAT M A3 HE T B 1 R 2020 4F K
TR BT -

M IBE T = EEEL ) OB
FrCORRER) s (DS ERACBEE)
Fe(iii) CH K BRI - % Fakd TR R
WBIE T ANETRE -

HEEXRENREABTR @B :
RS R R R R A A AT
S5 1A A A A5 B TR 2 R S R o e
ESC IR 4=

As at 31 March
2020

As at 31 March
2019

JiA 20194
3H31H

202045
38318

431 386
87 114

202058 BEEEARAT 11 -



Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE WD

Business Outlook and Future Plans

The outbreak of the coronavirus disease globally is expected to
continue to affect many territories and businesses. According to
World Economic Outlook April 2020 issued by the International
Monetary Fund?, the global economy is projected to contract sharply
by -3% in 2020. Assuming the pandemic fades in the second half of
2020 and containment efforts can be gradually unwound, the global
economy is projected to grow 5.8% in 2021 as economic activity
normalises with policy support. But the risks for even more severe
outcomes affecting the global economic outlook are substantial.

In Hong Kong, the movie cinemas were closed after 28 March 2020
and re-opened with restricted capacity on § May 2020. Some of our
movies have delayed release. However, movie cinemas remain open in
Taiwan and we expect little impact on movies distribution.

Japan had declared a state of emergency from 8 April 2020 to 25
May 2020. Animations and dubbing artists were not able to attend
work and there will be delay and/or decrease in production output
but as the emergency has lifted, the upcoming impact is moderate and
we have also strengthened our library with other contents.

Notwithstanding this unprecedented time and challenges ahead, we
believe that we are in the right place with the right fundamentals
navigating these challenges. The pandemic has affected lives and
halted many business activities. However, it has also elevated the
solidarity of humanity and produced new business formats adapting
to the changes. Technology advancement is the key to our business
evolvement — from linear TV to satellite TV to OTTs. Demand for
good quality contents with easy access and at a faster rate is driven
up even more by the technology advancement. More people also have
to change purchasing habits from offline to online.

2 www.imf.org/en/Publications/ WEO/Issues/2020/04/14/weo-april-2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis

We believe “content is king”. As rolled out in our last annual general
meeting in September 2019, our 5 years (2019-2024) strategy will
move the Group to ride with the technology advancement linking
media players and brand owners and creating new markets and value
for all. We will:

1. Expand our own content distribution platforms and
e-commerce platform

. Ani-One®

Partnering with local OTT platforms, we will further
expand our own Ani-One® channel in the territories of
Indonesia, Thailand and India.

Our flagship Anime Ani-One® YouTube channel, which
was launched in the last quarter of 2019, has seen
subscribers growing to more than 300,000 in mid June
2020. We will continue to develop more varieties such as
anime music, game and live events.

. Ani-Kids™

We will launch brand new kids channel targeting children
of ages 3 to 8 in the third quarter of 2020 to bring fun,
education and inspiration to the kids in Asia.

. Ani-Mall™

Tapping into the e-commerce wave, we will also launch
brand new e-commerce shopping platform, initially
targeting anime lovers in late 2020.

2.  Expand our strategic content and brand investment

. We will expand our investments in our own IPs such as
animated series, movies, TV series, characters and brands
crossing over for IP commercialisation. Our invested
animated series of “Kiki and Nuna” will commence
broadcasting in Mainland China in late 2020 and then in
Asia with distribution and licensing activities. We will
continue to collaborate with licensors and help them grow
their brands by conducting different creative programmes.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE WD

We will co-produce a TV drama series adapted from
Japanese manga series “ORENCHI NO FUROJIJO”
targeting to be released in 2021.

We will continue to serve as an ambassador of Hong
Kong’s own media contents and brands, including local
co-production of drama series and brands. We will utilise
our expertise or invest to help promote media contents and
brands created in Hong Kong to international markets.

Venture into new businesses

With our years of licensing experience, we know the
markets well and we plan to be the licensee of our
representing brands to develop innovative and interesting
products for the customers.

We will look for investment and business opportunities
such as music, video games, merchandise, etc. which
complement with and can create synergies with our
existing businesses.
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We will continue to build ourselves as the best platform for our MM BE A GEBIIIERETE > &
partners, providing the best entertainment and brands for everyone in 2= {5 (19 A AP $& 13 B 42 e 4% Ko 5 i o
the globe.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue
For the year ended 31 March 2020, our Group’s revenue reached
HK$315.1 million, representing a decrease of HK$160.4 million or
33.7% as compared to the year ended 31 March 2019, mainly due to
a decrease in the revenue generated from Media Content Distribution
Business.

Revenue derived from Media Content Distribution Business was our
Group’s major source of revenue, contributing 78.9% (2019: 89.3%)
of our Group’s revenue for the year. Revenue derived from Media
Content Distribution Business decreased by 41.4% from HK$424.6
million in last year to HK$248.6 million during the year. Such
decrease in revenue was primarily due to the weakened market
sentiment and various macroeconomic challenges including the
Sino-US trade war and the COVID-19 outbreak, the purchase orders
placed by major customers in China have slowed down resulting in
more conservative purchase patterns among customers.

Revenue derived from Brand Licensing Business increased by 30.5%
from HK$51.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 to HK$66.5
million during the year. The increase was mainly due to its continued
growth in revenue from Japanese brands and the successful contract
renewals with owners of some of our key classic characters. The
increase was also due to the full year effect of revenue contribution of
HK$37.1 million from MAIL (2019: HK$25.9 million) which became
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company in August 2018.

Cost of Sales

Our Group’s cost of sales was primarily royalty payments to the
media content licensors and brand licensors at the mutually agreed
royalty rates. Our Group’s cost of sales decreased by HK$77.8
million or 31.5% from HK$247.3 million for the year ended 31 March
2019 to HK$169.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2020. The
decrease was in line with the decrease in revenue.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Our Group’s gross profit for the year amounted to HK$145.6 million,
representing a decrease of HK$82.6 million or 36.2% as compared to
HK$228.2 million for the previous year, mainly due to the decrease
in revenue. Meanwhile, our Group’s gross profit margin decreased by
1.8 percentage points from 48.0% in last year to 46.2% for the year
ended 31 March 2020 which was roughly the same for both years.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE WD

Other Income and Gains

Our Group’s other income and gains decreased by HK$1.1 million
or 20% from HK$5.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 to
HK$4.4 million for the year. The decrease was mainly due to the
decrease in management fee income from MAIL (which became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of our Group upon completion of the MAIL
Acquisition in August 2018 and thereafter, the transactions with
MAIL were eliminated on consolidation). The decrease was partially
offset by an increase of bank interest income.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Our Group’s selling and distribution expenses for the year amounted
to HK$44.8 million, representing a decrease of HK$3.2 million or
6.7% when comparing to HK$48.0 million in last year. The decrease
was primarily due to decrease in withholding tax expenses which was
in line with the decrease in revenue generated from customers in the
Mainland China. Such decrease was partially offset by the increase
in staff costs of HK$1.1 million and promotion expenses in relation
to enhancing our market presence and facilitating our business
expansion of HK$2.1 million during the year.

General and Administrative Expenses

Our Group’s general and administrative expenses for the year
amounted to HK$51.3 million, representing a decrease of HK$11.3
million or 18.1% when comparing to HK$62.6 million in last year.
The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in one-off listing-
related expenses of HK$15.2 million. Such decrease was mainly
offset by the increase in professional expenses.

Other Expenses

Our Group’s other expenses, net for the year amounted to
HK$18.8 million, representing an increase of HK$13.9 million
when comparing to HK$4.9 million in last year. The increase was
primarily due to the write-down of licensed rights to net realisable
value of HK$16.9 million recognised during the year, representing
an increase of HK$13.0 million when comparing to HK$3.9 million
recorded for the year ended 31 March 2019, after taking into account
the current market conditions and estimated future recoverable
amounts in respect of the licensed rights.

Income Tax Credit

Our Group’s income tax credit for this year amounted to HK$0.9
million (2019: income tax expense of HK$12.7 million). The
turnaround from tax charge to tax credit was mainly attributable to
the decrease in net amount of assessable profit and tax deduction
for the foreign withholding tax paid for the year, together with the
effect of prior year’s over-provision for income tax of HK$1.5 million
recorded in the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Profit for the year

As a result of the foregoing, our Group’s profit for the year decreased
by HK$69.6 million or 65.9% from HK$105.6 million for the
year ended 31 March 2019 to HK$36.0 million. Net profit margin
decreased from 22.2% for the year ended 31 March 2019 to 11.4%.

Profit Attributable to Shareholders of the Company

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company for the year
amounted to HK$36.0 million (2019: HK$105.6 million), representing
a decrease of 65.9% from last year.

Adjusted Profit Attributable to Shareholders of the
Company

The following table sets out the reconciliation from our Group’s
profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the Company
to adjusted profit for the year attributable to shareholders of the
Company:
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For the year ended

31 March
BEZ3A31BLEE
2020 2019
20205 20194F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FTERT T 7o
Profit attributable to shareholders of the AR ) AR A i A
Company 35,951 105,579
Plus: pilie
Listing-related expenses gl ol 4,514 19,666
Adjusted profit attributable to shareholders AN ) i R A K8 AR R Y )
of the Company 40,465 125,245

Our Group’s adjusted profit attributable to shareholders of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2020 would amount to
HK$40.5 million, representing a decrease of HK$84.7 million or
67.7%, as compared to HK$125.2 million for the year ended 31 March
2019.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE WD

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 March 2020, our Group had cash and bank balances of
HK$298.0 million (2019: HK$163.8 million), most of which were
denominated in US dollars and HK dollars.

As at 31 March 2020, our Group had a current ratio' of 2.9 compared
to 2.0 and a cash ratio? of 1.4 compared to 0.8 as at 31 March 2019.
The improved ratios were due to cash generated from the primary
offering of the Company’s shares to the public.

Current ratio was calculated based on the total current assets divided
by the total current liabilities as at the respective dates.

Notes: !

Cash ratio was calculated by dividing the cash and cash equivalents
by the total current liabilities as at the respective dates.

As at 31 March 2019 and 2020, our Group did not have any interest-
bearing nor external borrowings. Thus, neither the gearing ratio nor
the debt to equity ratio was applicable to our Group.

Following the Listing, our Group’s operations were mainly financed
by internal resources including but not limited to existing cash and
cash equivalents, anticipated cash flow from its operating activities
and the net proceeds generated from the Listing. With strong
liquidity position, our Group is able to expand in accordance with its
business strategy.

Our Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2020.

There was no material impact to our Group arising from the
fluctuation in the exchange rates of the currencies in US dollars and
Renminbi for the year ended 31 March 2020.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

After deduction of the underwriting fees and commissions and
expenses payable by the Company in connection with the global
offering, the Net Proceeds are HK$185.9 million. As at the date of
this report, the Company does not anticipate any change to its plan on
the use of proceeds as stated in the Prospectus.

The Board closely monitored the use of proceeds from the Listing
with reference to the use of proceeds disclosed in the Prospectus and
confirmed that there was no change in the proposed use of proceeds
as previously disclosed in the Prospectus.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the period from Listing Date to 31 March 2020, the Net
Proceeds had been applied as follows:

RRERFIAH
FERAFERERR

Intended use of Net Proceeds
as stated in the Prospectus

Strengthen media contents portfolio BRBERAEAS

Expand our Brand Licensing Business B R M S

Relocation and renovation of Hong Kong T8 T e 1 7 VB 0 O R
office and upgrade information technology DRI 88 AR R A

equipment

Use for co-investment in the production of media i i 3t ] # & ¢ fF it 8 4 %
contents

B AL e TR K it R PR
Bk B TBRAR B i 4% £
BE

Expand media content team, brand licensing
team and expand workforce and enhance back
office support

- BEEES

Use for our general working capital

Note 1: The planned amount of use of Net Proceeds has been adjusted in the same

proportion and same manner as stated in the Prospectus due to the difference
between the estimated net proceeds and the actual net proceeds.

Note 2: The unutilised amount as at 31 March 2020 is expected to be utilised in the

years ended 31 March 2021 and 2022.

The unutilised Net Proceeds have been placed as bank balances/
time deposits with licensed banks in Hong Kong as at the date of this
report. The Company intends to use them in the same manner and
proportions as described in the Prospectus.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEE WD

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no change in the capital structure of our Group since
the Listing Date and share capital of our Group only comprises
ordinary shares. As at the date of this report, our Company has
1,992,000,000 ordinary shares in issue.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARY

There was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiary since the
Listing Date and up to the end of the Reporting Period.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 March 2020, none of the assets of our Group was pledged.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2020, our Group had no capital commitment that was
not provided for in the consolidated financial statements.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board and the management of our Company are committed
to the maintenance of good corporate governance practices and
procedures.

The Board believes that good corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for our Group to safeguard the
interests of Shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its
business strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions as set out in the CG
Code as its own code of corporate governance. Since the Listing Date
and up to the date of this report, our Company has complied with the
code provisions as set out in the CG Code, save and except for code
provision A.2.1 as set out below:

Chairman and Chief Executive

Ms. Lovinia Chiu currently holds both positions as chairman and
chief executive officer. Throughout the business history, Ms. Lovinia
Chiu has been the key leadership figure of our Group and has been
primarily involved in the formulation of business strategies and
determination of the business plans. The Directors (including the
independent non-executive Directors) consider Ms. Lovinia Chiu the
best candidate for both positions and that the present arrangements
are beneficial for and in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

As at the date of this report, the composition of the Board is as
follows:

Executive Directors
Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia
(chairman of the Board and chief executive officer)
Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta
Mr. Ma Ching Fung

Non-executive Director
Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson

Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda

Mr. Wong Kam Pui, JP
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Corporate Governance Report
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All Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of
expertise, and have exhibited high standards of personal and
professional ethics and integrity. The biographical details of each
Director and the relationships between the Directors are disclosed on
pages 54 to 64 of this report.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Board has met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

Our Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors a confirmation of his/her independence in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company
also considers that they meet the independence criteria set out in the
Listing Rules.

Non-executive Directors and Directors’ Re-election

The non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) of the Company are appointed for a specific term of three
years, subject to renewal after the expiry of the then current term.

All the Directors of our Company are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meetings. Under the
articles of association of our Company, at each annual general
meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their
number is not three of a multiple of three, the number nearest to but
not less than one-third shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. Our Company’s articles of association also
provides that all Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall be
subject to election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of
the Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of our Company; and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors our Group’s operational
and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control
and risk management systems are in place.
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All Directors, including non-executive Director and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning. The independent non-executive
Directors are responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory
reporting of the Company and providing a balance in the Board for
bringing effective independent judgement on corporate actions and
operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of
the Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at our Company’s expenses for
discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to our Company details of other offices
held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant operational matters of our Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and management of
our Company are delegated to the management.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors
Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes
in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a formal and
comprehensive induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements. Such induction shall be supplemented by meetings with
senior management of our Company.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and
reading material on relevant topics would be provided to Directors
where appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant
training courses.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, all Directors have attended
training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, seminars,
conferences and workshops and read relevant news alerts,
newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant publications.
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Board Meetings

The Articles of Association state the responsibilities and operational
procedures of the Board. Pursuant to code provisions of the CG
Code, the Board will meet at least four times a year at regular
intervals to consider operational reports and financial results of our
Company and policies. Significant operational policies have to be
discussed and passed by the Board.

During the period from the Listing Date and up to 31 March 2020,
17 regular Board meetings were held for the purposes of, among
others, considering and approving the annual results of our Group for
the year ended 31 March 2019 and the interim results of our Group
for the six months ended 30 September 2019. During the Reporting
Period, apart from regular Board meetings, the chairman also held a
meeting with independent non-executive Directors only without the
presence of other Directors.

During the period from the Listing Date and up to 31 March 2020,
our Company has held one general meeting.

The attendance record of the meeting is set out below:

BITES
/N (AT A )

Executive Directors

Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia (Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer)

Chiu Siu Fung Noletta

Cheung Wai Kit (resigned on 30
November 2019)

7N R

Ma Ching Fung 5 IE 8
Non-executive Director FHITES

Wong Hang Yee, JP e e (A h)
Independent Non-executive Directors B I FHITES
Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda 2B W

Fung Ying Wai Wilson U e &

Wong Kam Pui, JP G CR P %01

Esgea

AL A = T A R A e AT e AR AR
Joo AR SEE IR T I Z S IR S
FHERDBITHKGE N & > FHAL
) o S S AR B o R
B JH K6 TE e w am I A -

B i B F 202043 H31HEH - B
AR EFH e E e DEE LA
(E A 5) A8 48 B % £ 20194F3 H31H 1k 4F
BE 24 R AR AN 4 1B 2 20194F9H 30
Hib A A Z R4 - S 3m o B
EMRITHE ST TR > ERIRE A
HE R 00 UL BB T I AT R AR
T —R ek o

B A E E20204E3 431 B > 4
NEIE BB — KB RKE -

ok AL B T

Attendance/
No. of General
Meeting
HERE,
BRERAXERE

Attendance/
No. of Board

Meeting
HE R 8
EEEERNE

o BB (11 20194F 11 H30 H B (F)

16/17 1/1
16/17 1/1

4/9 0/1
17/17 1/1
17/17 1/1
17/17 1/1
17/17 1/1
17/17 1/1
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board reviewed our Company’s corporate governance policies
and practices, training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management, our Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
the compliance of the Model Code and the guidelines, and our
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
corporate governance report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee,
for overseeing particular aspects of our Company’s affairs. All Board
committees of our Company are established with specific written
terms of reference which deal clearly with their authority and duties.
The terms of reference of these committees are posted on the website
of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and the website of our
Company at www.medialink.com.hk.

Audit Committee

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises one
non-executive Director, namely Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Leung Chan Che
Ming Miranda, Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson and Mr. Wong Kam Pui,
JP and is chaired by Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson.

The terms of reference of the Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The main duties of the Committee are to assist the Board in
reviewing the financial information and reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems, effectiveness of the
internal audit function, scope of audit and appointment of external
auditors, and arrangements to enable employees of our Company to
raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company.

During the period from the Listing Date and up to 31 March 2020,
the Committee held three meetings for reviewing the interim
and annual financial results and reports and significant issues
on financial reporting, operational and compliance controls, the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
and internal audit function, appointment of external auditors and
engagement of non-audit services and relevant scope of works.
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The Committee also met the external auditors twice without the
presence of the executive Directors.

The attendance record of the meeting is set out below:

Members of the Committee

Fung Ying Wai Wilson (Chairman of
the Audit Committee)

Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda 2 R
Wong Hang Yee, JP wEE (CRCF AL
Wong Kam Pui, JP o8 i CORSF-#h 1)

Z B8 N AR M YUAT 3 S W A9 1 0T B4k
HE A I 5 B K R o

kL AL B S T

Attendance/
No. of meeting(s)

HERE,
ERERH

WA (FEZRETLIH)

3/3
3/3
3/3
3/3

Nomination Committee

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee comprises
one executive Director, namely Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Leung Chan Che
Ming Miranda and Mr. Wong Kam Pui, JP and is chaired by Ms.
Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia.

The terms of reference of the Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The principal duties of the Committee include reviewing the Board
composition, developing and formulating relevant procedures
for the nomination and appointment of Directors, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession
planning of Directors, and assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Committee would take into
account various aspects as well as factors concerning Board diversity
as set out in our Company’s Board Diversity Policy. The Committee
would discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the
Board for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Committee would consider the candidate’s relevant criteria as
set out in the Director Nomination Policy that are necessary to
complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity,
where appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.
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During the period from the Listing Date and up to 31 March 2020,
the Committee held one meeting to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors and to consider the qualifications of the

retiring directors standing for election at the Annual General
Meeting. The Nomination Committee considered an appropriate
balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.
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Attendance/
Members of the Committee No. of meeting(s)
HERE
BERY

Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia (Chairman of /N (PR 25 5 )
the Nomination Committee) 11
Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda T B W 1/1
Wong Kam Pui, JP Bl COR-F %0 1) 1/1

Nomination procedures and the process and criteria

In the nomination process of appointing a new director, the
Committee and/or the Board may select candidates for directorship
from various channels, including but not limited to internal
promotion, re-designation, referral by other members of the
management and external recruitment agents. The Committee and/
or the Board should, upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of
a new director and the biographical information (or relevant details)
of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the criteria (as
set out below) to determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship. If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Committee and/or the Board should rank them by order of
preference based on the needs of our Company and reference check of
each candidate if applicable. The Committee should then recommend
to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship,
as applicable. For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for
election as a Director at the general meeting of our Company, the
Committee and/or the Board should evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria (as set out below) to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship. Where appropriate, the Committee
and/or the Board should make recommendation to shareholders of
our Company in respect of the proposed election of Director at the
general meeting.
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In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered: (i) character and integrity;
(ii) qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the Board
Diversity Policy that are relevant to our Company’s business and
corporate strategy; (iii) any measurable objectives adopted for
achieving diversity on the Board; (iv) requirement for the Board to
have independent Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules
and whether the candidate would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;
(v) any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board
in terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence, gender
and cultural diversity; (vi) willingness and ability to devote adequate
time to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of our Company; and (vii) such other perspectives that
are appropriate to our Company’s business and succession plan and
where applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board and/
or the Nomination Committee from time to time for nomination of
directors and succession planning.

Board Diversity Policy

Our Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets
out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. Our Company
recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and
sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element in
maintaining our Company’s competitive advantage.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Committee will review
annually the structure, size and composition of the Board and where
appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board to
complement our Company’s corporate strategy and to ensure that the
Board maintains a balanced diverse profile. In relation to reviewing
and assessing the Board composition, the Committee is committed to
diversity at all levels and will consider a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and regional and
industry experience.

Our Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives that are relevant to our Company’s business growth and
is also committed to ensuring that recruitment and selection practices
at all levels (from the Board downwards) are appropriately structured
so that a diverse range of candidates are considered.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement
the Board Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to
time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made
towards achieving those objectives.
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Remuneration Committee

As at the date of this report, the Committee comprises one
non-executive Director, namely Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Fung Ying Wai
Wilson and Mr. Wong Kam Pui, JP and is chaired by Mr. Wong Kam
Pui, JP.

The terms of reference of the Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The primary functions of the Committee include reviewing and
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management,
the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior
management; and establishing transparent procedures for developing
such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director
or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her own
remuneration.

During the period from the Listing Date and up to 31 March 2020,
the Committee held three meetings on remuneration packages of

individual executive Directors and senior management.

The attendance record of the meeting is set out below:

Members of the Committee

Wong Kam Pui, JP (Chairman of

the Remuneration Committee)
Fung Ying Wai Wilson 5 e A
Wong Hang Yee, JP woEth

(K1 #b 1)
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Attendance/
No. of meeting(s)

HERE,
EEYS

BRI ORS00 L) (BF W & 5 & L)

3/3
3/3
3/3

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of
the members of the senior management by band for the year ended 31
March 2020 is set out below:

A% A 22576 SFRISF R SCEEBLLS IR > #
2202033 IH IEFESAE B ANEN
S T 4B J&E

Number of

Remuneration bands (HK$) HiNEE (B T) person(s)

A
0 to 1,000,000 0%.1,000,000 2
2,000,001 to 2,500,000 2,000,001 22,500,000 1
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Further particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the
audited financial statements of this report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES

TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the Directors
have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code since
the Listing Date and up to the end of the Reporting Period.

The Company has also established written guidelines no less exacting
than the Model Code for securities transactions by employees
who are likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive
information of the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound and
effective risk management and internal controls are maintained,
while the senior management is charged with the responsibility to
design and implement an internal controls system to manage risks. A
sound system of risk management and internal controls is designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

As the date of this report, our Company does not have an internal
audit function. Nevertheless our Company engaged an external
professional firm to carry out internal audit functions and the Board
was responsible for internal control of our Group and for reviewing
its effectiveness.

Our Group has appointed Corporate Governance Professionals
Limited (“CGPL”) to:

— assist in identifying and assessing the risks of our Group
through the use of an enterprise risk assessment questionnaire
and interviews; and

— independently perform internal control review and assess

effectiveness of our Group’s risk management and internal
control systems.
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The results of the independent review and assessment were reported
to the Audit Committee and the Board on 24 June 2020. Moreover,
improvements in internal control and risk management measures as
recommended by CGPL to enhance the risk management and internal
control systems of our Group and mitigate risks of our Group were
adopted by the Board. Based on the findings and recommendations
of CGPL as well as the comments of the Audit Committee, the Board
considered that the internal control and risk management systems
were effective and adequate. The Board will conduct a review on the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems of
our Group at least once in a financial year.

INSIDE INFORMATION

Our Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to our Company’s Directors, senior management and
relevant employees in handling confidential information, monitoring
information disclosure and responding to enquiries. Control
procedures have been implemented to ensure that unauthorised access
and use of inside information are strictly prohibited.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditor of the Company,
Ernst & Young, in respect of audit services and non-audit services
for the year ended 31 March 2020 amounted to HK$1,700,000 and
HK$578,000 respectively.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Ma Ching Fung is the company secretary of our Company.
His profile is set out in the “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management” section of this report. Mr. Ma has duly complied with
the relevant training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on payment of
dividends. The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
payout ratio. Pursuant to the Dividend Policy, the Board shall take
into account the following factors of the Group when considering the
declaration and payment of dividends:

. financial results;

. cash flow situation;

. business conditions and strategies;

. future operations and earnings;

. capital requirements and expenditure plans;

. interests of Shareholders;

. any restrictions on payment of dividends; and

. any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

Dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board during
a financial year and any final dividend for a financial year will be
subject to the Shareholders’ approval.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Since the Listing Date and up to the date of this report, no changes
have been made to the Articles of Association. A copy of the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of our Company is posted
on the website of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and the
website of our Company at www.medialink.com.hk.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting and
Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings
Shareholders may put forward proposals at general meetings by
requisitioning an extraordinary general meeting. Pursuant to Article
64 of the Company’s Articles of Association, any one or more
shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not
less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall have the
right, by written requisition and send to the Board or the company
secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by our
Company.
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Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

Pursuant to Article 113 of the Articles of Associations, no person,
other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the
Board for election, be eligible for election to the office of director
at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to
propose that person for election as a Director and notice in writing
by that person of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged
at our Company. The period of the lodgement of the notices will
commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of
the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than
7 days prior to the date of such general meeting and the minimum
length of the period during which such notices to our Company may
be given will be at least 7 days.

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person (the “Candidate”) for
election as a director of our Company at the general meeting, he/
she shall deposit a written notice (the “Notice”) with our Company’s
secretary. The Notice (i) must include the personal information of
the Candidate as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and
(ii) must be signed by the shareholder concerned and signed by the
Candidate indicating his/her willingness to be elected and consent to
the publication of his/her personal information.

The period for lodgment of the Notice shall commence on the
day after the despatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for
such election and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such
meeting. In order to allow our Company’s shareholders to have
sufficient time to consider the proposal of election of the Candidate
as a director of our Company, shareholders who wish to make
the proposal are urged to submit and lodge the Notice as early as
practicable before the relevant general meeting.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of our Company,
shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. Our
Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above
to the following:

Address: Suite 1001, 10/F, Tower 1,

South Seas Centre,

75 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Company Secretary)
(852) 2508 9767
investor_enquiries@medialink.com.hk

Fax:
Email:
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For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement,
or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address, apart from
the registered office of our Company, and provide their full name,
contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required by law.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Our Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor
understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies.
Our Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and
other general meetings. At the annual general meeting, Directors (or
their delegates as appropriate) are available to meet shareholders and
answer their enquiries.

Policies relating to Shareholders

Our Company has in place a Shareholders’ Communication Policy
to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately
addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to ensure its
effectiveness.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of our Company for the year ended 31 March
2020.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon our
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of our Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 87 to 93 of this report.

- 34 MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2020 Annual Report

PG R B o B SRR I 2 2 1Y ol BORE
AR~ 3 A O WY A ) (RN DT ) % 0
e ik (A 2 R R A R AE) o Ol 4R
PR SE 2 B OB S B il R
J7 By A 8 o JBeSREORE R R R A% A TR ML K

REEBRE

Aoy T RR R o B R A R A R A R
T % B AR K0 08 B A S 2
B R B RME I TR S R EE - AL
R B ) A Ry SRR R A S > U HOR A
At J RO A R B HL At BB ROR i S R AE -
A BCRCE AR R ' b (AR (i
JIV) o He I ST [m] 2 A 2 22 Al

IR R AE B B R

A 2 ) EL T S S SR A IR D e R B R
S W AR B 2 5 B 7 SR R
o DL R HL A R -

EESHMBRRNEML

B F R I R AR S F L E 202093 H31H 1R
AR B R R AT -

T 130 R T AR AL Rl AR R )
7R K BE RS 3 R BN UL R AE T R
ATEER R -

ENNCIR IR QHTER R R &y
AT 5 P S A 4 SR 8T H 93 E I B 3L
LR &



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Medialink Group Limited
(the “Company”) is pleased to present this Environmental, Social
and Governance (hereinafter called “ESG”) Report (the “ESG
Report”) of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively as the
“Group” or “we”). This ESG Report summarizes the policies,
sustainability strategies, management approach, initiatives and
performance made by the Group in the environmental and social
aspects of its business.

The ESG Report covers the Group’s businesses in the media content
distribution and brand licensing for the year ended 31 March 2020
(the “Reporting Period”). The Report discloses the required
information under the “comply or explain” provisions of the ESG
Reporting Guide set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“HKEX").

The Board is responsible for the Group’s ESG strategy formulation
and reporting, evaluating and determining the Group’s ESG-
related risks, and ensuring that appropriate and effective ESG risk
management measures and internal control systems are in place. In
order to determine the ESG reporting scopes, the key management
personnel have discussed internally and identified the environmental,
social and operating items; and assessed their importance to the
stakeholders and the Group. The summary of material ESG items are
listed out in this Report.

STAKEHOLDERS’ ENGAGEMENT

The Group is committed to maintaining the sustainable development
of its business and the environmental protection of the communities
in which it operates. We maintain regular communication channels
with our stakeholders, including government/regulatory bodies,
shareholders/investors, employees, customers, suppliers, community,
etc. and strive to balance their opinions and interests through
constructive communications in order to determine the directions
of its sustainable development. We assess and determine our
environmental, social and governance risks, and ensure that the
relevant risk management measures and internal control systems are
operating effectively. The following table shows the management
response to the stakeholders’ expectations and concerns:
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STAKEHOLDERS ’ ENGAGEMENT (Continued)

wE

BHESE

Stakeholder Expectation and Concern Management Response
i M EER EEEDE
Government/ > Compliance with laws and >  Observation and compliance of laws and regulations;
regulatory regulations paying tax on time
bodies CREY S T L 5 A8
Sk > i
Y, B Lninelly s Eeemls > Establish comprehensive and effective internal control
announcements
system
& B 4 /N A N N
oo AVAE B 57 2 A7 2 o P L R R
Shareholders/ > Return on investment > Ensure satisfactory financial performance, business
investors N growth and a strong competitive position within the
n ; g industry
OB > Corporate governance - N
S Stgm & FEDR AT € A B A T A B 5 SR 580~ SRS R A
Y B 13z
SN H AR VS A
o R R B > Set up comprehensive business strategic plan for
> Information transparency achieving business goals and objectives
B B i R 4 T Y 2655 R W ) > DUE B E RS B AR
> Ensure transparent and efficient communications by
dispatching information at the websites of HKEX and
the Company
375 98 T B 58 i B A N W) A8 i E BB O AR o e AR
7% WY e A R
Employees > Compensation and welfare >  Ensure fair, reasonable and competitive remuneration
A = h
I & 175 48 0 48 A seneme
NS H 3555y
> Health and safety T PR 22 7 ~ & BRI B350 69 357 T 8 &R
e i B9 2 > Ensure a safe working environment
o o TAEIR B
> Career development B % A 0 LA B
52 > Encourage employees to participate in continuous
education and professional trainings to enhance
competency
SR B 2 B B R BRI DL R S e
Customers > High quality products and >  Provide high quality products and services
%5 services continuously in order to maintain customer
R R RS satisfaction
: T A B 0 48 R R IRBS LA R B P
> Reasonable price
(B4 2 71 > Prov'lde a variety of value-added products and
services
> i i . -
Timely delivery Y2 08 45 9 06 7 O S IR
25 AL
iRy 22 15 > Establish after-sales services to satisfy customers’
needs
2 7 85 12 IR B LA L R R
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STAKEHOLDERS’ ENGAGEMENT (consinued) BEHESHE

Stakeholder

K&

Expectation and Concern

Management Response

EEEDE

Suppliers > Integrity > Select suppliers with due care
H HE 7 A e i 738 1 B
> Corporate reputation > Establish policy and procedures in supply chain
g 2 m management
H &
1 72 3t JRE B 4 B B4 B SR AN AR
> Good relationship with 2 R G ) BOSRAR
the Company > Maintain strong and long-term relationship
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Communities > Social responsibility > Focus on community investment and contribution
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> Environmental protection >  Encourage employees to actively participate in
B charitable activities and voluntary services
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> Corporate reputation
4 B = > Maintain good and stable financial performance and

business growth
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MATERIALITY MATRIX EEMEME

During the Reporting Period, the Group has evaluated a number A BN » A L HC K2 HW =R
of environmental, social and operating items, and assessed their 5% ~ fL & K& E BN SE T > B R AH
importance to stakeholders and the Group through various channels. ¥ #H BF Al £ 7 & B A L [H B K THH W E 4
This assessment helps to ensure that the Group’s business objectives T2 & » 55 FF A% A7 By A 42 9] e R S 755 48
and development direction are in line with the stakeholders’  BEAF & 50 & (13 B B R o 1) 4% 45 B M0
expectations and requirements. The Group’s and stakeholders’ >3 i B Lo 10 SF I 2 B A LN W 5 2
matters of concern are presented in the following materiality matrix: 4 LA

Materiality Matrix

EEMER
€ Anti-discrimination @ Staff compensation > Customers’
measures and welfare satisfaction
SR B TS ) B A & F
= ¢ Labour rights @ Occupational health > Product and service
éﬂ e protection and safety quality
(B ETY e i BB
@ Staff training and > Anti-corruption
promotion opportunity RET5
B T 1B T
&
=
;‘5 3 <> Greenhouse gas < Use of resources > Customers’ privacy
_94; m emissions R A measures and
g £ 1 =5 S PR ¢ Talent management protection
2w =g A (R % 5 LB 1
g R § > Community > Suppliers
g E contribution management
g™ Hfr 2 8 {3 e i e
=
=
<> Exhaust air emission <> Water resources > Operational
JBE SRR utilization compliance
< Sewage discharge K& AL wEGH
E w JEE K BT @ Preventive measures
— <> Generation of non- for child and forced
hazardous wastes labor
375 B 52 LR T e i i 55 T
B it
Low Medium High
& & 5
Importance to the Group
HAEENEEY
<> Environmental € Employee > Operation
BRI 77 T i & 75 1 BT
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OVERALL ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION MANAGEMENT APPROACH

The Group has recognised the importance of good environmental
management and is committed to protecting and conserving the
environment and natural resources. We strive to continuously
improve our environmental performance for the management
philosophy of sustainable development. In response to the global
environmental protection trends, the Group implements the
environmental protection policies to promote energy conservation,
reduce emission of pollutants and to mitigate environmental risks,
including compliance of the applicable local laws and regulations,
ensuring efficient use of energy, water and other resources during
operations, raising staff’s awareness in environmental protection,
and management monitoring of the implementation of environmental
policies.

Management of Emissions

The Group recognises the close link between energy consumption
and greenhouse gas emissions and undertakes various energy saving
measures (refer to the “Management of Resources Utilization” section
below for details) to reduce energy consumption, improve energy
efficiency and reduce greenhouse gas emissions. Waste management
mainly involves disposal of domestic garbage and collection of
waste paper for recycling (refer to the “Management of Resources
Utilization” section below for details). The Group’s businesses are
media content distribution and brand licensing. We do not generate
any hazardous wastes.

Management of Resources Utilization

The Group carefully manages the use of resources and is committed
to ensuring that all resources are used in an efficient and prudent
manner. We continually seek to identify and reduce environmental
impacts attributable to our operational activities, strive to increase
our employees’ awareness of resources conservation. Our employees
are encouraged to make full and effective use of resources, and to
avoid wastage.

Energy Conservation

Gasoline is only used in the Group’s vehicles. We carry out regular
repairs and maintenance on vehicles for better energy use efficiency,
and reduction of fuel consumption and greenhouse gas emissions
due to less usage of vehicle. During the Reporting Period, the Group
consumed approximately 1,920.7 liters of gasoline as compared to
2,817.4 liters of gasoline last year.
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OVERALL ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION MANAGEMENT APPROACH

(Continued)

Management of Resources Utilization (consinued)

Energy Conservation (Continued)

The Group consumes electricity mainly in its offices. We have
implemented a number of measures to save electricity and to improve
the energy efficiency of electrical appliances, and to encourage
employees to cultivate good habits in using electrical appliances. For
example, promoting the use of energy-efficient lighting; encouraging
our employees to switch off air conditioners, computers, personal
electronic devices, light and common office equipment when not in
use; and keeping all electronic appliances well-maintained to ensure
electricity is used effectively. During the Reporting Period, the Group
consumed 82.7 megawatt hours (“MWh”) as compared to 8§84.7 MWh
last year.

We supported the World Wildlife Fund’s “Earth Hour 2020” event
and invited our staff to take part in the event from their homes on
Saturday, 28 March 2020, and we also encouraged our staff to get
their friends and families to participate in the “Earth Hour” together.

Water Conservation

The Group uses water mainly in its pantry and common restrooms.
We have educated our employees to save water in daily life so as to
reduce wastage. During the Reporting Period, the Group consumed
approximately 76.5 tonnes of water as compared to 72.5 tonnes of
water last year.

Paper Conservation

The Group promotes the “green office” policy by encouraging our
staff to save paper and avoid wastage. We distribute information
and documents in electronic format to minimize photocopying and
printing. We also encourage our staff to print on both sides of each
paper and to reuse single-sided used paper. We then collect double-
sided waste paper by putting them into collection boxes for the
further handling by recycling companies. During the Reporting
Period, the Group consumed approximately 0.18 tonnes of paper
which was roughly the same as last year.

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, there was no non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.
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OVERALL ENVIRONMENTAL
PROTECTION MANAGEMENT APPROACH

(Continued)

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group has always been focusing on environmental protection
and envisions that everyone can work together to build a better
environment for living. In order to enhance our employees’
understanding of the adverse impact of our habit and business
activities on the environment, we continue to adopt various policies,
measures, and actions in reducing carbon footprint (refer to the
sections “Management of Emissions” and “Management of Resources
Utilization” above for details). We also encourage our employees
to convey the importance of protecting the environment to their
families, friends and business partners so as to build a stronger
network in alleviating climate change due to human factors.

OVERALL APPROACH ON EMPLOYMENT
AND LABOUR PRACTICES

Employees are our most valuable assets and key driver for the
Group’s sustainable and long-term business development. We are
committed to create a discrimination-free, equal, harmonious
and safe workplace; to build relationships with mutual-respect; to
encourage our employees to be innovative, flexible and committed
when dealing with our customers and to provide high quality
products and services. We also offer promotion opportunities to
attract, develop, retain and reward our talented staff and provide
commensurate remuneration and benefits.

Talent Selection

The Group adopts a fair employment policy. The appropriate
candidates would be selected based on their experiences, knowledge
and abilities, and other job requirements, and regardless of their race,
gender, age, nationality, or religion. This employment policy applies
throughout all phases of the employment, including but not limited
to hiring, promotion, performance appraisal, training, personal
development and termination. As at 31 March 2020, we have a gender
diversified workforce with employee gender ratio of 1 male to 3
females (2019: 1 male to 3 females) and our board also had a gender
ratio of 3 males to 4 females (2019: 2 males to 3 females).

Labour Standards

The Group respects human rights and prohibits any unethical hiring
practices, including child and forced labour. Background checks
with the review of identity documents of job applicants would be
conducted in our hiring process. During the Reporting Period, we did
not hire any applicant under the legal working age and comply with
the local laws and regulations against child and forced labour. The
Group also complies with relevant immigration laws in respect of
foreign staff.
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RIE - HERERHRS

OVERALL APPROACH ON EMPLOYMENT
AND LABOUR PRACTICES (Continued)

Compensation and Welfare

The Group reviews the salary levels of employees regularly and
benchmarks against up-to-date remuneration data in the industry,
so as to establish a fair, reasonable and competitive remuneration
scheme. Staff salary levels are decided based on one’s knowledge,
skills, scope of work, performance, experience and education
background. Our employee remuneration package includes fixed
salary, annual leave, paid sick leave, discretionary year-end bonus
and other benefits. We conduct periodic performance appraisal and
fairly assess the level of the discretionary bonus, salaries increment
and/or promotion recommendations based on a number of criteria.
All employees are entitled to rest days and holidays, for example,
annual leaves, sick leaves, maternity leaves, paternity leaves,
compassionate leaves and marriage leaves. We handle dismissal and
compensation in accordance with the local laws and regulations.
We pay attention to our employees’ health and encourage work-life
balance. Our employees’ working hours are based on the local labour
laws. We may require employees to report to work on weekend or
public holidays but they will be entitled to extra time allowances or
compensation time-off accordingly. The Group HR submits MPF
contributions on time, and the consistent good effort was recognised
by the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority with the Good
MPF Employer Award, e-Contribution Award and MPF Support
Award in October 2019.

On 6 February 2020, the Board adopted the Share Award Scheme
which aims to reward our employees (and other eligible persons) for
their past, present or expected contribution and loyalty to the Group
and align their interests with those of the Shareholders through the
grant of Award.

Development and Training

The Group has always been paying attention to talent cultivation and
is committed to staff training and development, as well as staff self-
enhancement. Permanent employees with 12 months’ service or more
may apply for job-related training programme(s) approved by the
Group. Examples of training activities attended by our employees
during the Reporting Period includes Compliance Overview of a
Listed Company, Media Skills Training, Innovation & Leadership
under Uncertainty, and, Strategy & Innovation for Sustainable
Growth Smart Pricing, How to address the future ESG requirements
Seminar and Annual Update on Financial Reporting Seminar.
Business Heads from overseas offices were invited to attend the Head
Office business development meeting in January 2020.
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OVERALL APPROACH ON EMPLOYMENT
AND LABOUR PRACTICES (Continued)
Health and Safety

We recognise the importance of our employees’ health and safety at
work, therefore we strictly implement office environment sanitation
and fire safety management to prevent occupational hazards which
might lead to staff injury. Smoking in the office areas are absolutely
prohibited. We have clear evacuation procedures in case of fire
outbreak in offices to ensure that our employees are able to take
sensible and immediate action.

The Group management and HR team have taken various
precautionary measures in response to the novel coronavirus
(COVID-19) outbreak, which was recognised as a global pandemic
by the World Health Organisation in March 2020. We actively and
frequently communicated with our staff to keep them well informed
of the measures adopted by the Group to ensure workplace hygiene
and staff wellbeing since the outbreak in January 2020. We provide
surgical masks and sanitisers in the office premises for the staff. We
also sent surgical masks to overseas offices. Flexi-working hours
were arranged for staff allowing flexibility to avoid crowds in public
transportation during peak hours. Arrangements were made for a
pregnant employee to work from home. Staff who traveled outside of
Hong Kong were asked to stay at home for 14 days upon their return
before returning to the office.

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group (i) was not aware of any
non-compliance incidents relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and
welfare that have significant impact on the Group; (ii) has not
identified any cases of non-compliance in relation to child labour or
forced labour; and (iii) was not aware of any non-compliance of laws
and regulations in relation to health and occupational safety.
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OVERALL APPROACH ON MANAGING
OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management

The Group strives to maintain long-term, stable and strategic
cooperative relationships with leading media content and brand
licensors, and to co-develop with them on the basis of equality to
achieve a win-win situation. We select and work with licensors
with reputation and strong commitment to their content and brand.
Many of them are also listed companies with commitment to social
responsibility.

Each media content provider will have different media content and
we enter into distribution agreements and/or licence agreements for
each media content for the relevant rights, territories, distribution
channels and licence period. Similarly, we also enter into agency
and/or licence agreements with each brand owner for the relevant
categories, territories and agreement period.

Product and Service Responsibility

Product and Service Quality

We have been dedicated in providing high product quality and
professional services with the highest degree of integrity and pursuit
of excellence to our customers. The distribution of the licensed
media content by our customers are subject to applicable laws and
regulations at the relevant countries and territories. We make sure
that the media content to be broadcasted will comply with the
relevant regulation. Any updates in such laws and regulations or their
interpretation may impose more onerous compliance requirement on
our customers and we work with our customers and support them
to obtain additional licenses, permits, approvals, registration or
certificates for the broadcast.

As the way of media content consumption continues to evolve, the
channels our customers used may be replaced by newer distribution
channels. We help our customers identify sufficient or suitable
distribution channels based on our knowledge and experience in the
media content distribution trend.

Management of Intellectual Property

The Group has standard operating instructions for all departments
and employees to follow so that the registration and on-going
protection procedures of intellectual property rights and trademarks
are conformed. By well-defined registration procedures such as pre-
registration preparation, internal application examination and renewal
of trademark, we ensure transparency in the decision making process.
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OVERALL APPROACH ON MANAGING
OPERATING PRACTICES (Continued)

Product and Service Responsibility (continued)

Management of Intellectual Property (Continued)

In order to protect our trademarks and intellectual property rights,
designated staff is responsible for periodically checking the Hong
Kong Intellectual Property Journal and other international webpages
if there is new application of trademark registration which is likely
to cause confusion with the Group’s trademarks and we will raise
objection accordingly. In case of any suspected infringement of the
Group’s trademarks, we will take action under the Trade Marks
Ordinance and other applicable rules and regulations in other
countries.

Sustainability

In terms of sustainability, customers’ satisfaction is vital to our
constant and continuous business growth. Our products and services
are well recognised in the media content and brand licensing
industry. The viewership and subscribers increase in our proprietary
Ani-One® channel indicates that we meet our customers’ content
needs.

During the Reporting Period, our licensed Japanese animation movie
“Children of the Sea” was honoured to receive “2019 Best Animation
Film Award” in the 74th Mainichi Film Awards and “Animation
Division — Grand Prize” in the 23rd Japan Media Arts Festival. The
“Children of the Sea” is highlighted not only for its animation beauty
but also for the prominent environmental conservation messages it
carries. We received the Excellent Licensed Theme Location Based
Entertainment Campaign Award by China Licensing Federation and
China Licensing Expo in recognising the popular Popeye’s 90th
Anniversary Art Exhibition in Beijing. As the exclusive master
agent for the Little Prince in China and South East Asia, our brand
licensing team worked closely with the Little Prince Language
Centre in China, which was awarded the 2019 Most Influential Early
Childhood English Brand Award by Tencent News. These awards
reflected our high quality products and services, and our good
reputation in the media content and brand licensing industry.

“The Excellent Licensed Theme Location Based Entertainment
Campaign Award” by China Licensing Federation and China
Licensing Expo
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RIE - HERERHRS

OVERALL APPROACH ON MANAGING
OPERATING PRACTICES (continuea)

Product and Service Responsibility (continued)
Confidentiality

Confidentiality is one of the Group’s core values. We have
established policies and procedures to protect suppliers’ and
customers’ information confidential through our employees’
handbook, employment agreement and trainings. We also adhere
to the requirement under the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance
(Cap. 486) in Hong Kong. We handle suppliers’ and customers’
information with integrity and diligence. The details are maintained
by assigned staff and they have to comply with the requirements of
confidentiality.

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any issues
relating to violations nor receive any complaints concerning breaches
of suppliers’ and customers’ privacy and loss of data.

Anti-corruption

Maintaining an ethical working environment is one of the Group’s
core values. We have adopted a zero-tolerance approach for all
kinds of corruption, bribery and extortion situation. Offenders who
request and/or accept bribes, obtain other illegal interests are to be
heavily penalized. We require all employees to strictly comply with
our anti-corruption policies and procedures, and to prevent any case
of bribery. All directors and staff are required to follow our Code
of Conduct on acceptance of advantage and handling of conflicting
interest when dealing with the Group‘s business. Disclosure forms are
provided to directors and staff for reporting on gifts or advantages
received and declaring any conflict of interest. We are determined in
combating corruption and building a clean society.

Compliance

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of (i) any non-
compliance with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201) in
Hong Kong, or (ii) any litigation cases related to corruption in which
the Group was involved.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

OVERALL APPROACH ON COMMUNITY
INVESTMENT

Our Group is based in Hong Kong and continues to invest in Hong
Kong and locations we operate by hiring local staff. We hire local
professionals and pay tax according to the local laws. We have
also enrolled on retirement fund and medical and travel insurance
schemes for our directors and staff. We conduct our businesses
according to good business practices, actively promote green and
environmentally friendly concepts, and strive for good business
development; contribute to social stability and building a harmonious
community.

We encourage our employees to help people in need by participating
in voluntary services or making charitable donations. During the
Reporting Period, we participated in Oxfam Rice Event in May 2019.
Our staff and their family members helped in selling the Oxfam rice
in Metro Plaza, Kwai Fong and we were awarded the Outstanding
Volunteer Team Fundraising Award. We were one of the sponsors in
the Seniors Esports & Experience Day organised by the Society for
the Promotion of Hospice Care on 27 July 2019 at Cyberport Hong
Kong; and the Oxfam Trailwalker in November 2019. Moreover, our
staff participated in Yan Oi Tong Popeye Charity Run Event on 15
December 2019.

As a HK ambassador to promote the IP industry in Hong Kong, our
CEO and Chairman Ms. Lovinia Chiu shared how our Group can
assist esport companies or startups to utilise IP Commercialisation
at the Digital Entertainment Leadership Forum 2019 at Cyberport
Hong Kong. Ms. Chiu was also invited to share her entrepreneurial
experiences with the Executive MBA participants of the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in September 2019 and January 2020.

In March 2020, we created an epidemic prevention music video using
our Kiki and Nuna characters, who are transformed into “epidemic
prevention angels” to spread their positive energy during this
challenging period. This epidemic prevention children‘s song aims to
bring encouragement in everyone’s effort in preventing the spread of
COVID-19.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE DATA REHEXRERE

SUMMARY
Unit 2018/19 2019/20
By 2018 19 E 2019, 20F E
Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions:
BERBHERE :
Scope 1':
BE-—:
Total Tonnes 6.45 5.20
BmeE LUz
Intensity? Tonnes 0.08 0.05
B L
Scope 22:
gE—:
Total Tonnes 75.93 51.82
BmE L7}
Intensity? Tonnes 0.99 0.54
R E3 LUz
Air emissions*:
BERABHEHE:
NltI‘O%el’l oxides Kilograms 1.64 1.15
Sulfur oxides Kilograms 0.04 0.03
it AL ¥
Particulate matters Kilograms 0.12 0.09
SR KL T
Natural Resources Consumptlon
AAEREREE :
Electricity*:
B
Total MWh 84.7 82.7
wnE JK BL RF
Intensity? MWh 1.10 0.86
BES JK B IRE
Gasoline:
i
Total Liters 2,817.4 1,920.7
BE /DI
Intensity? Liters 36.6 20.0
BES ASix
Water Resources*:
KER :
Total Tonnes 72.5 76.5
wnE L}
Intensity? Tonnes 0.94 0.80
RS L
Notes: Wt -
Scope 1 refers to the Group’s business direct GHG emissions, including 1 [ — R A AR 2T R R R S
combustion of gasoline. PR B AR R BE T o
Scope 2 refers to the Group’s business indirect GHG emissions, including 2 7 R A R [ S A S T RE I ) o 1)
consumption of purchased electricity. PANIGTE: CORN i ke R R TR R i
Intensity is based on the number of employees. 3 wEELME B A E
Estimation methods of data for environmental aspect have been revisited and 4 36 3 5% I 10 AR 04 Ak RO AT T N
revised, for a more comprehensive and accurate disclosure in the Reporting T AETT - DA A 98 2% 48 19 7 3 4 i il 4E BE Y
Year when compared to last year’s methods. Therefore, last year’s data was %%E By T S UERE o I . RAEMEED
revised. Zul e
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“ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE” BY

HKEX

General Disclosure/
Key Performance
Indicators (“KPIs”)

RV

Reporting Guideline

BZATCRER - HERER

—REE
HRENIER ] & 155l
A. Environmental
AREFH
Aspect Al Emissions
fEmAL B
General Disclosure Information on: 39
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
— 4 B A B % R S i SRR R K K s HEYS  A E  E R 39
AR SE Y
@ BUR: & ‘
(b) 57 B BT A K5 B A B A i B A B R R o
KPI Al.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. 49
B S S SCIE BE ALY | B S B A B B O - 49
KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, 49
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
B SR IR AL | i 5 SRUHS AR PR iR (LA G 330) S (i ) 8 B2 (DA e BB~ 9 0H 49
s w5t )
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity N/A!
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
BB SR AR BEALS | P A A 3 BE S AR R (LLME ST 580 Be (Cln g ) %5 18 (A DA i B0 - YNk
45 = =
g JE B w5 o
KPI Al1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, N/A?
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
B SR AR BEALA | P A M R SE W AR R (DAME TG Ko (A ) %5 B (A0 DA i LA - A7
45 =) =
B TH it w5 o
KPI A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results achieved. 39-40
R B R AR R ALS | A 2t A PR R B K I A5 R o 39-40
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, N/A!
reduction initiatives and results achieved.
B SR RCIE R ALG | il R BE A N M IR SEW R O Uk~ WU AR R B ST A8 R ik
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“ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE” BY

HKEX (Continued)

General Disclosure/

Key Performance

Indicators (“KPIs”)

—RIRE
BEENER

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BRI HER

CRCEINEY

Reporting Guideline

¥k & 15 5l
A. Environmental
AREBRE

BRmE

= =]

BZArCERER - HERER

T8 -

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other 39-40
raw materials.

— B A7 U R (B A BB IR ~ K B At JEUM R 9 B 39-40

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) 49
in total (MWh) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility)

B UM PR AL | ST B 00 Y B4 e o I R R (A B~ SRUEl ) R B (LAJK I B T 49
B) Je s P (hn DA R R B TE R D)

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, 49
per facility).

B M AL E A2 | R OK B RO (0 LA g A B LA - 19 TH R RE ) o 49

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved. 39-40

B S IR AR A2 | i I RE RO T AL AR R B BT 1 R o 39-40

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for 40
purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved.

B BURCIE R A2.4 | SR IO K VR L R] A AE AT B RE o DL R 4R T KRR R R B A R 40
B o

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if N/A!
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

BB R FEAR.S | BT T A e R 0 R (DA T R B (08 ) R E BELALAG o itk

Aspect A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

fEEA3 BRERARER

General Disclosure Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the environment 41
and natural resources.

— K T AT B AT N 3B B B KR R I R R B UK o 41

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and 41
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

BB SR AR PR A3 | il IR B B BRI e RN E I R B R O R UE P B B 41
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“ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE” BY

HKEX (Continued)

EE 5D

BZATCRER - HERER

General Disclosure  Reporting Guideline Page
—RRE ] & 1E Sl ¥
B. Social®
B.it &3
Aspect B1 Employment and Labour Practices
fE HE B1 BREREZEIER
General Disclosure Information on: 41-42
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare.
— i 4 B A BT S A RS SR T - TARREE - R P sRE - Zonit 41-42
S AL A B H A 15 28 J A R Y
@ HOR: KR ‘
(b)  RESF S EEAT AN A K5 B 00 A B I R R R
Aspect B2 Health and Safety
fE T B2 RERZ2
General Disclosure Information on: 43
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.
— 4K A BRI 22 2 A B0 R (R B IR BB S0 R E T e 0 43
@ HHK ‘
(b) ST B BEAT A K5 B A B A i AL B R o
Aspect B3 Development and Training
fE E B3 BRKIEI
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging 42
duties at work. Description of training activities.
— i 4 B A B 52 THB BB AT T AF B B B kS B RE A B o i Al B I ) o 42
Aspect B4 Labour Standards
fE E B4 % TR
General Disclosure Information on: 41
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
— A R A BB IE B a5 25 T 41
@ BUR: &k ‘
(b)  #ELSF B B AT AN KR B A B 05 i R ) i) R
Aspect BS Supply Chain Management
fE EB5 5t 8 2 = 12
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. 44
— 4K B BT A Y B R AL g B B o 44
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“ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE” BY

HKEX (Continued)

CRCEINEY

BZArCERER - HERER

General Disclosure  Reporting Guideline Page
—RRE HEEL ¥
B. Social®
B.4t &3

Aspect B6 Product and Service Responsibility
[ EB6 EmRBRBEME
General Disclosure Information on: 44-46
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.
— B ER A A P B A4 A o R IR 5 A £ R B A RS - PR AR MORARE S DL KA 44-46
ROoTER
@ HOR: KR ‘
(b) P B EEAT A KR B M BR U R B BB R R
Aspect B7 Anti-corruption
fE EmB7 k&S
General Disclosure Information on: 46
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
— 4 B A B By L e B R IR S vt R 46
@ HOR: R ‘
(b)  HESF B EEAT A K B M BR U 8 B B R R
Aspect B8 Community Investment
[E E1 B8 HERE
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the 47
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.
— 4 e A B DAL [ 2 B2l R g A 2 T A A I T TR OR L SE TR B & B R AL 47
[ ) i A BB

Notes: Mt it

1 The Group’s businesses are media content distribution and brand licensing. We 1 A A T TR SRS L IR N A R AT I A
did not generate any hazardous wastes. HE > FA A E A AT AT A F B S A AT ]

R R -

2 The Group’s businesses are media content distribution and brand licensing. 2 A A T ) ZE S I B N 2R AT R AR - A
The non-hazardous wastes are mainly domestic garbage and waste paper. The EREY F TR AR R RBEAR R B R R E
employees generate little domestic garbage and waste paper and the related A DB AR TR B IR R JBE AR AR T O L
data is difficult to be collected. So there is no statistics for the amount of Pt s F R A HEEBEYNELE R -
non-hazardous wastes generated.

3 Pursuant to Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on 3 RIEFWL SIS LB & =L

the HKEX, the KPIs under Area B “Social” are recommended disclosures only.
Therefore, the Group chose not to disclose those KPIs in this Report.

BUMAEBE

[ T 22 G W B A 8 | Y ) A U
0 55 W SC s DRI AR 2 IS 4R OR B BR X 4 R
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EENEREEERBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia

Position and Experience

Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia (/> # Z 1), aged 55, is the founder
of our business, the chairman of our Board and the chief executive
officer of our Company, an executive Director and chairman of the
Nomination Committee. Ms. Lovinia Chiu is primarily responsible
for formulating the overall development strategies and business plans
of our Group and overseeing the overall development and operations
of our Group. She was appointed as a Director on 29 October
2018. In addition, Ms. Lovinia Chiu currently holds the position of
director in MEL, MFE, MAIL, Medialink (Asia) Limited, Medialink
Holdings Limited, Medialink Entertainment Holdings Limited,
Medialink Investment Holdings Limited, Medialink Licensing
Holdings Limited, Medialink Pacific Limited, Whateversmiles
Limited, Whateversmiles # 3\ & %I which are wholly-owned
subsidiaries of our Company. She has over 30 years of experience in
the content distribution industry.

Prior to founding our Group in 2000, Ms. Lovinia Chiu started her
career in August 1988 in media content distribution as a marketing
assistant at a private Hong Kong company engaged in content
distribution. She later took on the role of marketing executive and
subsequently director of the marketing and acquisitions department
from November 1988 to January 1990 and January 1990 to June
1993 respectively. Ms. Lovinia Chiu later joined Media Assets
Limited, a company under Star TV Group which primarily focuses
on broadcasting services, as a sales manager from June 1993 to
January 1994. Subsequently and up till the founding of our Group,
Ms. Lovinia Chiu started to conduct media content distribution
and its related licensing business in 1994 through a predecessor
of our Group. Ms. Lovinia Chiu was also featured as one of the
dynamic women entrepreneurs under the 2015 EY Entrepreneurial
Winning Women Asia Pacific programme organised by Ernst &
Young. Ms. Lovinia Chiu is one of the judges and investors for the
Pan-Asia Venture Development Platform, an independent and self-
funded platform which engages EMBA and MBA students as well
as graduates for the purpose of developing quality high- growth
ventures in Asia.

Ms. Lovinia Chiu received her diploma in business administration
from Hong Kong Shue Yan College (currently known as Hong Kong
Shue Yan University) in July 1987. In August 2012, Ms. Lovinia
Chiu also completed the CUHK EMBA-UC Berkeley Business
Negotiations Programme. She received her master’s degree in
business administration (Executive MBA programme) from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in November 2013.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Length of service

Ms. Lovinia Chiu was appointed as executive Director on 29 October
2018. Ms. Lovinia Chiu has entered into a service contract with our
Company for a term of three years commencing from 29 April 2019.
Ms. Lovinia Chiu is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at annual general meetings of our Company pursuant to the Articles
of Association.

Relationships

Ms. Lovinia Chiu is the sister of Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta
(executive Director) and Ms. Chiu Siu Ling Barbara (member of the
senior management), and the sole shareholder of RLA (Controlling
Shareholders). Save as disclosed, Ms. Lovinia Chiu does not have
any relationship with any Directors, senior management, Substantial
Shareholders, or Controlling Shareholders of our Company.

Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta

Position and Experience

Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta (# /Bl Z2 ), aged 51, is an executive
Director. She joined our Group on 27 September 2000 as the
executive vice president for sales and acquisition strategies and was
appointed as our Director on 29 October 2018. Ms. Noletta Chiu
was promoted as the managing director — brand acquisition and
licensing of our Group in May 2019. In addition, Ms. Noletta Chiu
holds the position of director in MEL, MFE, MAIL, Medialink
(Shanghai) Co., Limited, Medialink Brand Management Pte Limited,
Medialink Licensing Holdings Limited, Whateversmiles Limited,
Whateversmiles # . € %t and Medialink Cultural & Creative
(Beijing) Limited, which are wholly-owned subsidiaries of our
Company. She is responsible for supervising and providing strategic
advice on the Brand Licensing Business of our Group.

Ms. Noletta Chiu began her career as a production assistant. She
subsequently focused on film distribution and video shooting and
secured distribution rights to films. Subsequently and prior to joining
our Group, Ms. Noletta Chiu worked for the predecessor of our
Group, namely Medialink International Limited which was engaged
in media content distribution.

Ms. Noletta Chiu graduated with a bachelor of arts degree (major in
cinema and photography) from Southern Illinois University in March
1992 for which she was entered onto the Dean’s list. Ms. Noletta Chiu
is also the Oxfam Hong Kong’s Advisor of Resources Development
on Fundraising and Communications and the member of HKTDC
Design, Marketing and Licensing Services Advisory Committee
(2019/2020).
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
EENRGREEEERE

Length of service

Ms. Noletta Chiu was appointed as executive Director on 29 October
2018. Ms. Noletta Chiu has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from 29 April 2019.
Ms. Noletta Chiu is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at annual general meetings of our Company pursuant to the Articles
of Association.

Relationships

Ms. Noletta Chiu is the sister of Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia (Chairman
of the Board, executive Director and Chief Executive Officer) and
Ms. Chiu Siu Ling Barbara (member of the senior management).
Save as disclosed, Ms. Noletta Chiu does not have any relationship
with any Directors, senior management, Substantial Shareholders, or
Controlling Shareholders of our Company.

Mr. Ma Ching Fung

Position and Experience

Mr. Ma Ching Fung (5 IE # % %), aged 44, is an executive
Director, the chief financial officer and company secretary of our
Company. Mr. Ma joined our Group on 30 September 2017 and is
primarily responsible for overseeing the financial management of
our Group. He was appointed as our Director on 29 October 2018. In
addition, Mr. Ma holds the position of director in Medialink Cultural
& Creative (Beijing) Limited, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
our Company set up in May 2020.

Mr. Ma has over 20 years of working experience in auditing,
accounting and finance in numerous positions across multiple
corporations. He began his career in auditing at Price Waterhouse
(presently known as PricewaterhouseCoopers), an accountancy firm,
in September 1998 and served as an audit manager before he left
the firm in May 2004. He served as the finance manager of Pantene
Industrial Co., Limited, a private company and the finance manager
of Hutchison Harbour Ring Limited, currently known as China
Oceanwide Holdings Limited (stock code: 0715), the shares of which
are listed on the Stock Exchange, from May 2004 to March 2005 and
from March 2005 to April 2006 respectively. Mr. Ma was the group
financial controller at IPE Group Limited (stock code: 0929), the
shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange, from May 2006
to September 2007 and he then served as a corporate controller and
head of controlling at a private company involved in the production
of primary and processed aluminium products from November 2007
to October 2012 and November 2012 to September 2017 respectively
before joining our Group.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Ma graduated with a bachelor’s degree in accountancy from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 1998. He
subsequently obtained a master’s degree in business administration
(Executive MBA programme) at The Chinese University of Hong
Kong in November 2013 for which he was entered onto the Dean’s
list. He has been a fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants since March 2008, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since September 2014 and The Taxation Institute
of Hong Kong since September 2014. He has been an associate
of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators
since December 2016 and The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries since December 2016.

Length of service

Mr. Ma was appointed as executive Director on 29 October 2018. Mr.
Ma has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term
of three years commencing from 29 April 2019. Mr. Ma is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at annual general meetings of
the Company pursuant to the Articles of Association.

Relationships

Mr. Ma does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, Substantial Shareholders, or Controlling Shareholders
of the Company.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
EENRGREEEERE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP

Position and Experience

Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP (2 =14 Z 1), aged 48, joined our Group
on 1 July 2016 and was appointed as a non-executive Director on 29
October 2018. She is primarily responsible for providing strategic
advice to our Board. In addition, Ms. Wong holds the position of
supervisor in Medialink Cultural & Creative (Beijing) Limited,
which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company.

Ms. Wong had been a consultant for MEL since 1 July 2016. Prior to
joining our Group, Ms. Wong worked at Maxim’s Caterers Limited,
a food and beverage catering company in Hong Kong, from February
2007 to August 2015 where her last position was head of legal. She
then served as a consultant for Maxim’s Caterers Limited from
September 2015 to August 2016. Ms. Wong has been a consultant at
Liau, Ho & Chan, a Hong Kong law firm, since September 2017.

Ms. Wong had been a member of each of the Competition
Commission since May 2018, HKSAR Town Planning Board
since April 2016, HKSAR Steering Committee on Review of the
Regulation of Private Healthcare Facilities since October 2012,
HKSAR Chinese Medicine Practitioners Board since September 2017,
Audit Committee of West Kowloon District Authority since January
2017 and Hong Kong Council on Smoking and Health since October
2017. She has also been a council and court member of Hong Kong
Baptist University since February 2017. She was the vice chairman
of the HKSAR Human Organ Transplant Board from February 2013
to February 2019 and has been the chairman of the HKSAR Human
Organ Transplant Board since February 2019.

Ms. Wong graduated with a bachelor’s degree in law from the City
Polytechnic of Hong Kong (currently known as the City University
of Hong Kong) in December 1994. She obtained a master’s degree
in law from the University of London in November 1995 and was
awarded the postgraduate certificate in laws from the University of
Hong Kong in September 1996. She has been admitted as a solicitor
in Hong Kong since September 1998 and a solicitor in England and
Wales since December 1998.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Length of service

Ms. Wong was appointed as non-executive Director on 29 October
2018. Ms. Wong has entered into a service contract with our
Company for a term of three years commencing from 29 April 2019.
Ms. Wong is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
annual general meetings of our Company pursuant to the Articles of
Association.

Relationships

Ms. Wong does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, Substantial Shareholders, or Controlling Shareholders
of our Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson

Position and Experience

Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson ()ff 218 % %), aged 66, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 22 April
2019 and is primarily responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgment to our Board. He is also appointed as the
chairman of the Audit Committee. Mr. Fung was the financial
controller for Jardine Pacific Limited from June 1993 to March 2010.
He then served at Jardine Matheson Limited, a private company
principally engaged in providing management services to its parent
company, namely Jardine Matheson Holdings Limited (LSE: JAR,
BSX: JMHBD.BH, SGX:J36), the shares of which are listed on the
London Stock Exchange, Bermuda Stock Exchange and Singapore
Exchange respectively, as group financial controller from April 2010
to September 2014.

Mr. Fung has been a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since July 1987 and served as the president of
the same from December 2009 to December 2010. He has also been
a fellow member of each of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales since July 2017 and the Chartered Association
of Certified Accountants (currently known as the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants) since May 1985. He is the founding
president of the Hong Kong Business Accountants Association which
was established in June 2014. Mr. Fung passed his Advanced Level
General Certificate of Education Examinations in Hong Kong in or
around 1973.
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Mr. Fung has taken up responsibilities with numerous Hong Kong
governmental bodies. He has been a member of the Financial
Reporting Council since December 2014, Hong Kong Productivity
Council since January 2016 and Hong Kong Town Planning Board
since April 2016. In addition he has been a board member of the
West Kowloon Cultural District Authority since October 2016 and
a council member of the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology since April 2017.

Mr. Fung has also taken up responsibilities with various non-
governmental bodies. He has been chairman of the Hong Kong Dance
Company Limited since November 2015 and an independent non-
executive director of Hongkong International Theme Parks Limited,
a private company which owns the Hong Kong Disneyland Resort,
since September 2018.

Length of service

Mr. Fung was appointed as independent non-executive Director on
22 April 2019. Our Company has issued a letter of appointment
to Mr. Fung for a term of three years commencing from 22 April
2019. Mr. Fung is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
annual general meetings of our Company pursuant to the Articles of
Association.

Relationships

Mr. Fung does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, Substantial Shareholders, or Controlling Shareholders
of our Company.

Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda

Position and Experience

Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda (RFRE B Z 1), aged 67,
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director with effect
from 22 April 2019 and is primarily responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgment to our Board.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Leung started her career with MTR
Corporation Limited (stock code: 0066), a public transport service
company, the shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange, as
a public relations manager from August 1985 to January 1994. She
then served as a corporate relations manager from February 1994
to December 2003 and as a general manager for corporate relations
from January 2004 to January 2013. In January 2009, Ms. Leung
was also appointed as a member of the executive committee for
MTR Corporation Limited and remained in such position until her
retirement in January 2013.
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Ms. Leung graduated with a Certificate for Private Secretaries
from Hong Kong Technical College (currently known as Hong
Kong Polytechnic University) in July 1972. She has been a fellow
of The Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport in Hong Kong
since June 1997, a member of The Chartered Institute of Transport
(currently known as The Chartered Institute of Logistics and
Transport) in the United Kingdom since October 1985 as well as a
member of The Institute of Public Relations in the United Kingdom
since January 1988.

Ms. Leung was a member of the Council for Sustainable Development
from March 2009 to March 2015, the Women’s Commission from
January 2012 to January 2018 and has been a member of the
Executive Committee of the Hong Kong Society for the Protection
of Children since December 2011, a member of the Executive
Committee of the Hong Kong Equestrian Federation since May
2013, a member of the Hong Kong Housing Society since July
2014, the Community Involvement Committee on Greening since
March 2015 as well as the Advisory Committee on Built Heritage
Conservation since May 2016. She was also appointed by The Hong
Kong Equestrian Federation and The Equestrian Events (Hong Kong)
of the Games of the XXIX Olympiad Company Limited as the
National Technical Official for the Equestrian Events of the Beijing
2008 Olympic Games from 8 August 2008 to 24 August 2008 as
well as the National Technical Official for the Equestrian Events of
the Beijing 2008 Paralympic Games from 1 September 2008 to 12
September 2008.

Length of service

Ms. Leung was appointed as independent non-executive Director
on 22 April 2019. Our Company has issued a letter of appointment
to Ms. Leung for a term of three years commencing from 22 April
2019. Ms. Leung is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
annual general meetings of our Company pursuant to the Articles of
Association.

Relationships

Ms. Leung does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, Substantial Shareholders, or Controlling Shareholders
of our Company.
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Mr. Wong Kam Pui, JP

Position and Experience

Mr. Wong Kam Pui, JP (Z #8515 %), aged 65, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 22 April
2019 and is primarily responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgment to our Board. He is also appointed as the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Wong has extensive experience in human resources management
and administration with local and international organisations of
renown. He has been a council member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Human Resources Management since June 2000 and later served as
its president from July 2008 to June 2010.

He has also been the founder and director of RESOLUTIONS HR
& Business Consultancy Company Limited, a private company
principally engaged in the provision of business and human
resources solutions as well as consultancy services, since March
2015. He served as the non-executive director of Bamboos Health
Care Holdings Limited (stock code: 2293), the shares of which are
listed on the Stock Exchange, from September 2014 to June 2018. In
addition, Mr. Wong had/has taken up responsibilities with a number
of Hong Kong governmental bodies and had served/has been serving
as an advisor for various matters concerning the local community,
including human resources, education, labour, welfare, commerce
and economic development matters, just to name a few.

Mr. Wong graduated with a bachelor’s degree in business
administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in
December 1996. He subsequently obtained a master’s degree in
business administration (Executive MBA programme) from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in November 2013.

Length of service

Mr. Wong was appointed as independent non-executive Director
on 22 April 2019. Our Company has issued a letter of appointment
to Mr. Wong for a term of three years commencing from 22 April
2019. Mr. Wong is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
annual general meetings of our Company pursuant to the Articles of
Association.

Relationships

Mr. Wong does not have any relationship with any Directors, senior
management, Substantial Shareholders, or Controlling Shareholders
of our Company.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Chiu Siu Ling Barbara (#/ ¥ Z *), aged 57, joined our
Group on 27 September 2000 where she served as an administrative
executive until March 2017. She has been the director of human
resources and administration as well as head of treasury for our
Group since April 2017. Ms. Chiu was promoted as senior Director
— HR & Admin in May 2019. Ms. Barbara Chiu also holds the
position of director in Medialink Brand Management Pte Limited,
which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company. She currently
oversees our daily human resources operations and is also responsible
for reviewing internal controls and liaising with financial service
providers.

Ms. Barbara Chiu has over 20 years of experience in corporate
administrative matters. She began her career as an administrative
clerk in 1982. Subsequently, Ms. Barbara Chiu started working for
BMI (Hong Kong) Limited as an administrative assistant in 1993.

Ms. Barbara Chiu graduated from Delia Memorial School in July
1982. She is the sister of Ms. Lovinia Chiu and Ms. Noletta Chiu.

Ms. Cheng Pui Fan (Z{f %% 22 +), aged 36, joined our Group on
12 August 2013 and is currently the finance manager of our Group.
Her responsibilities include reporting to our chief financial officer,
overseeing financial operations as well as ensuring the integrity of
data and financial reporting for our Group.

Ms. Cheng has over 10 years of working experience in accounting
and finance. She began her career at CK Yau & Partners CPA
Limited, a private firm of certified public accountants. Ms. Cheng
worked as an audit assistant and subsequently as an audit supervisor
from July 2006 to August 2011. From October 2011 to June 2013,
Ms. Cheng worked as an accountant and subsequently as a senior
accountant at Toon Express Group, a private company which
primarily focuses on the licensing business for various brands. She
was responsible for financial reporting, budgeting and performing
financial analysis.

Ms. Cheng graduated with a bachelor’s degree in accountancy from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in December 2006. She has
been a certified public accountant since February 2010 and is also a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Ms. Lee Yat Ping (F#® R L T), aged 46, joined our Group on
13 October 2000 and is currently a senior vice president (content
acquisition and distribution) of our Group. Ms. Lee has over 20 years
of experience in the media industry. Her current responsibilities
include reporting to our chief executive officer, supervising
programme distribution by the content department, formulation of
sales strategies as well as identification of new business opportunities
for our Group.

Ms. Lee began her career as a marketing assistant at Rich China
Industries Holdings Limited, a private company principally engaged
in the trading of health and beauty supplements, from August 1997 to
December 1997.

Since joining our Group in October 2000, Ms. Lee has served
numerous positions in MEL, including as senior manager from
January 2004 to December 2009, director — programme distribution
from April 2015 to March 2017 and vice president (distribution and
sales) from April 2017 to April 2019. Ms. Lee was promoted as senior
vice president — content acquisition and distribution of our Group in
May 2019.

Ms. Lee graduated with a bachelor of arts degree in language
information science from the City University of Hong Kong in
November 1997.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the audited
financial statements of our Group for the year ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Our Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are media content distribution,
investments in media content production, and brand licensing in
Hong Kong, Taiwan, Mainland China and other Southeast Asian
countries.

The activities of our Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 1 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of our Group’s business and performance during
the year and a discussion on our Group’s future development
are provided in the Chairman’s Statement and Management
Discussion and Analysis. A description of possible risks and
uncertainties that the Group may be facing can be found under
“Risks and uncertainties relating to our Group’s business” in
this report. Discussions on the Group’s key relationships with its
employees, customers and suppliers are contained under the section
“Key relationship with employees, customers, suppliers and other
parties” in this report. Discussions on our Group’s policies and
compliance with laws and regulations in respect of environmental
and social aspects which have a significant impact on our Group
are contained in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
In addition, our Group’s principal corporate governance practices
adopted which have a significant impact on our Group are contained
in the Corporate Governance Report.

RESULTS

The results of our Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on page 94.

DIVIDEND

The Directors declared an interim dividend of HK 0.24 cents per
share for the six months ended 30 September 2019, amounting to
approximately HK$4,800,000 which was paid on 20 January 2020.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK 0.21 cents per share for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019:
HK 1.3 cents per share), amounting to HK$4,183,000 (2019:
HK$25,896,000), to the Shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of our Company on Wednesday, 7 October 2020.
The proposed final dividend will be paid on Thursday, 29 October
2020, subject to approval by the Shareholders at the annual general
meeting.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting (the “AGM”) will be held on Thursday,
24 September 2020. A notice convening the meeting will be issued
and sent to the Shareholders in due course.

Further details of the dividends of our Company are set out in note 12
to the financial statements.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF
MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting, the register of members will be closed from
Monday, 21 September 2020 to Thursday, 24 September 2020, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the annual
general meeting, all completed transfer forms, accompanied by the
relevant share certificates, must be lodged for registration with our
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor Investor
Services Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong by no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 18 September
2020.

To ascertain entitlement to the proposed final dividend, the register
of members will be closed from Wednesday, 30 September 2020
to Wednesday, 7 October 2020, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify
for the proposed final dividend, which is subject to approval of
Shareholders at the annual general meeting, all completed transfer
forms, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be
lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share registrar
and transfer office, Tricor Investor Services Limited at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong by no later
than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 29 September 2020.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

Charitable and other donations made by our Group during the year
amounted to HK$1,127,000.

ISSUED CAPITAL

Details of the issued capital information of our Company are set out
in note 27 to the financial statements.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 6 February 2020, the Board adopted the Share Award Scheme. No
share award has been granted under this Scheme since its adoption
up to the end of the Reporting Period. The purpose and the principal
terms of the Share Award Scheme are summarised below.

1. Purposes of the Scheme
The purposes of the Scheme are to reward the Eligible
Persons for their past, present or expected contribution and
loyalty to the Group and align their interests with those of the
Shareholders through the grant of Award.

2. Duration

Subject to any early termination by the Board, the Scheme shall
be valid and effective for the Award Period, after which no
further Awards will be granted, but the provision of the Scheme
shall remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary to
give effect to the vesting of such Awards granted prior to the
expiration of the Scheme or otherwise as may be required in
accordance with the provisions of the Scheme Rules.

3. Administration

The Scheme shall be subject to the administration of the Board
in accordance with the Scheme Rules and, where applicable,
the Trust Deed. A decision of the Board shall be final and
binding on all persons affected thereby. Without prejudice
to the Board’s general power of administration, to the extent
not prohibited by applicable laws and regulations, the Board
may also from time to time appoint the Trustee to implement
granting, administration or vesting of any Award Shares.

4. Operation of the Scheme

The Board may, from time to time at its absolute discretion,
select any Eligible Person to be a Selected Participant and
grant an Award to such Selected Participant during the Award
Period. In determining the Selected Participants, the Board may
take into consideration matters including the past, present or
expected contribution of the relevant Selected Participants to
the Group.

Each grant of an Award to any director (excluding independent
non-executive Directors), senior management, consultant or
advisor of the Group shall be subject to the prior approval of
the independent non-executive Directors. Where any grant of
Award Shares is proposed to be made to any person who is a
Connected Person of the Company, the Company shall comply
with such provisions of the Listing Rules as may be applicable.
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The Board shall not grant any Award Shares to any Selected
Participant in any of the following circumstances: (a) where the
requisite approval from any applicable regulatory authorities
has not been granted; (b) where the Group will be required
under applicable securities laws, rules or regulations to issue a
prospectus or other offer documents in respect of such Award
or the Scheme; (c) where such Award would result in a breach
by the Group or its directors of any applicable securities laws,
rules or regulations in any jurisdiction; (d) where such grant
of Award would result in a breach of the Scheme Limit or
would otherwise cause the Company to issue Shares in excess
of the permitted amount in the general and specific mandates
approved by the Shareholders in the general meetings of the
Company from time to time; (e) where an Award is to be
satisfied by way of issue of new Shares to the Trustee, in any
circumstances that cause the total Shares issued or allotted
to Connected Persons of the Company to be in excess of the
amount permitted in the mandate approved by the Shareholders,
and any such grant so made shall be null and void to the extent
that it falls within the circumstances above.

Timing of Awards

No Award shall be made to Selected Participants and no
directions or recommendation shall be given to the Trustee with
respect to a grant of an Award under the Scheme: (a) where
any Director is in possession of unpublished inside information
in relation to the Company or where dealings by Directors are
prohibited under any code or requirement of the Listing Rules
or any applicable laws, rules or regulations; (b) during the
period of 60 days immediately preceding the publication date of
the annual results or, if shorter, the period from the end of the
relevant financial year up to the publication date of the results;
and (c) during the period of 30 days immediately preceding
the publication date of the half-year results or, if shorter, the
period from the end of the relevant half-year period up to the
publication date of the results.

Issue of Shares to the Trustee and acquisition of
Shares by the Trustee

The Company shall, for the purposes of satisfying the grant of
Awards:

(a) allot and issue Shares to the Trustee under the general
or specific mandate granted or to be granted by the
Shareholders at the general meetings from time to time;

(b) pay to the Trustee such monies and instruct the Trustee
to acquire Shares through on-market transactions at the
prevailing market price;
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(c) direct and procure the Trustee to receive existing Shares
from any Shareholder; and/or

(d) instruct the Trustee to apply any Returned Shares held in
the Trust.

Where the Trustee has received instructions from the Company
to acquire Shares through on-market transactions, the Trustee
shall acquire such number of Shares as instructed by the
Company on-market at the prevailing market price as soon
as reasonably practicable after receiving the necessary funds
from the Company. Any excess amount of the funds provided
shall be returned by the Trustee to the Company forthwith
after completion of the purchase of the Shares. Where the
amount paid or caused to be paid by the Company or where
the amount that the Trustee is directed by the Company to use
is not sufficient to purchase all of the Shares it is instructed to
purchase, the Trustee shall acquire the maximum number of
board lots of Shares that it is able to acquire with the net cash
available in the fund of the Trust and the Company undertakes
to provide further funds to the Trustee to purchase all of the
Shares required to satisfy the Award. The purchase of Shares is
subject to the maintenance of an orderly market and the Shares
so purchased shall form part of the capital of the trust fund of
the Trust.

The Company shall comply with the relevant Listing Rules
when issuing new Award Shares and application will be made
to the Stock Exchange for the listing of and permission to deal
in, the new Award Shares to be issued. The Company shall not
issue or allot Shares in excess of the amount permitted in the
general and specific mandates approved by the Shareholders
in general meeting of the Company from time to time. The
Company shall neither issue, allot Shares nor instruct the
Trustee to acquire Shares through on-market transactions at the
prevailing market price, where such action (as applicable) is
prohibited under the Listing Rules, the SFO or other applicable
laws from time to time. Where such a prohibition causes the
prescribed timing imposed by the Scheme Rules or the Trust
Deed to be missed, such prescribed timing shall be treated as
extended until as soon as reasonably practicable after the first
Business Day on which the prohibition no longer prevents the
relevant action.
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Vesting of Award, settlement/payment of Award

The Board may from time to time while the Scheme is in force
and subject to all applicable laws, determine such vesting
criteria and conditions or periods for the Award to be vested.

Upon the satisfaction of the vesting criteria and conditions, the
Board may either: (a) direct and procure the Trustee to release
from the Trust the Award Shares to the Selected Participants
by transferring the number of Award Shares to the Selected
Participants in such manner as determined by the Board from
time to time; or (b) to the extent that, in the reasonable opinion
of the Board, it is not practicable for the Selected Participant to
receive the Award in Shares due to potential legal or regulatory
restrictions with respect to the Selected Participant’s ability
to receive the Award in Shares or the Trustee’s ability to give
effect to any such transfer to the Selected Participant, the Board
will direct and procure the Trustee to sell, on-market at the
prevailing market price, the number of Award Shares so vested
in respect of the Selected Participant and pay the Selected
Participant the proceeds in cash arising from such sale based on
the Actual Selling Price of such Award Shares as set out in the
Vesting Notice.

Subject to the Scheme Rules, within a reasonable time period
as agreed between the Trustee and the Board from time to time
prior to any Vesting Date, the Board or its delegate(s) shall
send to the relevant Selected Participant a vesting notice. The
Board or its delegate(s) shall forward a copy of the vesting
notice to the Trustee and instruct the Trustee the extent to
which the Award Shares held in the Trust shall be transferred
and released from the Trust to the Selected Participant in the
manner as determined by the Board or its delegate(s), or be sold
as soon as practicable from the Vesting Date and the payment
of the Actual Selling Price in cash to the Selected Participant in
satisfaction of the Award.
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Cessation of employment and other events

Subject to the Scheme Rules, if a Selected Participant
ceases to be an Eligible Person by reason of: (a) resignation
of the Selected Participant’s employment; (b) termination
of the Selected Participant’s employment or contractual
engagement with the Group by reason of redundancy; (c)
retirement of the Selected Participant; (d) end of the term of
the Selected Participant’s contract for provision of services or
otherwise with the Group; (e) end of the term of the contract
of the Selected Participant’s engagement with the Group
as contractual staff; (f) winding-up of any member of the
Group in which the Selected Participant is employed or is
contractually engaged; (g) death of the Selected Participant;
(h) the employer terminating the contract of employment of
the Selected Participants without notice or payment in lieu of
notice; (i) the Selected Participant having been convicted of
any criminal offence involving his or her integrity or honesty;
or (j) termination of the Selected Participant’s employment or
contractual engagement with the Group by reason of his/her
permanent physical or mental disablement; any outstanding
Award Shares not yet vested shall be immediately forfeited,
unless the Board determines otherwise at its absolute
discretion.

All such Award Shares which are not vested and/or are forfeited
pursuant to the Scheme Rules shall immediately become
Returned Shares, which shall be held by the Trustee and applied
in accordance with the instructions from the Board and the
Scheme Rules for the purpose of the Scheme.

Transferability and other rights to Award Shares
Any Award granted under the Scheme but not yet vested shall
not be assignable or transferable and no Selected Participant
shall in any way sell, transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber
or create any interest in favour of any other person over or in
relation to any Award, or enter into any agreement to do so.
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Interest in the assets of the Trust

For the avoidance of doubt: (a) a Selected Participant shall have
only a contingent interest in the Award subject to the vesting
of such Award; (b) no instructions may be given by a Selected
Participant to the Trustee in respect of the Award or any other
property of the Trust; (c) neither the Selected Participant nor
the Trustee may exercise any voting rights in respect of any
Award Shares that have not yet vested; (d) a Selected Participant
shall have no right to any dividend that have accrued prior to
the vesting of such Award Shares, any Returned Shares or any
dividend of the Returned Shares, all of which shall be retained
by the Trustee for the benefit of the Scheme; (e) a Selected
Participant shall have no rights in the balance of the fractional
shares arising out of consolidation of Shares (if any) and such
Shares shall be deemed Returned Shares for the purposes of the
Scheme; and (f) in the event a Selected Participant ceases to be
an Eligible Person on or prior to the relevant Vesting Date and
the Award in respect of the relevant Vesting Date shall lapse or
be forfeited pursuant to the Scheme, such Award shall not vest
on the relevant Vesting Date and the Selected Participant shall
have no claims against the Company or the Trustee, unless the
Board determines otherwise at its absolute discretion.

Equity issues
If there is an open offer of new securities, the Trustee shall not
subscribe for any new Shares.

If there is a bonus warrant issue, the Trustee shall not subscribe
for any new Shares by exercising any of the subscription rights
attached to the bonus warrants and shall sell the bonus warrants
created and granted to it, the net proceeds of sale of such bonus
warrants shall be held as funds of the Trust.

In the event the Company undertakes a scrip dividend scheme,
the Trustee shall elect to receive the scrip Shares and such
Shares will be held as Returned Shares.

In the event of an issue of Shares by the Company credited as
fully paid to the holders of the Shares by way of capitalisation
of profits or reserves (including share premium account), the
Shares attributable to any Award Shares held by the Trustee
shall be deemed to be an accretion to such Award Shares and
shall be held by the Trustee as if they were Award Shares
purchased by the Trustee hereunder and all the provisions
hereof in relation to the original Award Shares shall apply to
such additional Shares.

In the event of a rights issue, the Trustee shall seek instruction
from the Company on the steps or actions to be taken in relation
to the nil-paid rights allotted to it.
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12.

In the event of any non-cash distribution by reason of which the
Board considers an adjustment to an outstanding Award to be
fair and reasonable, an adjustment shall be made to the number
of outstanding Award Shares of each Selected Participant as
the Board shall consider to be fair and reasonable in order to
prevent dilution or enlargement of the benefits or potential
benefits intended to be made available under the Scheme for
the Selected Participants. The Company shall provide such
funds, or such directions on application of the Returned Shares
or other funds in the Trust, as may be required to enable the
Trustee to purchase Shares on-market at the prevailing market
price to satisfy the additional Award.

In the event of other non-cash and non-scrip distributions made
by the Company not otherwise referred to in the Scheme Rules
in respect of the Shares held upon Trust, the Trustee shall sell
such distribution and the net sale proceeds thereof shall be
deemed as cash income of a Share held upon the Trust.

Scheme Limit

The Company shall not make any further grant of Award which
will result in the aggregate number of Shares underlying all
grants made pursuant to the Scheme (excluding Award Shares
that have been forfeited in accordance with the Scheme) to
exceed 10% (i.e. 199,200,000 Shares) of the total number of
issued Shares as at the Adoption Date without Shareholders’
approval.

Except as otherwise approved by the Board, the total number of
Award Shares which may be granted to a Selected Participant
under the Scheme shall not exceed 5% of the total number of
issued Shares as at the Adoption Date, subject to the compliance
of the Listing Rules (including the requirement concerning the
maintenance of the public float).

12.
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13.

14.

15.

16.

Alteration of the Scheme

The Scheme may be altered in any respect by a resolution of the
Board provided that no such alteration shall operate to affect
adversely any subsisting rights of any Selected Participant
unless otherwise provided for in the Scheme Rules, except: (a)
with the consent in writing of Selected Participants amounting
to three-fourths in nominal value of all Award Shares held
by the Trustee on that date; or (b) with the sanction of a
special resolution that is passed at a meeting of the Selected
Participants amounting to three-fourths in nominal value of all
Award Shares held by the Trustee on that date.

Termination

The Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of: (a) the end of the
Award Period except in respect of any non-vested Award Shares
granted prior to the expiration of the Scheme, for the purpose of
giving effect to the vesting of such Award Shares or otherwise
as may be required in accordance with the provisions of the
Scheme; and (b) such date of early termination as determined
by the Board.

Shareholders’ mandate

To the extent that the Scheme Limit is subsequently increased
by way of alteration of the Scheme and the Company is required
to issue and allot new shares to satisfy any Awards in excess
of any amount previously approved by the Shareholders,
the Company shall at a general meeting propose, and the
Shareholders shall consider and, if thought fit, pass an ordinary
resolution approving a mandate specifying: (a) the maximum
number of new Shares that may be issued for this purpose; and
(b) that the Board has the power to issue, allot, procure the
transfer of and otherwise deal with the Shares in connection
with the Scheme.

Listing rules implications

Given that the Scheme does not involve the grant of options
over any new Shares, it does not constitute a share option
scheme or an arrangement analogous to a share option scheme
for the purpose of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES o 7K %

Movements in the reserves of our Group and our Company and the 7 8 [H] [t A< 3 )i 75 B BUAFE B 2 fifi Af 8 )
reserves available for distribution to shareholders of our Company LA K nJfit 73 Uk T A< 24 &) B R 19 fits 45 43 il
during the financial year are set out in the consolidated statement 5598 E M 45 & W it 5 B)) 3¢ I B 5 3% FfF
of changes in equity on page 98 and in note 37 to the financial §E37 °

statements respectively.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY AFEUBHRE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of our 7 £ [ % #T 510 B B AF i 19 36 45 B & &
Group for the last 5 financial years is set out on pages 189 to 190 of & fifi flf 2 i A A 15 2B 189 H £ 190 H - #%
this report. This summary does not form part of the audited financial M %23 I 48 95 4% Wf 55 ) = () — # 4> -
statements.

DIRECTORS 5=
The directors during the year and up to the date of this report were: FERNRBEAREABIEWERENT
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia /N e 2+
(chairman of the Board and chief executive officer) (& £ 5 17 8 3 #)
Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta /N &+
Mr. Cheung Wai Kit (Resigned on 30 November 2019) i MR S A (122019411 30 H B#AT)
Mr. Ma Ching Fung B IE# 5E
Non-executive Director FHITES
Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP wSER L (R4 1)
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson U5 e e e
Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda R W Ak
Mr. Wong Kam Pui, JP R T S AR CRF 40 1)
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Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association provides that at each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being,
or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every Director (including those appointed for
a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-
election. Our Company at the general meeting at which a Director
retires may fill the vacated office. According the Article 108(b),
the Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far as necessary
to obtain the number required) any Director who wishes to retire
and not to offer himself for re-election. Any Director who has not
been subject to retirement by rotation in the three years preceding
the annual general meeting shall retire by rotation at such annual
general meeting. Any further Directors so to retire shall be those
who have been longest in office since their last re-election or
appointment and so that as between persons who became or were
last re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless
they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.
Accordingly, Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta, Mr. Ma Ching Fung and
Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming
AGM in accordance with the Articles of Association. All of the
above Directors will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the AGM.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
our Group are set out on pages 54 to 64 of this report.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION OF
DIRECTORS PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B(1)
OF THE LISTING RULES

Set out below are the changes in the information of the Directors
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing
Rules:

1. Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta has been appointed as a director of
Medialink Cultural & Creative (Beijing) Limited.

2. Mr. Ma Ching Fung has been appointed as a director of
Medialink Cultural & Creative (Beijing) Limited.

3. Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP has been appointed as a supervisor of
Medialink Cultural & Creative (Beijing) Limited. In addition,
Ms. Wong no longer served as a member of Social Enterprise
Advisory Committee.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other changes to the Directors’
information as required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1)
of the Listing Rules during the year and up to the date of this annual
report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS/
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Each of the executive Directors and the non-executive Director has
entered into a service agreement with our Company, pursuant to
which each of them agreed to act as an executive Director and non-
executive Director for an initial term of three years commenced from
the Listing Date. The term of the service agreement shall be renewed
upon the expiry of the then current term. The service agreement can
be terminated by not less than six months’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
a letter of appointment with our Company, pursuant to which each
of them agreed to act as an independent non-executive Director of
our Company for an initial term of three years commenced from the
Listing Date. The term of the letter of appointment shall be renewed
upon the expiry of the then current term until terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the
other.

Save as disclosed, none of the Directors has or is proposed to enter
into a service contract or letter of appointment with our Company or
any of its subsidiaries, which is not determinable by our Company
within one year without the payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their respective associates has any
interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete with the
business of our Group during the year.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The Controlling Shareholders provided a Deed of Non-Competition
in favour of our Company, pursuant to which the Controlling
Shareholders undertook not to, and to procure her/its respective close
associate(s) (as appropriate) (other than our Group) not to, during the
term of the Deed of Non-Competition, either directly or indirectly,
alone or with a third party, engage in, participate in, support to
engage in or participate in any business that competes, or is likely to
compete with any business of our Group.

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has reviewed her/its business
and businesses of its respective subsidiaries and has provided a
written confirmation (“Confirmation”) to the Company that she/it
had fully complied with the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition
since the Listing Date and up to 31 March 2020. The independent
non-executive Directors had reviewed the Confirmation and are not
aware of any matter concerning the non-compliance of the Deed of
Non-Competition for the year ended 31 March 2020.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 9 to the financial statements, no transaction,
arrangement or contracts of significance to which our Company, its
holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
any Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the financial year under review or at any time
during the financial year under review.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF OUR COMPANY OR ANY
OF ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
HELD BY DIRECTORS, CHIEF
EXECUTIVES AND THEIR ASSOCIATES

As at 31 March 2020, the interests and short positions of the
directors, chief executives and their associates in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of our Company or any of its
associated corporations (as defined in Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by our Company under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to our Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code are as follows:

Interests in the shares of the Company

EEREARS  RPFHEN
HY #E 2

B S 5 ik 3 B RE O BT B R 5 Ah o TE S5 A
JAA T~ FLARE o T AT A B A W
JIe AT S L [ R B B4 A A B [ R A
A BE AT ] B A3 2R A7 A N R 52 5
3 R LR ER AL EE S RN DN

R20204E3H31H > F#ESH - FEITHAER
T A S 1 T 8 N A A N ) Y R AT T AH B
B (4% 78 75 S B AR S XV 3) 2
Sty ~ MR A A S > B AR A ALK
P8 55 5 I HA B ) R 3520 ZE A B I B T
T sd % > slAK B5 AR ME SF RI O 8 A A A
e W 52 BT B RE 25 TR R

RARQT R B9 E =S

Approximate

percentage

Class and of the issued

Name of Nature of number of issued Long/ Shares as at

Director interest shares held short position 30 June 2020

=X ) 2020568308

ERTRGOH HEBRITRON

EEfE EmME HR Kk #E "R/ KRR BAOBEI K

Ms. Lovinia Chiu® Interest of controlled 1,494,000,000 Long position 75%

corporations ordinary shares

/N e 4o 32 12 il % 1 HE fi 1,494,000,000 i oa 75%

Note: Vi

(@)) Ms. Lovinia Chiu, the founder, chairman of our Board, an executive Director
and chief executive officer of our Company, holds the entire share capital of
RLA, which in turn directly holds 1,494,000,000 Shares. Accordingly, Ms.
Lovinia Chiu is deemed to be interested in the 1,494,000,000 Shares held by
RLA.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of the Directors
or chief executives of our Company had or was deemed to have
any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of our Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which had been recorded in
the register maintained by our Company pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO or which had been notified to our Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in the Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER’S
INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES

As at 31 March 2020, so far as the Directors are aware, the following
persons or corporations (not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company) had interests or short positions of 5% or more in the shares
or underlying shares of our Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, the Directors are not
aware of any other person or corporation having an interest or short
position in the Shares or the underlying Shares of our Company or its
associated corporation(s) which would require to be recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336
of the SFO.
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CONFIRMATIONS OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Our Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on such
confirmation, our Company considers that all of its independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, the Group had not entered into any
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions which
are required to be disclosed in this annual report pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

To the best of the Director’s knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiries, the related party transactions
disclosed in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements does
not constitute non-exempt connected transactions or non-exempt
continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which our Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which any Controlling Shareholder
of our Company or any of its subsidiaries had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the financial
year under review or at any time during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2020 was our Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, our Company or any
other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of our Company were
entered into or in existence during the financial year under review.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and top five highest
paid individuals of our Group are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2020, our Group had a total of 99 full-time
employees in Hong Kong, Mainland China, Taiwan, Singapore,
Malaysia and Indonesia.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of our Company is reviewed regularly,
making reference primarily to the market conditions and
performance of our Company and individual staff (including the
Directors). Remuneration package includes, as the case may by,
basic salary, Director’s remuneration, contribution to pension
schemes, discretionary bonus relating to financial performance of
our Group and individual performance. The remuneration policy
and remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management
are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee and the Board,
having regard to Director’s experience, duties and responsibilities,
performance and achievement.

PENSION SCHEME ARRANGEMENT

Our Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) in Hong
Kong under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of our Group
in an independently administered fund. Our Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

The employees of our Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentages of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the central pension scheme.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the aggregate amount of
revenue attributable to our Group’s five largest customers accounted
for 61.0% of our Group’s revenue and the revenue attributable to our
Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 31.4% of our
Group’s revenue.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the aggregate amount of
purchases attributable to our Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 63.1% of our Group’s purchases and the
purchases attributable to our Group’s largest supplier accounted for
approximately 25.9% of our Group’s purchases.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates nor any
shareholder (who or which to the best knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the issued share capital of our Company) has
any interest in the top five customers and top five suppliers of our
Group during the financial year under review.

KEY RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHER
PARTIES

Our Group recognises the employees as the most important and
valuable assets of our Group. The objective of our Group’s human
resource management is to reward and recognise performing staff by
providing a competitive remuneration package and implementing a
sound performance appraisal system with appropriate incentives, and
to promote career development and progression by appropriate on-
the-job training and providing opportunities within our Group for
career advancement.

The Directors are of view that employees, customers, suppliers and
bankers are the keys to the sustainable development of our Group and
the Company has been maintaining a good relationship with the key
stakeholders.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES RELATING
TO OUR GROUP’S BUSINESS

Our Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties
directly or indirectly pertaining to our Group’s businesses. The
followings are the key risks and uncertainties identified by our
Group. There are no material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on our Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern. There may be other risks and
uncertainties in addition to those shown below which are not known
to our Group or which may not be material now but could turn out to
be material in the future.
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Business Risk

Business risk is the risk related to our business and industry
that deteriorates profitability or affects ability to meet business
objectives. The management of our Group manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

The business performance, results of operations and financial
condition may be materially and adversely affected if:

(i) our Group fails to source high-quality, popular media content/
brands from media content/brand licensors upon terms
acceptable to us or if there is any loss or deterioration of
relationship with our media content/brand licensors;

(ii)) our Group fails to identify sufficient or suitable customers for
our licensed media content;

(iii) our Group fails to identify the market trend and our licensed

media content/brands fail to compete successfully with other

media content/brands;

(iv) acts of piracy and copyright infringement or any type of
infringement, due to technological advances and upgrades, are
prevalent in many parts of the world;

(v) there is any imposition of additional or more stringent laws,
regulations or policies on the distribution of media content by
the PRC government or governments of other regions;

(vi) our Group faces risks related to natural disasters, health
epidemics and other outbreaks of contagious diseases, such as
COVID-19;

(vii) there are changes in the PRC market or economic conditions
resulting from the macroeconomic challenges by the
uncontrollable events, including but not limited to Sino-US
trade war, as our Group mainly derives revenue in China.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed
internal processes, people and systems or from external events.

Responsibility for managing operational risks basically rests with
every function at divisional and departmental levels. Key functions in
the Group are guided by their standard operating procedures, limits
of authority and reporting framework. The management will identify
and assess key operational exposures regularly so that appropriate
risk response can be taken.
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Investment Risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of occurrence of
losses relative to the expected return on any particular investment.
Key concern of investment framework will be balancing risk and
return across different investments, and thus risk assessment is a
core aspect of the investment decision process. Proper authorisation
system has been set up and detailed analysis will be made before
approving investments. Regular updates on the progress of the
investments of our Group would be submitted to the Board.

Manpower and Retention Risk

Our Group may face the risk of not being able to attract and retain
key personnel and talents with appropriate and required skills,
experience and competence which would meet the business objectives
of the Group. The Group will provide competitive remuneration
package to suitable candidates and personnel.

Financial Risk

Our Group’s also faces financial risks including foreign currency risk
and credit risk. Details of these financial risks are set out in note 35
to the consolidated financial statements. In addition, if our Group fail
to recoup its minimum guarantee paid to the media content/brand
licensors, the licensed assets may be subject to further write-down.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company,
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company maintained
the public float from the Listing Date and up to the end of the
Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY

PROVISIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to date of this report,
our Company has in force indemnity provisions for the benefit of
the Directors. The permitted indemnity provisions are provided
according to the Articles of Association and our Company has
maintained the directors and officers liability insurance in respect
of potential liability and costs associated with any legal proceedings
which may be brought against the Directors of our Company.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

Our Group is committed to supporting environmental protection
to ensure business development and sustainability. Our Group
implements green office practices to reduce the consumption of
energy and natural resources. These practices include the use
of energy saving lightings and recycled paper, reduce energy
consumption by switching off idle lightings, computers and electrical
appliances and the use of environmentally friendly products
whenever possible. Details of the environmental policies and
performance are set out in the section headed “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” on pages 35 to 53 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, our Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operations of our Company
and its subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2020 and up to
date of this report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by our Group or
existed during the financial year under review.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The details of the use of proceeds for the year ended 31 March
2020 is set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 9 to 20 in this annual report.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD

The Group did not hold any significant investment (representing any
investment in an investee company with a value of 5% or more of the
total assets of the Company as of 31 March 2020) during the year
ended 31 March 2020.
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Report of the Directors

EEERE

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SHARES

Neither our Company nor any of our subsidiaries purchased, sold or

redeemed any of our Company’s listed shares since the Listing Date
up to the end of the Reporting Period.

BORROWINGS

As at 31 March 2020, our Group did not have any interest-bearing or
external borrowings.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As at 31 March 2020, our Group was not involved in any material
litigation or arbitration and no material litigation or arbitration were
pending or threatened or made against our Group so far our Group is
aware.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

Our Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of our Company’s
securities.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

There is no significant event of our Group after the Reporting Period.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2020 have been audited by Ernst & Young, who will retire at the
conclusion of the AGM. Ernst & Young, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of
Ernst & Young as the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia
Director
30 June 2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report

e
EY::

To the shareholders of Medialink Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Medialink
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 94 to 188, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated tinancial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report
B MRS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the

FAEETER
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accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

AREITER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMNETEEBARETBTENGE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

B2 EWREAENRERT G

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had trade receivables
of HK$149,590,000, representing approximately 21.5%
of the total assets of the Group. Significant management
judgements and estimations are required in assessing the
expected credit losses (“ECL”) for the trade receivables,
with reference to the ageing profile of the trade
receivables, historical credit loss experience and both the
current and forecast general economic conditions at the
reporting date.

20204634310 > B AEE K E 5 B W R IH A
149,590,000% 7T > 1 ¥ 4E B & AR (H 421.5% - &F Al
BB RENHAGEER(RAREEBR) HZ
%Y 5 BUGRIE IR IR A&~ B 1E M5 B 1H R 5 S ik
H F B A BRI Y R A IR 04 R OR A
SLAL FE o

The relevant accounting policy, significant accounting
judgements and estimates and disclosures are included
in notes 3.2, 4 and 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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In evaluating management’s impairment assessment,
our procedures included: (i) obtaining evidence of
subsequent settlements for trade receivable balances
on a sample basis; (ii) evaluating management’s
assumptions used to determine the ECL through testing
of the underlying information in the ageing reports
and assessing the historical credit loss experience of
the debtors as well as the forward-looking factors with
reference to the related publicly available information;
and (iii) assessing the adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures in relation to trade receivables included in
the consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter

Independent Auditor’'s Report
B2 H MRS

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HRESASE

Net realisable value of licensed rights

RENTTEEFE

As at 31 March 2020, the Group recorded licensed rights
of HK$135,745,000, representing approximately 19.5%
of the total assets of the Group. Significant management
judgements and estimations are required in assessing the
net realisable value of the licensed rights, with reference
to the ageing analysis, historical sales pattern, expectation
of future saleability of the licensed rights based on current
market conditions and other specific attributes that might
have an impact on the sales projections.

JR20204F3H31H > AR R 15 154E 135,745,000 7T -
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The relevant accounting policy, significant accounting
judgements and estimates and disclosures are included
in notes 3.2, 4 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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In evaluating management’s assessment, our procedures
included: (i) obtaining an understanding of the net
realisable value assessments made by management;
(ii) reviewing the licensed rights ageing report; (iii)
obtaining evidence of subsequent sales of the licensed
rights on a sample basis; and (iv) assessing the
reasonableness of the sales projections prepared by
management, on a sample basis.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report
B MRS

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the
Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do
SO.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

- 90 MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2020 Annual Report

FHRPABENEMER

Bor#E A MERAR - HIBFEE
BEERANEE - AR S BB
R T TAM B A% B

FAM 5 &5 B B iRk R B B R I A 3 H
flofs B > AN IS A B 5% 55 A S B8 RAT
i JE 21 28 78 &5 7

KA A e MBI RN ER > M
AR 2 B ARG E - TEHRRE T - B &
FoAt A5 202 77 B A5 5 A 5 R SR AE R
A R T TR ) DU A A TR AR A B
AL 7 A6 B K S ik B B 1 L o R AP
AT TAE - Q2R 358 /5 KAl A5 B A7
TE B R B dR podt > M REZFE -
TE %8 7 T > AN A AE AT H A -

EERGEMBHRRAREN
BfE

BAREFHAAHRRBEFEGFMLE
WA 22 A s S s it Y ) R A o 2 ) Ak 91
9 48 5% K3 E B 4 L I RO R AR S BB
e o Sl SRR A O O AR A RS R N
15RO A E Hh R U BB R T A RGO
B R R TR R B BT .

TEBEM 55 B M RIS > HAFEEA
Halfl EEMFAEKENED > WS
FAAE LS 9 5 SRR A AL A B A S IE > U
LA MFr g et L6 BRE BA
FIERA RN HEMRSUF RS
B 7] 4 A T P A B AR R e

BAREHEFERZRGNHB TARE
BRI R



AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

O Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report
B A% B R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Wu Ka Lai, Cary.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

22/F CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central

Hong Kong

30 June 2020

Independent Auditor’'s Report
BYZEEHRE

ZEE MBS B BRA
ETWETw

HELAS 8 ST A B R R R EE S B A
& FERE o

RXREE A EHAR
e

i

R

s FE 158
W E K E 22

20204F6H30H

202058 HEEEARAT 93 -



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
meaEmK

Year ended 31 March 2020
BE20205F3A31BLFE

2020 2019
20205 20194F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FExT T# o
Revenue W = 6 315,122 475,522
Cost of sales 54 LA (169,548) (247,330)
Gross profit E A 145,574 228,192
Other income and gains RN N 7 4,414 5,496
Selling and distribution expenses B8 B B Ay 8 B 57 (44,778) (47,956)
General and administrative expenses — % I A7 BUBH 2 (51,261) (62,575)
Other expenses, net HoAth B 32 (Y 4H) (18,783) (4,898)
Finance cost Pl & AR (132) =
Profit Before Tax R B¢ A1 F 8 35,034 118,259
Income tax credit/(expense) Bk (BIZ) 11 917 (12,676)
Profit For The Year F =T 35,951 105,583
Attributable to: PLR 4 TH AL -
Shareholders of the Company /NN 35,951 105,579
Non-controlling interests I 72 I HE 25 — 4
35,951 105,583
Earnings Per Share Attributable to RN TR R EAS
Shareholders of the Company BREF 13
Basic I A HK 1.9 cents HK 7.1 cents
1.9 1l 7.9 Il
Diluted # HK 1.9 cents HK 7.1 cents
1.97 1l 7.9 Il
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SeZHEBRER

Year ended 31 March 2020
BE202053A31HLEFE

2020 2019

20205 20194F

HK$’000 HK$°000

TET T o

Profit For The Year FRER 35,951 105,583
Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss) Hat2mEmkE (EiE)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may 7 H 4% 1 M Al &8 0 1 &
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent 18 #i A9 HAth 2 1Ei ik %5

periods: (F5148) -
Exchange differences on translation of foreign & 5 ¥ &) 3£ 5 /& 4 (1)
operations [ 5, 25 %H (418) 234
Total Comprehensive Income For The Year X & H W % 58 35,533 105,817
Attributable to: PLTR 4% TH A
Shareholders of the Company A F) R 35,533 105,813
Non-controlling interests I 72 I HE 25 — 4

35,533 105,817
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

me BRI R

31 March 2020
20203 H31H

2020 2019
20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T o0
Non-Current Assets kREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ENN Y S 14 10,473 7,396
Goodwill kS 15 29,709 29,709
Intangible assets T & 16 11,831 11,549
Investments in media contents g =g L ANE 17 25,083 —
Deposits % & 20 542 129
77,638 48,783
Current Assets RBEE
Licensed assets A E 18 148,430 142,823
Trade receivables H 5 E W 3k TH 19 149,590 111,045
Prepayments, deposits and AT RIE - HE K
other receivables HAth R i R IR 20 3,746 9,975
Tax recoverable A i [B] B IH 19,279 6,746
Cash and cash equivalents B KRBl &S EY 21 298,047 163,754
619,092 434,343
Current Liabilities REBAE
Trade payables B 5 WEAS 3K ] 22 133,943 125,579
Accruals and other payables JRE w2 F R A JE A R IH 23 47,709 57,048
Contract liabilities G # A 24 26,726 30,073
Lease liabilities HEE&®E 25 2,999 —
Tax payable JRE A5F 6 IH 591 708
211,968 213,408
Net Current Assets RBEEFEE 407,124 220,935
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities EEHAERRBAERE 484,762 269,718
Non-Current Liabilities *kRBEER
Lease liabilities B’ &% 25 1,114 —
Deferred tax liabilities A 4 Bl IH A 26 70 951
1,184 951
Net Assets EEFE 483,578 268,767
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A BB R

31 March 2020
20203 H31H

2020 2019
2020F 20194
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
B 5E FTERT T oo
Equity &
Share capital i A 27 19,920 —
Reserves ik Ha 28 463,658 268,767
Total equity EREE 483,578 268,767
Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia Ma Ching Fung
ii- RN -3 FIE#
Director Director
#HH #HH
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEERBER

Year ended 31 March 2020
BZE202063831HILFE

Attributable to owner of the parent

BAAEEARLE

Share Exchange Non-
Issued premium Capital Other  fluctuation Retained controlling
capital account reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests  Total equity

Rt HE
BRTBA  RER  A%EFE  HtEFE  EBERE  RERA g FERRR
Noes  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000
i Tér  TEx  TEx Tz Tz TEx T#x

(note 28) (note 28) (note 28)
(Wikg) (W3 (B7E28)
At 1 April 2018 JR20I85E4 1A — — 1 - (740) 196,278 195,539 (89) 195,450
Profit for the year ERgh - = = = = 105,579 105,579 4 105,583
Other comprehensive income FREM 2 E
for the year:
Exchange differences on translation of ¢ F ¥ S £ 7 2 A )
foreign operations 5 £H = = = = 234 = 234 — 234
Total comprehensive income ERARNEAH
for the year — — — - 234 105,579 105,813 4 105,817
Acquisition of non-controlling interests 1 7 4% i & () - — — 85) - — (85) 85 =
Acquisition of a subsidiary ¢ il P 29 = = 40,000 = = = 40,000 = 40,000
Dividends ! 12 - — — - — (72,500) (72,500) — (72,500)

At31 March 2019 and at 1 April 2019 F2019431131H }
2019%F4H1A = — 4000 (85)¢ (506 229,357+ 268,767 — 268767

Profit for the year Lyl - - - - - 35951 35951 - 3951
Other comprehensive loss for the year: & 4 {1 2 H 5 8
Exchange differences on translation of 4 F ¥ S S 7 2 A )

foreign operations B EH - - - - 1) - “19) - 418
Total comprehensive income for the year 4l 4 il it & 4 48 - - - - 418) 35951 35,533 - 35,533
Issue of shares under initial M ON e

public offering i bl 19920 204,180 - - - — 24100 — 24100
Share issue expenses B B 2 - (14,126) - - - - (14,126) - (14,126)
Dividends ! 12 - - - - - (30,69 (30,696) - (30,696)
At 31 March 2020 1202043318 19920 190054 40,001 (83 (924 234612¢ 483578 — 4

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$463,658,000 * AR S BRI E S
(2019: HK$268,767,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 463,658,000 JC (20194F : 268,767,000 JG) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERERER

Year ended 31 March 2020
BE2020F3A31BLEFE

2019
20194F

HK$°000
T T

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHMBRERE

ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax i Bl I Y A 35,034 118,259
Adjustments for: DA T & TEAE H o
Interest income FE W A 7 4,169) (355)
Gain on disposal of items of property, WEWE - B M EE
plant and equipment T 15 0 £ 7 (120) —
Finance cost il A 8 132 —
Depreciation of right-of-use assets o7 HE W T B 8 2,501 —
Depreciation of other items of property, W2 ~ kB KA A I E
plant and equipment w3 % 8 1,225 1,304
Amortisation of intangible assets T A E 8 8 13,701 13,262
Impairment of intangible assets Y WUE 8 349 —
Impairment of trade receivables 2 5 e IS K E 8 2,398 2,366
Reversal of impairment of trade B 5y W ST R T U (L 43 [
receivables 8 (1,366) (1,671)
Write-off of trade receivables B Gy I WA R T L 8 8 8 2
Write-down of licensed rights to net 54§ S ENTIE B Rt
realisable value, net 5 AH 8 16,852 3,908
66,545 137,075
Increase in licensed assets 2 0E & B (22,456) (26,575)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables & o T 2K I 8 (48 ) (39,644) 44,440
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, LA AT~ i 4 B At B i
deposits and other receivables FIE Wl A (388 ) 5,942 (6,348)
Increase in amounts due from related JRRE S [BR] Bk 7 K TEL B

parties — (2,246)

Increase in trade payables = 5'7 JRE AF 35 TEL 14 367 18,321
Increase/(decrease) in accruals and other e 512 A &,ﬁ\: ity JE A 2K T

payables s, (el 2) (9,192) 20,108
Decrease in contract liabilities GHAEW D 3,301) (34,492)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations 845 fr 15 (B ) 81 & 1,739) 150,283
Hong Kong profits tax paid A A 15 B (12,456) (19,226)
Overseas tax paid C A 55 A B IE (150) (674)
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating REWEE TS () B

activities it B A (14,345) 130,383
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n‘/—_r\ Iﬁzﬁl)lbgﬁ

Year ended 31 March 2020
BE20205F3A31BLFE

2020
2020F
Notes HK$’000
B THERT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZHFBREARE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received B i S5 4,048 355
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEWE - WE K
property, plant and equipment % A JE H BT 15 30H 120 —
Purchases of items of property, plant and i E W3~ s &
equipment XA IE H (458) (604)
Purchases of intangible assets i B P A (12,560) (6,561)
Additions of investments in media contents 1 fiil 4% & f# B A 25 (18,818) —
Acquisition of a subsidiary WS B — D BT B 2 29 — 31,658
Placement of time deposits with original 77 U A7 il ¢ J5 A7 5k #A
maturity of more than 3 months when A =8 A 02 AR
placed (609) —
Redemption of time deposits with original g [a] 7 47 5 IR 5 AT 3k 11
maturity of more than 3 months when R = A BT K
placed 302 —
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing HEEE G (TH)
activities B4 i A (27,975) 24,848
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHRERENE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares under initial & 4% & K /A B B B3 47
public offering Ji& A5y By 45 3K TH 27(b) 224,100 —
Share issue expenses FEAT R A BH X (14,126) —
Lease payments & A 3k 30(b) (2,762) —
Dividends paid LA B B (30,696) (125,750)
Repayment of amount due to a shareholder & %2 J& o — 44 JIix 5 5K 1A 30(b) — (34,475)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing il 95 B BT A5, (A )
activities W 4 U i A 176,516 (160,225)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN REekBETEEY
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2, Of )38 134,196 (4,994)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning 4F ¥ Bl 4 & Bl 4 5 (H Y
of the year 163,754 169,067
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [ % 4 &) 5 28 (V5 4H) (210) (319)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT F#XRERFAESEEY
THE END OF THE YEAR 297,740 163,754
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH RERBESZEYEHRIN
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances Bl & T SRAT &5 % 21 101,206 163,754
Time deposits 7E WA 3K 21 196,841 —
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the Uﬂ“ﬁ/\\,ﬁﬁ Bk PR 1)
statement of financial position B e KB & EEY 298,047 163,754
Less: Time deposits with original maturity 8 : 77 5k IR¢ J5 77 2K 31
of more than three months when placed A =8 A B E B A (307) —
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the %l 7~ A B & i & £ 19
statement of cash flow W& Rl a % EY 297,740 163,754
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

Medialink Group Limited is a limited liability company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands. The registered office of the
Company is located at Cayman Corporate Centre, 27 Hospital
Road, George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-9008, Cayman
Islands. The principal place of business of the Company is
located at Suite 1001, 10/F, Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75
Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”),
the immediate holding company and the ultimate holding
company of the Company is RLA Company Limited, which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”). The shares
of the Company have been listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
since 21 May 2019 (the “Listing”).

The Company is an investment holding company. During the
year, the Company’s subsidiaries were involved in the following
principal activities:

. media content distribution and investments in media
content production (“Media Content Distribution
Business™)

U brand licensing (“Brand Licensing Business”)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business

Issued ordinary/
registered share
capital

ORITEE/
i

EmA/
AfMkEXEE  ERR

Medialink Animation Hong Kong HK$2
International Limited

REBE MR ERAT  Fik 2iE T

Medialink Entertainment Hong Kong HK$10
Limited

R A R ¥ 10% 7

T
o

e P RRME

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

RAREEEHR

Fo R 4R WA R R B 2 R R R
JSE J AR R o AR N R Y RE i
& i ji* Cayman Corporate Centre,
27 Hospital Road, George Town, Grand
Cayman KY1-9008, Cayman Islands °
AN T Y T A S M B R A L BE
R /b WEL SR JEE 78 75 55 R T L B —
10#1001% - A Fl#EF (EE) R
By o AN T H RN W) B e K
/2 7 Z5RLA Company Limited >
REBRE LS (REBELZESR )T
MBS o A F B E R 20194F5 H 21
H 7 7 W 15 52 5 T A BR > W) (B 32
) FEAR Edi(TEdmD -

ARFR/LEBERAT - F£R > AR
) W} J A WA R 8 R

o B AAEBEAT KB AE R
BHE(RBRABRITES)

e MMM (REeREXE)

Bt B 2 B & B
A% A ) I 2 ) REA S L

Percentage of equity
attributable to the
Compan
ARFME
B2

Direct

BEE

Principal activities

Indirect

B %

100 Sub-licensing of brands; and
provision of licensing agency

services
100 ﬂgﬁﬁ@ ;o B it HE A 2 %

100 Distribution of licensed media
content; sublicensing of
brands; theatrical release; and
investments in media content

roduction
100 MR I 05 B A o
%%ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬂ% s T IR N 2

N
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

R B IRARMIEE

31 March 2020
202043H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. PEAIREEER @

INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Conrinued) il NEIE=E 3

Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/  Percentage of equity
registration and registered share attributable to the
business capital Comp an% Principal activities
AT,/ BRTEE,/ L (L
R E EHHIEZF FTEEK
Dlrect Indirect
&
Medialink (Far East) Limited Hong Kong HKS$2 — 100 Sub-licensing of brands; and
provision of licensing agency
‘ e services B
Medialink (Far East) Limited 7 i 2T — 100 a’% PRI HE 5 T 4 0t E A0 2 R
Medialink Brand Singapore Singapore dollar — 100  Provision of licensing agency
Management Pte Limited* (*SGD”) 10 services
Medialink Brand 3% 107 3% — 100 4R 45 e X 2 AR 5
Management Pte Limited* (T35 )
Medialink (Shanghai) People’s Republic of  US$850,000 — 100 Provision of sales, marketing and
Co., Limited** China (“PRC”)/ administrative support services to
} : Mainland China B géro com anies
AMEECLEE (L) FEARLME 850,000 T - 100 i 2 B2 v 48 4 85 6 T 05
PR 22 ] %FPJ)/EPW RT3 T 7S
Whateversmiles Limited Hong Kong HK$100 — 100 Investment holding and investments
‘ o in media content productlon
Whateversmiles Limited & 1007 7T — 100 BELBRRBEBASEEERE
Whateversmiles ¥ 2\ & 41 Japan Japanese Yen — 100 Investments in media content
(“JPY”) production
} 5,000,000 N ‘
Whateversmiles#k X @ 4+ HA 5,000,000 H — 100 BEAERELE
=1-0)

S The statutory financial statements of these companies are not audited @ % 5 0N TG 5 8 BB R AR I 9F ol A i
by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of the Ernst & KB 1Rl S5 B B2 K g R S 4
Young global network TR A A B0 H A s B 2 R AR

i The company is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise # % 8 A T AR 45 v I vk A M R ST A — T
established under PRC law A1 A

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, HRR A EREIH AL E] B A

in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results CIDFESE S A i 5 R S

for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets ] O KR 0 B B B ) o

of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in HR By B H B A R RE IR

the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive TERREAR -

length.

- 102 MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2020 Annual Report



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, under the historical cost convention, except for
investments in media contents which are stated at fair value.
They are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$’000) except
when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2020.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

A B RR

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

2.1 RREE

MBS R R EE ML e (&
BT QS ) B A I Rl
EHI(ERMBHREER ) (BHF
A O R e A
QI(TEBEERN]) k) ik
O RR G R B A A Ak R
e K E T i o

B S R 3R Y 4 1 A A R M R
A AR R eI A AR A
FEIIHR o BRI A 18WISL - % 5F B S
WL ((Bx]) 25 - HErA 3
HEMBREREHEEZ T (THEIT) -

mERE

SE A B i AL AR A F KO R
Nl (AR ANEE ) # £ 202043 H31
HIEF R B R - BHE A A48 h
AR ) H 1 Bk 4 P 0 (R
EmEEN HALEEHSZHEBE
¥ G 2 Y TF B (] OR B8 JE B 5 =
A HEFI DL K RE 5 i B B S R
J1(BPA LR T B A e T £ 8
& $F 5 k0 B E Bh AY BB A7 HE R ) B A
5% % 0] > B ECAS 4 R o

fisf A 2 7 B 4% B B A DR B
HERZ YA E SR o RER]
I A 2 B A A O WA B R
BRI G5 E - VIR FEE
FeAE DL - LA

@@ HEEEHRNHABEERA
NI & # L

(by At #0922 PR B i A i HEA] 5 K

(© A4 Y B R R T TE B R
HE -

W T 2~ ) B A ) D B 5 S R A R
AR > 6 PR — EoE whEUR R R
BT & 2~ ) ) 3 A Pl AR 42 T TS £ A
M2 HEIZAANR B G S ANR
EZEREALEZ AR AL -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e TSR R MR

31 March 2020
202043H31H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2.1 GRBEEXE 4

Basis of consolidation (coniinuea)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to owner of the parent of the Group and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(i1) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@)

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative

Compensation

HKFRS 16 Leases

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS
11, HKAS 12 and HKAS 23

HK (IFRIC)-Int 23

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017
Cycle

The impact of adoption of HKFRS 16 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 23
are explained below. The adoption of other new and revised
HKFRSs does not have any significant financial effect on the
Group’s results of operation and financial position.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases (“HKAS 17”), HK
(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains
a Lease (“HK (IFRIC)-Int 4”), HK (SIC)-Int 15 Operating
Leases — Incentives and HK (SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the
Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a
Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires
lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet
model to recognise and measure right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities, except for certain recognition exemptions.

A B RR

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

22 BT HREBBRINE

(@)

Z LNy N SRR L RN
PR A LLR B AT B R AE AT s B R
HHER]

iR RERA BN AARHA L HISER

(7T %) #

M HREEARI60S AL

FiE g ElR0R  AHET WHAHE
(BT 4)

FREENRRYE  AEELARGELAZ
(BT %) RA# i

Eik(ABRMHERERE FEREANFEEEH
ZAG)—wBEnE F
BB R0 FBI B AR F35

BWFRIMEE  FEYFRAENE

i % B ENED
HRE I B 7 EA#23
HER

A7 T B A 7 9 B 5 A T RIS 16 9% T
i (EEMERERREEZAEE) —
e B A23 R A9 R B T SCAE R
PR 40 A BT T K KSAE BT A BB R
1 o RIS A B2 A A S A I T S IR
DU 37 40 F K B S Y B .

ERVBREEANFICREET

U B A A B 16 SR U
FHEE17SEH E ((EREERSE
1757 1) ~ 7 i (B0 P B 05 i o i B &%
BE)— RBBAREE —HLE
s A (& (B % RS2
BZEEE)—RBHE4IR) FHECE
HREZE ) — 2 REISH A S
B — #REUREE(ELNREZAR
') — BTN W R B L
AWK GEH - ZENCHRINHE
MRS - wHE - 2IIAER IR - AR
E R A N DB — ¥ R SR R Y
P AR B EAT & R B DL R K
REE IS E L E AR S T
il 0 G 1 DL R A1)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e TSR R MR

31 March 2020
202043H31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@)

AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption with the date of initial
application of 1 April 2019. Under this method, the standard
is applied retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initial
adoption as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
earnings at 1 April 2019, and the comparative information for
the year ended 31 March 2019 was not restated and continued to
be reported under HKAS 17 and related interpretations.

New definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the
identified asset and the right to direct the use of the identified
asset. The Group elected to use the transition practical
expedient allowing the standard to be applied only to contracts
that were previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and
HK (IFRIC)-Int 4 at the date of initial application. Contracts
that were not identified as leases under HKAS 17 and HK
(IFRIC)-Int 4 were not reassessed. Therefore, the definition
of a lease under HKFRS 16 has been applied only to contracts
entered into or changed on or after 1 April 2019.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@)

AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as operating
leases

Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS 16

The Group has lease contracts for its offices, warehouses and a
car parking space. As a lessee, the Group previously classified
leases as either finance leases or operating leases based on the
assessment of whether the lease transferred substantially all the
rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the Group. Under
HKFRS 16, the Group applies a single approach to recognise
and measure right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all
leases, except for two elective exemptions for leases of low-
value assets (elected on a lease-by-lease basis) and short-term
leases (elected by class of underlying asset). The Group has
elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
for (i) leases of low-value assets; and (ii) leases, that at the
commencement date, have a lease term of 12 months or less.
Instead of recognising rental expenses under operating leases
on a straight-line basis over the lease term commencing from 1
April 2019, the Group recognises depreciation (and impairment,
if any) of the right-of-use assets and interest accrued on the
outstanding lease liabilities (as finance costs).

Lease liabilities at 1 April 2019 were recognised based on the
present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using
the incremental borrowing rate at 1 April 2019 and presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The right-of-use assets were measured at the amount of the
lease liabilities, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or
accrued lease payments relating to the lease recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position immediately before
1 April 2019. All these assets were assessed for any impairment
based on HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets on that date. The
Group elected to present the right-of-use assets as property,
plant and equipment in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

A B RR

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

22 BT HRREBEHRKEw

@ BRMBBREEARIREER

(%)
ERBERBAN — 27 EREEH
ENHE

R Fr 5 B4R 15 T B B 16 96 11 2 2
w1 E
AEBRFAERAE - BEE—KE
HAWHESH - (EARMAN > A%
B 2 AR R AL PSR S R
T A RE B4 48 KB 0y 0 i K B T AR
45 B A9 AH B B A A TH B AR
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31 March 2020
202043H31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)
(@) HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as operating
leases (Continuea)

Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

The Group has used the following elective practical expedients
when applying HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019:

. The use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases
with reasonably similar characteristics

. Applied the short-term lease exemptions to leases with a
lease term that ends within 12 months from the date of
initial application

o Used hindsight in determining the lease term where the
contract contains options to extend/terminate the lease

The impacts arising from the adoption of HKFRS 16 as at 1
April 2019 are as follows:

22 ERBREBEHRIKE w

(a BBV BREEANFEICRHEE
()
ERBERBAN — 27 EREEH
EWNHEE @)
IR 25 1 B T R A T R 5 16 95 1Y 7 2
191 H (4%)
A20194F4 H1H & & s I 7 3 15 e
RSB 1697 R > A 42 B L0 FA LT ol it
MR R BRI

o SR AT A TR O A 0 L 6
44 1 B — BB

o A E KR B2 H RN
5> BB R 0 A R

s fMAMEEER MILHEHN
BEIH  JI 1% AL

JR20194F 4 H 1 H £R 4% B W B 5 ik o e
RSB 1655 2 26 /9 5% 280 F -

Restatement
At adjustment

Consolidated 31 March on adoption of
statement of financial position %X & Bf 3% AR i & 2019 HKFRS 16
B EH
BEBUB
& 28
20195 F1657 1 20194
3A31H R 4H1H
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T T TH# T T# T
Assets EE
Property, plant and equipment L ESN GENSE ] 7,396 808 8,204
Total assets B A 483,126 808 483,934
Liabilities =R
Current lease liabilities Ui B A — 662 662
Non-current lease liabilities F B E A — 146 146
Total liabilities AR 214,359 808 215,167
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AR B R AR R RE

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 €:tBEE28LEE
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)
(a) HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued) (a) § ;% /E\ZI. 77% ﬁ %l: i/;E—EIJ %16%@5

(&)

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as operating
leases (Continued)

Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

The lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 reconciled to the
operating lease commitments as at 31 March 2019 are as

ERBERBAN — 27 EREEH
EWHEmw)

IR 25 B T R A5 T R A5 16 95 19 7 2
191 H (4%)

R20194F4 H1H /9 #L & & 5 5222019
EIH3LH B AS S AL & RIS 2 BHIR a0

follows: T
HK$’000
T T
Operating lease commitments as at 31 March 2019 A2019F3831H MWK EHERKIE 983
Weighted average incremental borrowing rate as at — 20194F4 7 1H (4 Jin E 724 3% & (& &
1 April 2019 F 2 3.41%

Discounted operating lease commitments as at A20194F 4 H 1H Y B 31 4878 TH & R 15
1 April 2019 972
Less: Commitments relating to short-term leases and ¥ : B & 3 FH B K ik '~ FH 3 72 2020 4F
those leases with a remaining lease term 3H31H 82 i i i 1) LS A B
ended on or before 31 March 2020 1 7K 1

(522)
Add: Payments for optional extension periods not I A 201943 H31H 1 o B 58 (1) v %8
recognised as at 31 March 2019 ESUR=R RN 358
Lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 R2019F481BENEHEEE 808

In addition, amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions are effective retrospectively for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 June 2020 with earlier application
permitted. Amendments to HKFRS 16 provide a practical
expedient for lessees to elect not to apply lease modification
accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct consequence
of the COVID-19 pandemic. The Group has early adopted the
amendments in the financial statements and this adoption does
not have any significant impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.

WA > B W B S i 4 YE R 2B 1695 (1B
W1 A) [ 28 76 AR 7 22 4 B 7 <2 1
202046 A 1H 5% 2 1% B 46 19 4% B A
MEEWA R I AFFIREER - &5
W 5 i 15 ME R SR 1658 (B 5T A) Bkl
N LT W AT M RE B 2 w5 o AT
B AT A E R EEENE
BEfRAmMEANHSERERNE
& ol & 5 # o A 4 [ B 7E B R
TR R AR > H I IE R %
A 4 3] B 5 AR U0 B 3 AR R A AT T
HRYE -
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A B RR MR

31 March 2020
202043H31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(b)

AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income
taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments involve
uncertainty that affects the application of HKAS 12 (often
referred to as “uncertain tax positions”). The interpretation
does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of
HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements
relating to interest and penalties associated with uncertain
tax treatments. The interpretation specifically addresses
(i) whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments
separately; (ii) the assumptions an entity makes about the
examination of tax treatments by tax authorities; (iii) how
an entity determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases,
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and (iv)
how an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances.
The interpretation does not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.
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A B RR

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

3.1 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 31 EHEMGERRERNER
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING B % ¥R & 2 Al
STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised A 4L B SIE oR R w% 5 B RS R 3R A
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in B2 R R BN N = DR S
these financial statements. 16 5T & Hs B 15 i 4 HE R
Amendments to Definition of a Business' FUs BB HE R B A

HKFRS 3 S35 B 7T A)

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark Reform! T A R B X
HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 Uk - mus g Rt A
and HKFRS 7 HE I 5539 9% I A vk

Yo 5 e o5 B ) 55 7 9%
(7T A)

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets Fus BB MR A& AT
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its 109 M i & 5 AT ey
HKAS 28 (2011) Associate or Joint Venture? HERISE085% (20114F) &L\ mal .2 [

(7T A) "9 & B
g B
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’® FW IR KA A2
B179%

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material’ BTG5 . & A 49 & FE

and HKAS 8 g st MRS58 5%
(7T A)

Amendments to Reference to the Conceptual TR E L HREREZ
HKFRS 3 Framework? 355 (15 5T A%) 12 A3

Amendments to Property, Plant and Equipment: e R JE Y
HKAS 16 Proceeds before Intended Use’ 1695 (15 5T A%) R FHE

JE & B 7Y
T 15 s HH3

Amendments to Onerous Contracts — Cost of i Y BRI A AT —
HKAS 37 Fulfilling a Contract’ H379% (B HT A) JE #9 5 A3

Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 1, W BRI BB B A
HKFRSs 2018-2020 HKFRS 9, HKFRS 16 and 20184F £ 20204 HERFE1HE
Cycle HKAS 41° W 2 AR U 7 kB R

IR 9
9%~ B
B A ERY
169E R & vt
& 7l R 5
419E (B 7T
)3

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 @ it %2020@1)% 1A EZ Zfé b ﬁf ity 4 ¢
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 @ H }?XZOZITIE 1H = éiﬁ b ti it fl—g
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 T8 20224 LA 1H B2 2 B b (1 4

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption A 7 i 72 o I 2R 25CH B> (E A4l RO

AW R -
2w N =
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31 March 2020
202043H31H

3.1 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 3 EEMEEMREMNNESR

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon initial
application. So far, the Group considers that these new
and revised HKFRSs may result in changes in accounting
policies and are unlikely to have a significant impact on the
Group’s financial performance and financial position. Further
information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets to be
considered a business, it must include, at a minimum, an input
and a substantive process that together significantly contribute
to the ability to create output. A business can exist without
including all of the inputs and processes needed to create
outputs. The amendments remove the assessment of whether
market participants are capable of acquiring the business
and continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on
whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive processes
together significantly contribute to the ability to create
outputs. The amendments have also narrowed the definition of
outputs to focus on goods or services provided to customers,
investment income or other income from ordinary activities.
Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance to assess
whether an acquired process is substantive and introduce an
optional fair value concentration test to permit a simplified
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets
is not a business. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
prospectively from 1 April 2020. Since the amendments apply
prospectively to transactions or other events that occur on or
after the date of first application, the Group will not be affected
by these amendments on the date of transition.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition
of material. The new definition states that information is
material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably
be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. The amendments clarify that materiality
will depend on the nature or magnitude of information. A
misstatement of information is material if it could reasonably
be expected to influence decisions made by the primary users.
The Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from
1 April 2020. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over
the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If
the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the
fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

A B RR

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H
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31 March 2020
202043H31H

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 EEGHHEME

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition
date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash- generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than licensed
rights and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of
that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i1) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

A B RR

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H
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31 March 2020
202043H31H

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (continued)
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of
the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a

part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

5% to 10%
Over the shorter of the lease
terms and 33'/3%

Buildings
Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20% to 33'/3%
Computer equipment 30% to 33'/3%
Motor vehicles 30%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from
its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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31 March 2020
202043H31H

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 EEGHHEME

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Media content commercial rights, computer software and brand
licensing contracts are stated at cost less amortisation and any
impairment losses. Media content commercial rights and brand
licensing contracts are amortised based on the proportion of
actual income earned during the year to the total estimated
income. The computer software is amortised on a straight-line
basis over its estimated useful life of 5 years.

Leases (applicable from 1 April 2019)

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(@) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leased properties 1 to 3 years
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

@

(b)

Right-of-use assets

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments to
be made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by
the Group and payments of penalties for termination of
a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising
the option to terminate. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an
expense in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are presented separately in
the statement of financial position.
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31 March 2020
202043H31H

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(¢) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office premises (that
is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). When the Group enters into a lease in
respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Operating leases (applicable before 1 April 2019)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remained with the lessor were accounted for
as operating leases. Rentals payable under operating leases net
of any incentives received from the lessor were charged to profit
or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are
measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial assets’ contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (conrinucd)
Initial recognition and measurement (Conzinued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group has certain investments in media contents, each of
which entitles the Group to receive a fixed rate of return or
minimum amount of return based on the Group’s investment
amount as specified in respective investment agreements. All
investments in media contents which give rise to cash flows
that are not solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding are stated at fair value through
profit or loss.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling
the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are
held within a business model with the objective of both holding
to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business models
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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31 March 2020
202043H31H

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 EEGHHEME

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (coninued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continuea)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms. The amount of ECLs is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since the initial
recognition of the respective financial instruments.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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31 March 2020
202043H31H

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 EEGHHEME

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECLs for trade
receivables and measures the lifetime ECLs on a specific basis
according to management’s assessment of the recoverability of
an individual receivable. Management considers the number
of days that an individual receivable is outstanding, historical
experience and forward-looking information to determine the
recoverability of the trade receivable.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for the measurement of ECLs.

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 1 —

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 —

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal

to lifetime ECLs
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking
information considered includes the future prospects of the
industries in which the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from
financial analysts, as well as consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate
to the Group’s core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition:

U existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligation;

U an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

U an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligation.

Despite the aforementioned, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is
determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A
financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:
(i) it has a low risk of default (i.e., no default history); (ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term; and (iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil
its contractual cash flow obligations.
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31 March 2020
202043H31H

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 EEGHHEME

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

Based on historical experience, the Group considers that default
has occurred and additional credit risk mitigating measures will
be taken when the instrument is more than one year past due.
In certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset
to be in default when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

U the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual

reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

. it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g., when the counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedure, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made
are recognised directly in profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
loans and borrowings and payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities at
amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest
rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e TSR R MR

31 March 2020
202043H31H

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Licensed assets

Licensed assets relate to media content distribution rights and
brand sub-licensing rights (collectively “licensed rights”)
granted by licensors to the Group over a definitive licence
period.

Licensed rights are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices
less any estimated costs to be incurred to disposal.

When the Group has signed the licensing agreements and when
the licence period has yet to begin, these acquisition costs are
recorded as prepayments included in “Licensed assets”.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when placed, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature
to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or
services to the customer).

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

U in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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31 March 2020
202043H31H

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 EEGHHEME

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

J when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of each reporting period.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same tax authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised when the Group has fulfilled the
obligations stated in the contracts, and when the Group has
transferred control over relative goods or services to the
customer, on the following bases:

Media Content Distribution Business

The Group distributes media content including animation
series, variety shows, drama series, animated and live-action
feature films and other video content, which are licensed from
third party media content licensors, to customers. Content
licensing agreements are entered into with the media content
licensors which have definitive licence periods and give the
Group the rights to sub-licence the right of use of the media
content to other third parties. The Group then enters into
content sub-licensing agreements with customers for a period
that falls within the original licence period with the licensors,
pursuant to which the Group will grant exclusive or non-
exclusive rights to use the media content (sub-licensed from the
media content licensors) in certain territories.

As the Group takes the primary responsibilities of content sub-
licensing arrangements, including selecting the customers,
providing the media content, and controlling specifications of
the content sub-licensing arrangements, including the pricing
and territories of distribution, it considers itself as a principal
in such arrangements. Accordingly, revenue is recognised on a
gross basis, which is the amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
transferring the promised media content to customers. The
relevant amounts to be paid to the media content licensors as
stated in the content licensing agreements are recorded in cost
of sales.
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31 March 2020
202043H31H

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Media Content Distribution Business

(a) Distribution of licensed media content
The Group recognises revenue from the distribution of
media content at the point in time when all the following
criteria are met: (i) persuasive evidence of a sub-licensing
arrangement with a customer exists; (ii) the media content
has been delivered or has been made available for the
customer’s right to use and there is no requirement for
significant continued performance by the Group; (iii)
the sub-licensing period of the arrangement has begun
and the customer can begin its exploitation of the media
content; and (iv) collectability of the sub-licensing fee is
reasonably assured.

(b) Distribution of feature film

Income from distribution of feature film represents the
Group’s share of box office sales from films exhibited in
movie cinemas, after the deduction of direct taxes and
charges in relation to the exhibition. The Group’s share
of income is determined in accordance with the sharing
ratio mutually agreed between the Group and the movie
cinemas.

Income from distribution of feature film is recognised
at the point in time when all the following criteria are
met: (i) the films are exhibited in movie cinemas; (ii)
the amount of income can be measured reliably; and (iii)
the collectability of the entitled proceeds is reasonably
assured.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Brand Licensing Business

The Group obtains various rights to use third-party owned
brands, which may include certain merchandising rights,
location-based entertainment rights and promotion rights,
and generates revenue by either sub-licensing the use of these
brands to customers or acting as agent for the brand licensors.

(@

Sub-licensing of brands

Brand licensing agreements are entered into with the
brand licensors which have definitive licensing periods
and give the Group the rights to sub-license the brands
to other third parties. The Group then enters into brand
sub-licensing agreements with customers for a period
that falls within the original licensing period with the
licensors, pursuant to which the Group will grant non-
exclusive rights for the customers to access the brands for
the categories of products or consumer promotions and
activities as stipulated in the sub-licensing agreements.
The Group receives fixed and non-refundable amounts or
minimum guarantees in advance from the sub-licensees
and recognises the amounts over the sub-licensing periods
as stipulated in the relevant agreements with the sub-
licensees. In addition, the Group also earns additional
sales-based royalties when cumulative royalties are in
excess of the minimum guarantees and these additional
royalties are recognised as revenue when the minimum
guarantees are exceeded on a cumulative basis.

As the Group takes the primary responsibilities of the
brand sub-licensing arrangement, including selecting the
customers and controlling the specifications of the brand
sub-licensing arrangement, including the pricing and
territories of distribution, it considers itself as a principal
in such arrangements. Accordingly, revenue is recognised
on a gross basis, which is the amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring the promised right of use to
a customer. The relevant royalty to be paid to the brand
licensors as stated in the brand licensing agreements is
recorded in cost of sales.
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31 March 2020
202043H31H

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Brand Licensing Business (Conzinued)

(b

©

Provision of licensing agency services

The Group also provides integrated licensing agency
services to licensors in return for agency service fees
which are based on a certain percentage of the total
royalty received or receivable by the licensors. The
integrated licensing agency services mainly include (i)
identifying potential licensees; (ii) negotiating terms of
contracts with licensees on behalf of the licensors; (iii)
assisting in promoting brands on behalf of licensors; and
(iv) collecting royalty fees on behalf of the licensors.
These services are rendered by the Group over the
licensing periods of the relevant licensing agreements and
the agency service fees are recognised as revenue over
time.

The Group has evaluated and determined that it is not the
primary obligor in the services rendered and is therefore,
acting as agent in the arrangements. Accordingly, the
Group recognises its revenue on a net basis, which is the
Group’s share of the total royalty earned by licensors.

Included in the sub-licensing of brands and the provision
of licensing agency services, the Group delivers materials
for the events organised by the Group’s customers and
provides holographic approval stickers/labels to sub-
licensees as approval of their products. The Group
recognises revenue at the point in time when control of the
asset is transferred to the customer, which is on delivery
of the materials or holographic approval stickers/labels.

Sales of merchandise

Income from the sales of licensed merchandise is
recognised at a point in time when the control of the
asset is transferred to the customer, i.e., delivery of the
merchandise to the customer.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Other income

Management fee and commission income

The Group provided corporate and business support services,
and agency support services to a related company which
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company in August
2018 and the related income was recognised in the period in
which the relevant services were rendered.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis, using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
in Hong Kong under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to participate
in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentages
of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.
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31 March 2020
202043H31H

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 EEGHHEME

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company's memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as
a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

3.2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the
end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing
rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of
the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
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31 March 2020
202043H31H

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Principal versus agent considerations

When another party is involved in providing goods or services
to its customer, the Group determines whether it is a principal
or an agent in these transactions by evaluating the nature of its
promise to the customer. The Group is a principal and records
revenue on a gross basis if it controls the promised goods or
services before transferring them to the customer. However, if
the Group’s role is only to arrange for another entity to provide
the goods or services, then the Group is an agent and will need
to record revenue at the net amount that it retains for its agency
services. The Group controls the goods or services when it has
the ability to direct the use of, and obtain substantially all the
remaining benefits from, the goods or services. This includes
the ability to prevent others from directing the use or obtaining
the benefits of the goods or services.

Current tax and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in multiple jurisdictions.
The Group carefully evaluates tax implications of its
transactions in accordance with prevailing tax regulations
and makes tax provision accordingly. However, judgement
is required in determining the Group’s provision for income
taxes as there are many transactions and calculations of
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, the differences will impact on the current tax and
deferred tax provision in the periods in which the determination
is made.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use
of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Further
details are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Non-financial assets with finite useful lives
are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data
from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction
of similar assets or observable market prices less incremental
costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations
are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future
cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.

Net realisable value of licensed rights

The Group performs regular review of the carrying amounts
of licensed rights with reference to ageing analysis and other
specific assessments including projections of expected future
sales based on historical sales patterns and other specific
attributes, and management experience and judgement. Based
on such review, write-down of the licensed rights will be made
when the estimated realisable value of licensed rights decline
below their carrying amounts.

Due to changes in market and economic environment and
customers’ preference, actual saleability of licensed rights and
actual selling prices that could be realised might be different
from the original estimation and profit or loss could be affected
by differences in this estimation.
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31 March 2020
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4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of trade receivables

The provision rate of receivables is made based on assessment
of their recoverability and ageing analysis of the receivables
as well as other quantitative and qualitative information and
on management’s judgement and assessment of the forward-
looking information. At each reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and of forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of
customers’ actual default in the future. Information about the
ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note 19 to
the financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has two
reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) the media content distribution segment comprises
distributions and investments in media contents including
animation series, variety shows, drama series, animated
and live-action feature films and other video contents; and

(b) the brand licensing segment comprises (i) obtaining
various rights to use third-party owned brands, which
include certain merchandising rights, location-based
entertainment rights and promotion rights, and sub-
licensing the use of these brands to customers; and (ii)
acting as an agent for the brand licensors.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax.
The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently
with the Group’s profit before tax except that interest income
and unallocated gains, depreciation and other corporate and
unallocated expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude property, plant and equipment, cash
and cash equivalents, tax recoverable and corporate and other
unallocated assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude tax payable, lease liabilities,
corporate and other unallocated liabilities as these liabilities are
managed on a group basis.
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31 March 2020
202043H31H

REDBER w0

S. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2020

BZE2020F3A31BLLFEE

Media
content Brand
distribution licensing Total
e
AR L mhE R et
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TERT TERT THET
Segment revenue: 72U
Sales to external customers ] 4138 % 5 ) 8 B 248,635 66,487 315,122
Segment results o EEE 46,194 9,060 55,254
Reconciliation: HHR
Interest income and unallocated FILE A e & 4 B IR #5
gains 4,289
Depreciation I (3,726)
Other corporate and unallocated Ho At A 2 Je R 43 e B 52
expenses (20,783)
Profit before tax i B AT Y4s A 35,034
Segment assets DEEE 300,075 66,495 366,570
Reconciliation: HHE
Corporate and other unallocated A 3 K Al R 43 il A
assets 330,160
Total assets B E ME 696,730
Segment liabilities PHEE 148,566 50,176 198,742
Reconciliation: FHE
Corporate and other unallocated i 3 Fe H A R 43 e B AR
liabilities 14,410
Total liabilities A AR 213,152
Other segment information: HitpEER :
Amortisation of intangible assets YA E 8 8,308 5,339 13,647
Impairment of intangible assets TV & 349 - 349
Impairment of trade receivables B 5y JRE LR TE 729 1,669 2,398
Reversal of impairment of trade B 7 IR s R T (L 4% [m]
receivables 413) (953) (1,366)
Write-down of licensed rights to net {5 i #it Ja( & A % Bl
realisable value, net EIRIERER 15,298 1,554 16,852
Capital expenditure* A BH S 39,389 —_ 39,389
& The capital expenditure relates to the purchase of intangible assets and * 7 B S B O S Y R B W

investments in media contents.
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31 March 2020
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. && 2 & & w

(Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2019

B Z2019F38318LFE

Media content Brand
distribution licensing Total
B
NA AT il 4% HE st
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T T T T T T
Segment revenue: 7 EB UL A
Sales to external customers I] S0 5B & 5 I 8 424,558 50,964 475,522
Segment results D EBEE 141,964 6,342 148,306
Reconciliation: HR
Interest income and unallocated FILE M A B A 43 Bt i 25
gains 4,641
Depreciation 7 85 (1,304)
Other corporate and unallocated HoAt A ZE Je R 0 e B 52
expenses (33,384)
Profit before tax % Bl 11 Y62 A 118,259
Segment assets PWEE 232,815 64,922 297,737
Reconciliation: HHE -
Corporate and other unallocated A 3 R HC Al o 43 il
assets 185,389
Total assets % ME 483,126
Segment liabilities P EEME 129,556 56,373 185,929
Reconciliation: FHHE
Corporate and other unallocated b 3 Fe HA R 0 i B 1R
liabilities 28,430
Total liabilities AR 214,359
Other segment information: Hith o W& K :
Amortisation of intangible assets T G 10,936 2,272 13,208
Impairment of trade receivables B 5 IRE e 3% T ek (E 123 2,243 2,366
Reversal of impairment of trade B2 G IR s K T Y (L % [m]
receivables (1,632) (39) (1,671)
Write-down of licensed rights to net 1% HE fiff i = n] 5 Bl
realisable value, net ERIEREE ] 3,143 765 3,908
Capital expenditure* A B S+ 6,561 — 6,561
& The capital expenditure relates to the purchase of intangible assets. * EAE Y EEEEIEEEA B -
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R B IRARMIEE

31 March 2020
202043H31H

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. B9 B&E % 4«

(Continued)
Geographical information i 15 & B
(a) Revenue from external customers @ XKEINIBEFH Kz
2020 2019
20204 20194F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THT Tt
Mainland China HR B AT 204,682 362,160
Hong Kong s 36,304 26,034
United States of America (“United States™) 3% F| EX & R 5 (£ Bl ) 20,970 38,917
Japan H A 11,841 7,640
Taiwan =9 11,278 7,511
United Kingdom b 6,623 2,137
Thailand #® 6,402 10,251
France % 5,280 1,180
Philippines FRE 1,492 16,035
Others HoAth 10,250 3,657
315,122 475,522
The revenue information above is based on the locations bl 0k 5 E R i 5 BT AE Hh
of the customers. 5 e
(b) Non-current assets b)) #RBEE
2020 2019
20204 20194F
HK$’000 HK$°000
T#E T T o
Hong Kong i 39,964 39,860
Mainland China w5 A i 4,664 3,991
Others H A 7,386 4,803
52,014 48,654
The non-current asset information above is based on the bl JE B R R R R A E AT
locations of the assets and excludes financial assets. TE b ) 5> BN 645 4 Bl & = o
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

(Continued)

Information about major customers
Revenue from external customers contributing over 10% to the

total revenue of the Group for the years ended 31 March 2020
and 2019 is as follows:

Customer A
Customer B
Customer C

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

AR B R AR R RE

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

REDEER w0

ERFTEEZEFMNER
Tl A 42 [ 8 2020 4F % 201943 H31H
1l AF B W 4 4R HR 1 10% 1 2R B MR

&5 U 45 #8040 R
2020 2019
20204 20194F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FTHE T F i o0
EFA 98,886 156,867
B — 116,810
EFC —* 54,638

*  Less than 10% of the total revenue of the Group.

* KA AR 4R Yk 4 AR AR 1Y 10% o

REVENUE 6. W=
2020 2019
2020F 20194F
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHT T
Major product or service lines FEEMBARBRE
Media Content Distribution Business T F A B AT T
Distribution of licensed media contents BEAT IR HE IR A 233,746 410,067
Distribution of feature films BORREL 14,889 14,491
248,635 424,558
Brand Licensing Business i W I T S
Sub-licensing of brands i L P 37,955 32,304
Provision of licensing agency services P 4t 4 A B AR 26,814 17,673
Sales of merchandise £ B 1,718 987
66,487 50,964
315,122 475,522
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R B IRARMIEE

31 March 2020
202043H31H

6. REVENUE (Continued)

2020 2019
20204 20194F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FH T T
Geographical locations HENE
Media Content Distribution Business TR R 2 T
Mainland China w5 A 194,833 347,824
Hong Kong " 25,101 15,749
Taiwan & 7,475 3,785
United States =S 5,384 28,204
Thailand 7 3,263 7,793
Philippines FEEE 1,078 15,844
Others* Al * 11,501 5,359
248,635 424,558
Brand Licensing Business it MR 1T PE S T
United States ES 15,586 10,713
Hong Kong i 11,203 10,285
Japan H 7 10,375 3,864
Mainland China mh ] A 9,849 14,336
France ik 5,280 1,180
Others* HoAt# 14,194 10,586
66,487 50,964
315,122 475,522
& Others mainly include geographical locations of Indonesia, Japan, % Hoph FEAFEENERTEE ~ HA ~ H2k

Malaysia, Singapore, United Kingdom and Vietnam.

2 Others mainly include geographical locations of Korea, Taiwan,
Thailand and United Kingdom.
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AR B R AR R RE

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

6. REVENUE (Continued)

2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T T
Timing of revenue recognition TR U = Y B
At a point in time A IR [H] 2 i R
Media content distribution B A B BT
Distribution of licensed media contents BT R RN A 233,746 410,067
Distribution of feature films BORBEEY 14,889 14,491
Brand licensing i W1 T
Sub-licensing of brands il L4 17,620 13,580
Provision of licensing agency services $R At 152 M A 2 IR 5 6,159 5,951
Sales of merchandise £ 8 7 1,718 987
274,132 445,076
Over time JA I ] B A R
Brand licensing it W1 FE
Sub-licensing of brands i WL T 4 20,335 18,723
Provision of licensing agency services & 4t 42 A T AR S 20,655 11,723
40,990 30,446
315,122 475,522
7. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 7. HtA KW=
2020 2019
2020F 20194
HK$’000 HK$°000
FERT T T
Bank interest income SR AT A B e A 4,169 355
Management fee income from a related party 28 H — 44 B Bt 77 1)
CEEE LION — 4,286
Commission income from a related party A H — 2 B 5k T 1)
A N — 96
Gain on disposal of property, Y2 MR
plant and equipment % A AT A5 I 120 —
Others oAt 125 759
4,414 5,496
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31 March 2020
202043H31H

consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8. FR# AT A
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ 7 4 8 bR B AT W A 5 0ER S (GEA) T
(crediting): -SRI
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#& T T# T
Auditor's remuneration 1% S il 357 P 2,205 1,392
Cost of goods sold and other services rendered FIr £ & i S I $2 {t H Aih
I 5 4 1 A 155,901 234,122
Listing-related expenses TR B BE 32 4,514 19,666
Depreciation: e
Right-of-use assets filf FHE 2,501 —
Other items of property, plant and equipment ¥ 2 ~ k& & &
e i A I H 1,225 1,304
3,726 1,304
Amortisation of intangible assets I T A rE 8 13,701 13,262
Minimum lease payments under operating KEMEHE T REHEE
leases i 3Kk — 3,590
Lease payments not included in the KetAEAETEK
measurement of lease liabilities B A 869 —
Employee benefit expenses (including fié B A A BH S (245 38 5 %
directors' and chief executive's remuneration = 11 A & #9357 i
(note 9)): (Fff 5%9)) =
Salaries, wages, allowances and bonuses e L& -~ R RAE
AL 48,520 58,588
Pension scheme contributions (defined ARARFTHI 3K (RLE ik 3K
contribution schemes) G D) 2,819 2,831
51,339 61,419
Impairment of intangible assets* TP A 349 —
Foreign exchange differences, net* b REE 72 58 15 AH * 542 293
Impairment of trade receivables*® B S IR e % VE ek (E 2,398 2.366
Reversal of impairment of trade receivables® & 5 JE i 2K JA i {H % 1] * (1,366) (1,671)
Write-off of trade receivables* B T I WA R TE L S 8 2
Write-down of licensed rights to net realisable 15 #E il ¥k % nJ % 51
value, net* IR R 16,852 3,908
Finance cost — interest on lease liabilities il A — HEAEFE 132 —
g These amounts are included in “Other expenses, net” on the face of the * W45 4 BT 5 A 1R R R R A B S
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c)
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of
the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

AR B R AR R RE

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

9. EEREEITHAENF
[y
R4 U Bt & 22 5 BT A BRA 7l ik 25 b
TR R~ U 2 G B 55 383(1)(a)
(b) > (c) e (f) M LA B ) (4 #% & 55 Fl
i RE) KR RN B2 AR 22 BT B R 2 AR
BHHBM T

2020 2019
20204 20194F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#E T T 0
Fees 4 507 —
Other emoluments: L A i 4
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind B4 N KCE WY AE A 11,194 4,595
Performance related bonuses® HLR A B 2 AE 4L+ 4,510 9,493
Pension scheme contributions HRARFTHI AR 3K (RLE (k3K
(defined contribution schemes) w1 #) 115 102
16,326 14,190
& Certain directors of the Company are entitled to bonus payments which & AN A T E SRR BRI AL - A B K

are approved by the Group’s remuneration committee with reference to
the Group’s current year profit and the individual performance of the
directors.

(a) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors
during the year were as follows:

WA SEEH M Z B & 2 AL EA
A B Ui ) B 4% 2 B0 A N SR B AL AE

(a BYFHTES
A ST I AT 2 AR A
ST

2020 2019

20205 20194

HK$’000 HK$’000

THER T ¥ 7T

Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda R L+ 169 —
Mr. Fung Ying Wai Wilson WA 169 —
Mr. Wong Kam Pui, JP B4R SE AR CRF 0 1) 169 -
507 —

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2019: Nil).

Ms. Leung Chan Che Ming Miranda, Mr. Fung Ying Wai
Wilson and Mr. Wong Kam Pui, JP were appointed as
independent non-executive directors of the Company on
29 October 2018 with effect from 22 April 2019.

RN > AR A S AT T oL 9
AT E 3 2 H AL 4 (20194F ¢
E) o

WA At WIS K
e AR CROF-#h ) 7R 2018 4F
10 H29 H % Ze AT B A8 /N 5] 1Y 8 57
IF 47 # F 3l 2 20194F 4 H22H
R e
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R B IRARMIEE

31 March 2020
202043H31H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EENESTHRAENS

REMUNERATION (coninuea) [

(b) Executive directors and a non-executive (b) BITESRIPTES
director
Ms. Chiu Siu Yin, Lovinia and Ms. Chiu Siu Fung, Noletta G IVANG 7 e ol AN W ol N
received remuneration from the subsidiaries of the Group KEWME AR ZEAEENE
for their appointment as directors of these subsidiaries. 72 5 B 2\ B i HRCET I o o AR
Mr. Cheung Wai Kit and Mr. Ma Ching Fung received 58 5 2B T J§ OE 8% 5 A2 TR 2018 4F
remuneration in their capacity as directors subsequent to 10H29 H # ZAF B A A Rl #AT #
their appointment as executive directors of the Company HERMIEEEFOHTM - T
on 29 October 2018. The remuneration of each of these 1| 4% #5510 5 I IS 6 4 B A
directors set out below includes those recorded in the GRS S

financial statements of the subsidiaries.

Salaries,
allowances, Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration

¢ 2R RER
e BUEN AEZEAL BUKSHER @t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS'000
T T T T T

2020 20204
Executive directors: WiTEF:
Ms. Chiu Siu Yin, Lovinia # Lt — 4,48 2,250 42 6,540
Ms. Chiu Siu Fung, Noletta # BT L — 2,847 1,476 42 4,365
Mr. Cheung Wai Kit o B S — 1,269 — 13 1,282
Mr. Ma Ching Fung BIE# & — 1,502 560 18 2,080
Non-executive director: FafrES:
Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP EERLL
(KAL) - 1,328 24 - 1,552
- 11,194 4,510 115 15,819
2019 2019%
Executive directors: WirES:
Ms. Chiu Siu Yin, Lovinia il ¥ 3 — 2,035 3,370 4 5,447
Ms. Chiu Siu Fung, Noletta Nt — 1212 2,838 4 4,092
Mr. Cheung Wai Kit AR GEIE L — 787 1,960 9 2,756
Mr. Ma Ching Fung BIEgEE — 561 1,325 9 1,895
Non-executive director: FufrES:
Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP PES SN
(KF- 4 1) - — _ _ _
— 4,595 9,493 102 14,190
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A B RR

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 9. EERHBETHRAENH
REMUNERATION (consinued) B )
b)) BITEERIHTESw

(b) Executive directors and a non-executive

director (Continued)

Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia, Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta,
Mr. Cheung Wai Kit and Mr. Ma Ching Fung were
appointed as executive directors of the Company on 29
October 2018. Ms. Chiu Siu Yin, Lovinia was appointed
as the chief executive officer on 12 November 2018. Mr.
Cheung Wai Kit resigned as an executive director of the
Company on 30 November 2019.

Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP was appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company on 29 October 2018. During the
year, Ms. Wong Hang Yee, JP received consultancy fee
of HK$50,000 (2019: HK$1,280,000) from the Group for
provision of advisory services. Ms. Wong has entered into
a service contract with the Company for a term of three
years commencing from 29 April 2019.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year
(2019: Nil).

During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group
to the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2019:
Nil).

MM+ R Lt R
e 9 A T B8 O 8% 5 A it 2018
F10H 29 H 2 Z AT 25 A 48 7 9 3L
1THES o /DL LR 20184F 11
H12H AT AT ER - 5R12
158 45 2E TR 2019 4F11 30 H & {F 4
NEBMATES -

#SER & CORF & 4) k2018
10 H29H H# BAT B AR N F Y I
HATESR - RFERN > FHEHRL L
(R #h +) Bt H 4= 4619 5%
JIR B B A< 45 18] i R 22 50,000
# 7T (20194F : 1,280,000 JT) °
B LB EARNAFT L RE A
# > AT B H20194E4 H29H # 5t
B =4E o

RN NI 4 S I B IR R
AT AT 35 P A9 22 Bk (20194F © &)

RN AN 4 N B ) #E S A
AT AT 37 P > AE 2 R 51 A AR
B 5 A A 4R H] Iy 2 4% ) 51 1F
5y Bl T A A (20194F &) o
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R B IRARMIEE

31 March 2020
202043H31H

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

10. EEBESHMES

The five highest paid employees of the Group included 4 (2019:
4) directors, among which, Mr. Cheung Wai Kit and Mr. Ma
Ching Fung were appointed on 29 October 2018. Details of
the remuneration of the five highest paid employees who are
directors (including the remuneration of Mr. Cheung Wai Kit
and Mr. Ma Ching Fung before their appointment as executive
directors of the Company on 29 October 2018 for the year
ended 31 March 2019) are set out in note 9 above. Details of
the remuneration of the remaining five highest paid employees
who are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company
(including the remuneration of Mr. Cheung Wai Kit and Mr. Ma
Ching Fung prior to their appointment as executive directors of
the Company on 29 October 2018 for the year ended 31 March
2019) are as follows:

7 A R4 B HT R B BRSP4
#H (20194 - U &) » HdaR Ak
HE R B IE 8 5 AR iR 2018410 H 29 H 4
TAT o B E RN A K 5 MR
B 3R (L35 # £ 20194F3H31H
1k A B R AR A O A K I OE 8 O A i
20184F10 H29 H 48 Z (T 3 A A R L 47
[0 ) R B SO EES o AR
NAEIBEEEFEIREFETEANBNEG
™ 4 e T AR B T B R (B
FE#EE 201943 A31 H 1E4F B R AR5
A R B IE 8 5 AR iR 2018410 H 29 H 4
TAT By AN w AT 25 35 2 A0 19 35 )
mr:

2020 2019

20204 20194F

HK$°000 HK$’000

FHT Tl

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind B4 EHN KE Y AE A 1,495 2,957

Discretionary bonuses I¥) 1% 1€ 4L 900 2,220
Pension scheme contributions FER NG I RE I

(defined contribution schemes) (5t itz st #1) 18 40

2,413 5,217
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AR B R AR R RE

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. EEESHEMES «
(Continued)
The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest S T A AT A Y R PR
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following TBUN BB fe e B R B N80 -

bands is as follows:

Number of employee

EEAH
2020 2019
20205 20194F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 % %1,000,000% 75 — 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001%5 7T %21,500,000 % G — 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001#5 7T %.2,500,000 % 7C 1 —
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 #5 7T 43,500,000 % G — 1
1 3
11. INCOME TAX 11. FREH
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% RS B E R AR F A AR
(2019: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising Al 5 E &R Bl R A 1916.5% (20194F :
in Hong Kong during the year, except for one subsidiary of 16.5%) &t #2& 485 #5 - M A< &2 B — [H] BT
the Group which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered &~ E RSN > Mg AR A A B
profits tax rates regime effective from the year of assessment 2019/2020 7 B 4F 2 HE A= 2% 14 79 2% 1 )
2019/2020. The first HK$2,000,000 (2019: HK$2,000,000) (EEES AN S AT PAl T
of assessable profits of this subsidiary is taxed at 8.25% and Bl & A 9 72,000,000% 7T (20194F -
the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%. Taxes on 2,000,000#5 JT) #8.25% B % #k Bi -
profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of M 85 T 8 R Btk B #516.5% i Bl o H
tax prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in which the Group b i % Y R R B R A R A 4 ARG
operates. BT A B 5 R A RE R BLAT LR
A E B -
2020 2019
20205 20194F
HK$°000 HK$°000
TER Tt
Current — Hong Kong BUHE — s
Charge for the year AE N X 1,289 12,229
Overprovision in prior years o8 A B R R A A (1,578) —
Current — Elsewhere R — A 3 (5
Charge for the year AE N X 172 822
Underprovision in prior years o AR B AN 2 81 —
Deferred (note 26) I SiE (B 5526) (881) (375)
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year FERBLIE ()
X 917) 12,676
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31 March 2020
202043H31H

11. FT BB

11. INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation between profit before tax multiplied by the
applicable tax rate to the tax charge at the Group’s effective tax
rate is as follows:

DA 2% B 0 A 46 A1) 3R L7 A B R B
$e A% S T B PR B R S A B A 32
H A B

2020 2019
20205 20194F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T 7T
Profit before tax B BRI fhi A 35,034 118,259
Tax at the domestic rates applicable to 290 1 A 4 [ RS BT TE I K
profits in the countries/jurisdictions /R RE 8 36 A 2 A R
where the Group operates REr AR BLIH 5,668 19,284
Income not subject to tax T 78 080 B e A (666) (I11)
Tax credit for PRC withholding tax w3 TR 0B Y Bl TE K (7,965) (13,012)
Expenses not deductible for tax AN AT ALY B 52 3,649 6,238
Adjustments in respect of current tax of L 4 1 3 [ B A A T B 1
previous periods ki (1,497) —
Tax losses utilised from previous periods  #& f ] [#] © &) A i Bl 1H 5 18 95) (806)
Tax losses not recognised o e BRI B TH e 4R — 1,020
Others H A (11) 63
Tax charge/(credit) at the Group’s effective % 7% 4 B B B Bl K 5 B 1)
tax rate BLIH S (%) 917) 12,676

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unrecognised
tax losses of HK$14,225,000 (2019: HK$15,307,000), subject to
the agreement by the relevant tax authorities, that are available
for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies
in which the losses arose. Out of which, an aggregate of
HK$2,586,000 (2019: HK$2,812,000) is available indefinitely
and the remaining unrecognised tax losses will expire in
around one year to ten years. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these losses as they have mainly arisen
in entities that have been loss-making, and in the opinion of the
directors, it is currently not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can be
utilised.
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A R AR o A S B K ERR B
JH B 18 £514,225,0004 IC (20194F -
15,307,000%5 Jt) > £ AH B A 55 1% A
L BR N 0 3% % B B 1R TR R
WHEAZERBEBERZ AR Z £
AR E R B A o A 362,586,000
JC (20194F : 2,812,000% JT) 4 Jiz i A
R > R N oK 58 B0 TH 4R i 40—
EETEEN - IR EZEERFEERE
AEBEEENERE > HEFRRLHE
Al AS B e A mT Bh B JE kG 48 2 ME AR
Bl s A > BRI R wE 5% 5 s 1 e R
i SE Bl JH & R o
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AR B R AR R RE

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

12. DIVIDENDS 12. B E
The dividends declared by the Company are as follows: AAFEIRMG BT

2020 2019
20205 20194F

HK$°000 HK$’000
TET T T

Dividends declared and recognised as e 5 1A 1) E IR KB R 2 4 IR
distribution during the Reporting Period:  HJ B¢ & :
Interim dividend — HK 0.24 cents (2019: " #i it B — 5 % 78 ik

Nil) per ordinary share 0.24#5 Al (20194F : &) 4,800 —
Final dividend for the previous year — WAFEERAKE —
HK 1.3 cents (2019: Nil) per ordinary B T 3 4 i
share 1.3%6 Al (20194F = &) 25,896 —
30,696 _

During the year ended 31 March 2019 and prior to the Listing, )3%!@@2019@3)% 31H IR4E 1 Kt BT
certain subsidiaries of the Company declared dividends to B > AN E Y T B N = ) R Y
the then controlling shareholder in an aggregate amount 2 A% % B R A4 5172,500,000% 7T 1
of HK$72,500,000. These dividends were recognised as BB o LR BN ZEEMRR A
distributions of the Group during that year. L EZ IR o

2020 2019
20204 20194

HK$’000 HK$°000
FET T 7

Dividend proposed after the end of the A5 IRAR R E IR A -
Reporting Period:

Proposed final dividend ok B IR IR B B
— HK 0.21 cents (2019: HK 1.3 cents) — T B 8 0. 219 il
per ordinary share (20194F : 1.3l 4,183 25,896
The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2020 AR E IR A 2202043 H31 H L4 B
is subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the 1 7R BA B 828 R AR A A B B HE
forthcoming annual general meeting. J A AR g AL v o
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31 March 2020
202043H31H

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. AR R RELEESRER

ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS
OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based
on the profit attributable to shareholders of the Company of
HK$35,951,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020 and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,923,967,213 in
issue during the year.

The calculation of the basic earnings per share for the year
ended 31 March 2019 was based on the profit attributable
to shareholders of the Company of HK$105,579,000 and the
weighted average number of our Company’s ordinary shares
of 1,494,000,000 in issue and issuable, comprising one share
outstanding on 31 March 2019 and the capitalisation issue of
1,493,999,999 shares on 21 May 2019 as further detailed in note
27, as if the respective shares were outstanding throughout the
year ended 31 March 2019.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share
presented for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 as
the Group has no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue
during those periods.
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B i L A J R 4 E T R R AR 222020
AE3H 31 H Lk AF BE Y AR 2 7] B SR Ak s
#135,951,000 %k 7T £ 4F (& E % 47 % 8
JB i HE S 2 $51,923,967,213 8 5H & o

B ZE20194E3H31H 1k 4F B 1Y 45 ik 4
A B ] T B A AR N A B HRORE A s
105,579,000 7T £ 48 /3w B 25 47 S n]
BEAT 8 N A 75 #11,494,000,000
M o AN EIE B AT KT B AT
B A0, 45 20194F3 H 31 H #1778 1 — B
WA B B sk 27 s i 201945 H21 H &
AL % 47 F91,493,999,999 % f 4y > Ak
0% 55 By A AR 2 20194E3 H 31 H 1%
i 4F BB AT -

R # 2 20204F &% 20194F3 H 31 H (R4
FE AL B 4 B VE A B B E
BEAT W A o WO 4 B R BT 2 B Y
5% 55 T M 0 B R SR AR B A o
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

N

BA RS IR AR AL

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

4. X BERRE

Furniture,
Right-of-use Leasehold fixtures and Computer
assets Buildings  improvements equipment equipment  Motor vehicles Total
B %E
EREgE B  HEEB RRE EERE hE g
HKS 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
Tk Tk Tk Tk T T Tk
31 March 2020 220%38318
At 1 April 2019 (restated): 120194 1R
(BES) :
Cost %S 808 10842 937 646 2403 1960 17,616
Accumulated depreciation ZitE - 4,163) (896) (558) (1,835) (1960) (9412)
Net carrying amount T i A 808 6,679 61 8 568 - 8,204
At 31 March 2019, net of accumulated ~ FR20194F3H31H »
depreciation Mk 23 E - 6,679 6l 88 568 - 7,39
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 RANE R s
(note 2.20) bl il
(7220 808 - - - - - 808
At 1 April 2019 (restated) 20195 4R 1R (B EF) 808 6,679 6l 88 568 - 8,204
Additions RE 5,935 - 166 I} %0 - 6,393
Depreciation for the year ERiE (2301) (186) (15) (52) (1) - (3,26)
Exchange realignment B - (396) 1 V] 1)] - (398)
At 31 March 2020, net of accumulated ~ 120203A31H »
depreciation MR EiTE 44 5497 153 76 505 - 10473
At 31 March 2020: 0205331 :
Cost A 6,143 10,155 1,097 76 2610 1397 2,678
Accumulated depreciation ZitihE (2301) (4,658) (944) (600) (2,105) (1397) (12,203)
Net carrying amount i i A 4,42 5497 153 76 505 - 10473

202068 BAEMARAT 157 -



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

R B IRARMIEE

31 March 2020
202043H31H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 4. ¥ BERKEw

(Continued)
Furniture,
Leasehold ~ fixtures and Computer Motor
Buildings improvements  equipment  equipment vehicles Total
B %8
BF  HERE k&t ERRE RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i il Tl Tl Tl Tl
31 March 2019 2019%3831A8
At 1 April 2018: 20185 4H1R :
Cost A 11,335 884 561 1,638 1,960 16,378
Accumulated depreciation 23 E (3.497) (833) (449) (1,251) (1,960) (7.990)
Net carrying amount MR 7838 51 112 387 — 8,388
At 1 April 2018, net of accumulated 201844 H1H »
depreciation Mk 25t e 7838 51 112 387 — 8,388
Additions hE = 9 5 460 = 604
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 20) it — I Y /& A
(it 329) = = = 59 = 59
Depreciation for the year FRie (816) (80) (74) (334) = (1,304)
Exchange realignment W 3 (343) ) ) ) = (351)
At31 March 2019, net of accumulated ~ FR201943/31H -
depreciation il i 6,679 61 88 568 — 7,396
At 31 March 2019: 2019431310 :
Cost A 10,842 957 046 2403 1,960 16,308
Accumulated depreciation ZatiE (4,163) (896) (558) (1,835) (1,960) (9412)
Net carrying amount BRI (E 6,679 61 88 568 — 7,396
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15. GOODWILL

AR B R AR R RE

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

15. &

HK$’000
T T

At 1 April 2018
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 29)

201844 H1H
WA e o e 2 ) (B 529) 29,709

At 31 March 2019, 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020 2201943 H31H ~ 20194F411H &

202043 H31H

29,709

Impairment testing of goodwill
Goodwill acquired through business combination is allocated to
the brand licensing cash-generating unit.

The recoverable amount of the brand licensing cash-generating
unit has been determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering
a five-year period approved by senior management. The
discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 15.0%
(2019: 16.5%). The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash
flows of the brand licensing unit beyond the five-year period is
2.5% (2019: 3.0%), which is the same as the long term average
growth rate of the brand licensing market.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the
brand licensing cash-generating unit. The following describes
each key assumption on which management has based its cash
flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average
gross margins achieved in the year immediately before the
budget year, increased for expected efficiency improvements,
and expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the brand licensing unit.

In the opinion of the Directors, any reasonably possible changes
in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount is
based would not cause the brand licensing cash-generating
unit’s carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

R E R B
3 T 4 B R 19 7R 4 L S
HE B 4 A LA o

TR L el S VAL I g
BORBMHERAEENEEE - &8
HORBEEREHERMERS L
AF TR 0 B L T R AR R B B T = T
AT = N N == = R O
B R £515.0% (20194F : 16.5%) = A it
TE ) A U (8] 4% 5 R4 R R 1 B
4 U T A 0 88 S 2R 752.5% (2019
A1 3.0%) » B R AE T R R T
¥R R AME -

AEERFEMERERSSELR
37 1A o8 £ (L Wy 258 PRI BB = DA T 57
B RE DB R TE B AT o R
(L 0 5 B ) 2% ) S R i

HAEBME — ALUEEHBBM X
5 Py 2 YA 0 R 3 T OR 4R R R — 4F
P 2 R 72 B M R R AR R
18 T e ¥ w8 B % 0

R BLA — B B R T BR BLAT - 3
F W B it R 45 M R A B Y A R L

Igﬁu:o

DS o T AT e A R
A 194 AT A B AT RE S B I OR & 2
R A B 4 7 AR R Y R T (L B A
AT i e A
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R B IRARMIEE

31 March 2020
202043H31H

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16. BEEE

Media content

commercial Computer  Brand licensing
Elisghtsﬁ(not‘e) software
KEAR
) ERaH
HK$'009 HK$’0@
T T
31 March 2020 2020%3A31H
Cost at 1 April 2019, net of accumulated  F20194F4A1H B (A -
amortisation and impairment TR R R 5,669 115 5,765 11,549
Additions i 14,306 — — 14,306
Amortisation during the year FR ﬁ& i (8,308) (54) (5,339) (13,701)
Impairment during the year* ER ‘({ﬁﬁ* (349) — — (349
Exchange realignment BE 51, o 26 - - 2
At 31 March 2020 20204£3A 31 H 11,344 61 426 11,831
At 31 March 2020 1A 202043431
Cost S N 35,868 268 8,037 44,173
Accumulated amortisation and LEig 308
impairment (24,524) (207) (7,611) (32,342)
Net carrying amount e 11,344 61 426 11,831
31 March 2019 2019534318
Cost at 1 April 2018, net of accumulated ~ J22018%F41H )
amortisation A AR 2t 4 10,072 169 — 10,241
Additions NE N 6,561 — — 6,561
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 29) Wi P — IO 2 D (B 5E29) — — 8,037 8,037
Amortisation during the year ERS (10,936) (54) 2272) (13,262)
Exchange realignment [ 537 % (28) = = (28)
At 31 March 2019 2019%3H31H 5,669 115 5,765 11,549
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2020 120194F3H31H % 20204E4 A 1H
Cost % . 21,829 268 8,037 30,134
Accumulated amortisation and EEE 3 )E
impairment (16,160) (153) 2,272) (18,585)
Net carrying amount M 7 5,669 115 5,765 11,549
Note: The Group has invested in certain media content production projects et - AEECRE S THRBAKEREERE -
of which the Group is entitled certain distribution rights and/or other Ta A A AL T A REAR BB 45 1 b B E 1
commercial rights (including copy rights) of related media contents A% HE A5 A R IO T 7% 9 o T B AT RE
and/or share of profit in accordance with the terms stipulated in the Je ok o Ath 7 3 HE A (62 455 AR ) A R
respective agreements. The Group intends to exploit the distribution B REAG A o AR B AR Y B uE
rights or other commercial rights through its own distribution channels AT YR FE T FF 7 A B NURE SR BH S AT
rather than through sales of the rights. HE TR H A 7 ZEHEA o
& During the year ended 31 March 2020, an impairment loss of A 20204F3 A31H IF4F B2 > ik 1
HK$349,000 (2019: Nil) was recognised in respect of the media content T 7% 7 3 HE ) 1 T ke ] <5 AR I D > il
commercial rights of an animation series due to the decrease in the R I I HE A 25 P 2 RE R R R
recoverable amount of the media content commercial rights. As at 31 {8 M5 15349,000% JC (20194F :+ &) o &
March 2020, the recoverable amount of the media content commercial 202043 H31H > 18 K 25 7 25 4 A Y
rights was determined based on a value in use calculation using cash A ] < R A R A B I 0 1 BL
flow projections approved by management. 4 i B T A R E(E RS R E o
The impairment of HK$349,000 was recognised in the consolidated I (H 349,000 35 JC 7 &% A 18 £ 2% e 520
statement of profit or loss and included in the “Media Content AT N A 2171403 -

Distribution” segment.
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INVESTMENTS IN MEDIA CONTENTS

Movements in investments in media contents during the year
are as follows:

17.

AR B R AR R RE

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

REKBRA
4 (LI R 2 5 0

2020 2019

2020F 20194F

HK$’000 HK$°000

TER Tt

At the beginning of the year g )| — =
Additions Hom 25,083 —
At the end of the year AR 25,083 —

The Group has invested in certain media content production
projects of which the Group is guaranteed by the respective
media content producers for a fixed rate of return or minimum
amount of return after the release of the media contents
within the specified periods. In addition, the Group is also
entitled to certain distribution rights of related media contents
as stipulated in the respective agreements. As at 31 March
2020, all of these media content production projects were in
production stage.

The Group’s investments in media content production projects
are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss as their contractual cash flows are not solely payments of
principal and interest.

AEFHERES THEANEREE
H > S45AREHELEENANIER
PR 3% AT A TE KL E I TR N 8 AT B R
Z5 A% PE AT 1 22 [ 1t 2R i S5 I 1| e A o
B AN o A 4R E IR A REAR B5 45 W R
R E 15 AH B B N A 0 A T AT
HE o 8202043 H31H » A sz S5 R
N RAEIHHE 2 R R AP B -

ALEEBEBATREEANEE
B U 3% 28 F {5 75 8 18 45 51 R 1Y
ERERE > TTHRZEREEENS
# B BN R MURE B S A e R
AR -

LICENSED ASSETS 18. REEE
2020 2019
20204 20194F
HK$000 HK$°000
FERT ARCP
Licensed rights = 135,745 139,407
Prepayments for licensed rights P HE FE AL FOH 12,685 3,416
148,430 142,823

Licensed assets represent payments to licensors in connection
with cost to obtain media content distribution rights and brand
licensing rights over a definitive licensing period. These
licensed assets are held to generate revenue in the ordinary
course of the Group’s businesses.

A S i 1) 3 HE 7 AR T A
52 HE 0 TR BT B O A B AT R L
RELARHE B IH o A R I % R
REE A DAY B 6B T AR U AR o
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R B IRARMIEE

31 March 2020
202043H31H

19. EZ WA

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES

2020 2019
20204 20194F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#& T T ¥ 0

Trade receivables & 5 e Wi 2R IA

Billed receivables £ B 2 e i R IE 142,064 109,180
Unbilled receivables 7 B 2 JRE Wi R IR 18,367 13,181
160,431 122,361

Less: Allowance for impairment Tk R ME A (10,841) (11,316)
149,590 111,045

AR [ B RS 2 T B0 5 R DL R
HAE  MERARBRTRENS
B R AR 3 — i 2y i 2 I O AT R
YA A M 1) % 5 B 2 A R A
TN Y 45 R BR 12 2 o R B —
<R B 5 4 8 BB AR 35 IR 4% 30 2
458 TAEH o wft i MR IR HE SE B 1 5
ASF R — B — WA R A

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit. For the Media Content Distribution Business,
the payment terms with customers are generally of two to
four payments with the first payment usually due upon the
submission of the letter of authorisation relating to the media
contents to the customer. The credit periods generally range
from 30 to 45 working days after the payment milestone as
specified in the underlying contracts. For the Brand Licensing

Business, the payment terms are generally of one to two
payments with the first payment usually due upon the execution
of the contracts. The credit period is generally 30 days after the
payment milestone as specified in the underlying contracts.
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AR B R AR R RE

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (coninuea) 19. E 5 B WK IE w0
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding A £ 8 7 5K B A 2 T R 5 IR B R i
receivables as overdue balances are reviewed regularly by IE > EARE P g W A
senior management. The Group does not hold any collateral or & B o A 4 I M B 5 M U R E
other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. G B A7 A A AT KA ot PR IO At A B
Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing. WG o H O EICGRIEARFHE -
An ageing analysis of the billed trade receivables as at the end RECEIAR - B EABFREZCH
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: 55 5 I R T A AR e 0 AT AR
2020 2019
2020F 20194F
HK$°000 HK$’000
TR T# T
Within 30 days 30H A 2,461 4,181
31 to 60 days 31260H 5,825 3,360
61 to 90 days 612 90H 1,395 19,864
91 to 180 days 912180H 74,576 25,599
181 to 360 days 1812360 H 31,237 37,238
Over 360 days H#H360H 26,570 18,938
142,064 109,180
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade W’ Sy M R E W E T AR s 1R B A
receivables are as follows: A 5 Bl 4R
2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTHERT T W TT
At beginning of year 7 AE W) 11,316 10,695
Impairment losses recognised (note 8) L T 58 ek (EL Js 18 (M 5E8) 2,398 2,366
Impairment losses reversed (note 8) L 485 [0 3 E s 18 (FfF 5E8) (1,366) (1,671)
Amount written off as uncollectible AS AT A ] fY L S R E (1,498) 62)
Exchange realignment [ifE 5, 5 9) (12)
At end of year AR 10,841 11,316
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R B IRARMIEE

31 March 2020
202043H31H

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 19. E 5 W FEIE

The Group has applied the simplified approach to recognising
allowance for ECLs prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected credit loss allowance for all
trade receivables. To measure the ECLs, the trade receivables
have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due. ECLs are estimated based on historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors and general economic conditions. During the
year, the expected loss rates for certain customers that are
credit-impaired are assessed specifically by management. For
other trade receivables aged more than one year past due but
not credit-impaired, management has not observed objective
evidence of financial difficulties of the debtors and has been
taking credit risk mitigating measures.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

A5 W RE 5 50 15 O A O B S i
o e S S5 0 5% HT W Y TH 1 15 B ks 1R e
e % e R R A 4 R )
e T TR A R oA TR R R s 18 48
fii - BEtEHMEEEER > ZH Bk
AOH AR B8 It A 8 A B R i
WH S A o TR B R R R
6 & HA B AL > AR E A
R AR B3R B — ik RS R LA R
B ERN A THEEBRERFOEN
s 48 R b B B RE 2 AR E AL - BIR
it 760 ) B AR — AR {H R R B Bl A
ftb 52 5y E Wi K E T B B I R
g Tkt § N PN
#E o S 2 BRI B T B R A A o

LTS 851 47 B A 5 £ P98 A
5357 555 M M 3 135 5 A B 1
R

Expected Gross
credit carrying
loss rate amount Impairment
=
FEBRER IREAE B
HK$°000 HK$°000
Tt Tt
As at 31 March 2020 2202043 A31H
Credit-impaired receivables {5 B 3 (H 1 Wi 3k 1A 100% 10,109 10,109
Other trade receivables aged: oAt B2 5 IR i T R %
Current and within one year B[R K 2 0 — 4 DAY
past due 0.3% 146,342 406
More than one year past due i 1 A — A 8.2% 3,980 326
160,431 10,841
As at 31 March 2019 J#£201943431H
Credit-impaired receivables {5 0 {E HE Wit 3E 100% 10,553 10,553
Other trade receivables aged: HoAth 2 5 IR i 3 T R %
Current and within one year R 1A K s 8 — 4E AN
past due 0.6% 111,620 717
More than one year past due s 1 A — A 24.5% 188 46
122,361 11,316
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AR B R AR R RE

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 20. FE{IFIE - &R HtEW

21.

RECEIVABLES MIE
2020 2019
20205 20194F
HK$°000 HK$’000
TF#& T T T
Prepayments TAAT B IH 3,014 9,315
Deposits 7 & 832 678
Other receivables H At 1 i 2K IE 442 111
4,288 10,104

Less: portion classified under non-current - AR R R A B B E o B
assets HR 4 (542) (129)

Portion classified under current assets R 45 L B A B R A 3,746 9,975

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to
deposits and receivables for which there was no recent history
of default and past due amounts. As at 31 March 2020 and 2019,
the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

A Ll &5 ik 19 4 il S B AT 1 A 4
IR A Bk K v ) EROIE 1 $E 4 R RE IR
THA R » 220204F % 201943 H31H >
T 48 45 A K8 Al BT = -

RERBEEEEY

2020 2019

20204 20194F

HK$’000 HK$°000

TET T T

Cash and bank balances B & MR AT & R 101,206 163,754
Time deposits & A K 196,841 —
Cash and cash equivalents He B E&EEY 298,047 163,754

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances
of the Group’s PRC operation denominated in Renminbi
(“RMB”) amounted to approximately HK$1,966,000 (2019:
HK$2,021,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for
varying periods between 1 month and 6 months depending
on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn
interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The
bank balances and short term time deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

REHEHER > AEFAUARETAR
WD) wHE A P B RS A R B & K
SRAT 45 8% 49 551,966,000 TC(20194F -
2,021,000%550) » A WA AT A H i e
£y FoAth B W > kAR B b B A b 4 B
B KR R 4 RE - B RE J A R 4 R
HE > AN 4 [ S R A R AT
HMIE T 2 AT A N R A 1
fihy £ ¥ o

SATBLEARAR 1 H 2 RATAE /A 4%
T B AR B IR S, o S WA B A
AR A 18 H 2ol H 2 A%
IR T A 4 [ 1) B IR B 4 5 oK 3l 4%
AR B S 0 A EROR SR BRI M S o RAT
f B SR WA S A B R A
#k HLA5 B R4 i 8RAT
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R B IRARMIEE

31 March 2020
202043H31H

22. ESENRRIE

22. TRADE PAYABLES

2020 2019
20204 20194F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#& T T ¥ 0

Trade payables B 5 ME AT IR
Unbilled R B & 77,739 88,730
Billed [ 56,204 36,849
133,943 125,579

An ageing analysis of the billed trade payables as at the end of
the Reporting Period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

R > EF AR Z B
SR 5 I A RROE MR B AT AT

2020 2019

2020 20194E

HK$’000 HK$°000

TR T

Within 1 month — 1@ AN 8,442 10,073
1 to 3 months — & =8 H 23,692 5,292
More than 3 months A = A 24,070 21,484
56,204 36,849

The trade payables are unsecured and non-interest-bearing. For
the minimum guarantee payments to the licensors, the payment
terms and the due dates are specified in the relevant contracts
and are usually settled by instalments at the early stage of the
relevant licensing periods. For royalty payable which exceed
the minimum guarantee, the amounts are due when the Group
submits the royalty reports to the licensors which is subsequent
to the collection of the corresponding trade receivables from the
licensees.

The unbilled trade payables relate to royalty amounts that
are payables to but not yet invoiced by licensors which are
calculated based on the royalty rates as stipulated in the
respective licensing contracts.
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AR B R AR R RE

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

23. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. Bt EAK EMtENFRIE
2020 2019
2020F 20194F
HK$°000 HK$’000
T T
Accruals e 512 H 17,919 31,114
Other payables Aty R A K IE 29,790 25,934
47,709 57,048
Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average A A FRIE 5 AN FHE B S =
term of three months. il A -
24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 24. EHEE
Contract liabilities include (i) advance payments received from HBRIBEEBERFERORAETFHA
customers for the Group to deliver the media content or render 45 18] 22 A5 1 8 A 2 AR I R R
brand licensing services; and (ii) unsatisfied performance AR5 B G 5 B (i) PR I] A A R 300 o
obligations resulting from fixed-price long-term brand sub- LT 2 HE G 4 28 B0 0 I B K
licensing contracts as at the end of the year. Contract liabilities B - BHAERAEEARBHAE G
are recognised as revenue upon the Group satisfies its M BT RER B -

performance obligations under the relevant contracts.

2020 2019

20204 20194F

HK$’000 HK$’000

TERT T

Media Content Distribution Business TR A BT TS 7,346 3,181
Brand Licensing Business il A% HE 6 5 19,380 26,892
26,726 30,073
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R B IRARMIEE

31 March 2020
202043H31H

24. EHEB W

24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

Movements in contract liabilities during the year are as follows:

R4 3 BRI T

2020 2019
20205 20194
HK$’000 HK$°000
TERT T# T
At the beginning of the year ™ AE W) 30,073 25,865
Additions B4 T 292,985 422,818
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 29) Wi e — 59 BAF B8 T

(Fff 5£29) — 38,793

Revenue recognised during the year NSRS (296,332) (457,403)
At the end of the year AR 26,726 30,073

The transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) are as follows:

4 % 68 JB 40 94T (R JBLAT 5 4>
K JBAT) 138 5 (K 20 F

pA1 1) 2019
20204 20194F
HK$°000 HK$°000
TR DT
Within one year — AN 22,816 22,818
After one year — 1R 3,910 7,255
26,726 30,073
Revenue recognised from: LR 2% T e R 0 Ui 4

Amounts included in contract liabilities FERFEAR K BB &R

at the beginning of the year 22,818 24,514
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25. LEASE LIABILITIES

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements
during the year are as follows:

AR B R AR R RE

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

25. HEEE

AF T L B AR R0 R T (E A% B ) DL
LU

2020
20205
Note HK$’000
Bt 5 T T
At the beginning of the year A W) 2.2(a) 808
New leases 7 A & 5,935
Accretion of interest recognised AN E ERR IR B B R
during the year 132
Payments I 3K (2,762)
At the end of the year AR 4,113
Analysed into: AT F
Current portion R 1A 38 43 2,999
Non-current portion FF B 1A & 45 1,114
4,113

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 35
to the financial statements.

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are

FH & AE M ) W1 B 2 Hr O B % i
R EE3S o

A7 B AR S 18 i oA R A S R AR

as follows:
2020
20205
HK$’000
T# T
Interest on lease liabilities B A & Fl S 132
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets HHAEEENITE S 2,501
Expense relating to short-term leases L 40 AL 5 A B B S 869
Total amount recognised in profit or loss A8 A 0 T B Y AR B BE 3,502

The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 30(c) to
the financial statements.

AR A B B U AR AR B B AR Y
£30(0) % # -
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R B IRARMIEE

31 March 2020
202043H31H

26. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 26. EXEFIEEE

Fair value
adjustment
arising from
acquisition of a

business
WEBEKEE
WATEBE
HK$°000
Tt
At 1 April 2018 r20184F4H1H —
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 29) Wi i — [ Y > ) (BfF 5E29) 1,326
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated statement of 4F N5 A %% & 15 %5 25 19 4€ 1€ B T8
profit or loss during the year (note 11) (Fft 5E11) (375)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R20194-3H31H K& 20194F4H1H 951
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated statement of 4F [N & A %% & 18 %5 7= 1Y 4E 1 B I8
profit or loss during the year (note 11) (Bf 5E11) (881)
At 31 March 2020 R20204E3H31H 70
27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. B
2020 2019
20204 20194F
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#& T T
Authorised: EE -
5,000,000,000 (2019: 38,000,000) ordinary  5,000,000,000/8 (20194 :
shares of HK$0.01 each 38,000,000 8 ) 4 % T8 E
0.01% 7T 1 3% 78 i 50,000 380
Issued and fully paid: CEIT MR
1,992,000,000 (2019: 1) ordinary shares of  1,992,000,000/8% (20194 :
HK$0.01 each 1/5%) 5 % T {50.01% T
1) - 4 i 19,920 —
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AR B R AR R RE

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

27. SHARE CAPITAL (coniinuea) 27. B )
A summary of movements in the Company’s authorised and AN FEE KB BATIRAR 2 B A
issued share capital is as follows: o
Number of Share
shares capital
IR % BB & 2%
HK$°000
T
Authorised: BE -
38,000,000 ordinary shares A20184F10 H29 H & it Bl 37
of HK$0.01 each upon F > #A20194F3 A31H K&
incorporation on 29 October 201944 A 1H 438,000,000
2018, at 31 March 2019 and 1 i 455 Bt T {ELO.O 195 T 14 3 7
April 2019 il (@) 38,000,000 380
Increase of 4,962,000,000 JA20194F4 112 H 14 /i
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 4,962,000,000 % & 1% 1 {E
each on 12 April 2019 0.01% 7T 1 % 78 i (b)  4,962,000,000 49,620
At 31 March 2020 R20204E3H31H 5,000,000,000 50,000
Issued and fully paid: ST AR
Issuance of 1 ordinary share of  JA20184F10929 H 3 i bt 37
HK$0.01 upon incorporation IFF > A 20194F3H31H &
on 29 October 2018, at 31 201944 A 1H 3§ 471 8% 1 (A
March 2019 and 1 April 2019 0.01%5 JT iy ¥ 48 i (a) 1 —
Capitalisation issue of R20194E5 H21 H & A AL 8% 17
1,493,999,999 ordinary shares 1,493,999,999 /i 45 % T {H
of HK$0.01 each on 21 May 0.01%5 Jo 1) 3% 48
2019 (©) 1,493,999,999 14,940
Issuance of 498,000,000 JR20194F5H21H ¥ 47
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 498,000,000 % 4 1 1 {H0.01
each on 21 May 2019 5 G 19 3 A (d) 498,000,000 4,980
At 31 March 2020 R202043H31H 1,992,000,000 19,920
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A B RR MR

31 March 2020
202043H31H

27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

(b)

©

(d)

On 29 October 2018, the Company was incorporated as an exempted
company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands with an authorised
share capital of HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000 ordinary shares
of HK$0.01 each. Upon incorporation, 1 ordinary share of HK$0.01 was
issued and allotted by the Company at par to its then shareholder.

Pursuant to the written resolution of the sole shareholder of the
Company passed on 12 April 2019, the authorised share capital of the
Company was increased from HK$380,000 divided into 38,000,000
shares of a par value of HK$0.01 each to HK$50,000,000 divided into
5,000,000,000 shares of a par value of HK$0.01 each, by the creation of
an additional 4,962,000,000 shares with a par value of HK$0.01 each.
The 4,962,000,000 new shares shall rank pari passu in all respects with
the existing issued shares of the Company.

Pursuant to the written resolution of the sole shareholder of the Company
passed on 12 April 2019 and the minutes of the committee of the Board
on 17 May 2019, 1,493,999,999 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were
allotted and issued, credited as fully paid at par, by way of capitalisation
from the share premium account to the holders of shares whose names
appeared on the register of members of the Company at the close of
business on 20 May 2019. This allotment and capitalisation issue were
conditional on the share premium account being credited as a result of
the issue of new shares to the public in connection with the Company’s
initial public offering as detailed in note (d) below.

In connection with the Company’s initial public offering, 498,000,000
ordinary shares of par value of HK$0.01 each were issued at a price
of HK$0.45 per share for a total cash consideration, before share issue
expenses, of HK$224.1 million. Dealing in the shares of the Company on
the Stock Exchange commenced on 21 May 2019.
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27. HQZI:(/@

(@)

(b)

©

()
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28.

29.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 98 of the financial
statements.

(a) Capital reserve
The capital reserve represents reserve arising from the
Reorganisation and capital contribution from Ms. Lovinia
Chiu and RLA Limited (“Controlling Shareholder”)
arising from the acquisition of Medialink Animation
International Limited (“MAIL”) (note 29).

Other reserve

Other reserve mainly represents the difference between
the acquisition of additional equity interest in a
subsidiary from the non-controlling shareholder and the
consideration paid.

(b)

(¢) Exchange fluctuation reserve
Exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign
currency exchange differences arising from the translation

of the financial statements of foreign operations.

BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 27 August 2018, the Controlling Shareholder entered
into a sale and purchase agreement with Ms. Chiu Siu Fung
Noletta, an executive director of the Company and a sister of
the Controlling Shareholder, to acquire a 50% equity interest
in MAIL for a cash consideration of HK$20,000,000 and
the transaction was completed on the same date (“MAIL
Acquisition”). The acquisition was made as part of the Group’s
strategy to expand the Group’s brand licensing business. MAIL
was jointly controlled by the Controlling Shareholder and Ms.
Chiu Siu Fung Noletta before the completion of the transaction.
Immediately after the acquisition, MAIL was controlled by the
Controlling Shareholder and became part of the Group pursuant
to the reorganisation of the Company in connection to the
Listing (the “Reorganisation”).

28.

29.

A B RR

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H
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31 March 2020
202043H31H

20, ¥ S Bt
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29. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of MAIL
as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
WEEEER
WA FE
Notes HK$’000
Bt 5 T T
Property, plant and equipment ERN V& ] 14 59
Intangible assets I T8 16 8,037
Licensed assets IZHEE 12,358
Trade receivables & 5 ME & 318 37,269
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables T ZKIH ~ i 4 K HAth FE e 3k 16 718
Due from related parties JRE Wiz B B O IR 5,456
Tax recoverable AL i [m] Ao TE 18
Cash and cash equivalents He kB &% E8Y 31,658
Trade payables B 5y FEAT 3K (27,630)
Accruals and other payables JRE =t 2 FH K A JE A 3R I (3,798)
Contract liabilities FRER 24 (38,793)
Due to related parties JRE At B % 7wk IE (13,735)
Deferred tax liabilities A0 S B TH B A 26 (1,326)
10,291
Goodwill on acquisition Wi B 7 A T A 15 29,709
40,000
Satisfied by: PLTF 51 05 S AT -
Cash paid by the Controlling Shareholder T2 TR T B S A 0 B 4 20,000
Fair value of the 50% equity interest in MAIL & B¢ B B 7E & 09 7 F6 &) 25 (1) B%)
contributed by the Controlling Shareholder 50% B HE 1 A P B 20,000
Deemed contribution from the Controlling P4 1 I IR R
Shareholder 40,000
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31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

29. BUSINESS COMBINATION (consinuea) 29. XK A OF

The fair values of the trade receivables and other receivables AW H ) B T i kI B G At
as at the date of acquisition amounted to HK$37,269,000 and W K IH 2 4 ~F {8 43 il £537,269,000 %
HK$84,000, respectively. The amount of the contractual cash JC M 84,0007 G o & &I & H iR Uk
flows at the acquisition date is expected to be collectible. W S0 1 <5 E 4% TELJB AT g [l ) RO o
The Group incurred transaction costs of HK$99,000 for this A £E [ f 5% A E R 28 5 499,000
acquisition. These transaction costs have been expensed and WBIT o % FERHMATIIMER L > I
are included in other expenses in the consolidated statement of FhA &5 A48 £ 3R 09 H A B 32 -

profit or loss.

As a result of this business combination, goodwill of IR ET A OHE > 29,709,000% IC
HK$29,709,000 was recorded in the Group’s consolidated BEGIAR LGS MBI E -
statement of financial position. The goodwill arising from 2 WA A AR Y TR M (R PR ) TR
the acquisition pertains, but is not limited, to the expected W8 a% 0 A A A h [ S HE o
synergies arising from the acquisition.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of a A TR s B — T R S A R ARG B 4 R
subsidiary is as follows: ST T

HK$’000
T T

Cash and bank balances acquired and inflow of — L5 8B 4& K MBAIT45 8 KFFA KA
cash and cash equivalents included in cash flows & EE B &7 B W H & K

from investing activities B4 S EW A 31,658
Transaction costs of the acquisition included in AR B R8T B B
cash outflows from operating activities W W 52 Ty A (99)
31,559
Since the acquisition, MAIL contributed HK$25,912,000 to the ARz L > B 2201943 H31H IE4E
Group’s revenue and HK$7,194,000 to the consolidated profit B AIsEE (B AARLEE G E
for the year ended 31 March 2019. ik 25,912,000 70 > W 2% %5 A i A B
ik 7,194,000 7C °
Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year i A BF i B 2201943 H31H Ik 4F B
ended 31 March 2019, the revenue and the consolidated profit of M AF W) HEAT AN 4B R AR R R K
the Group for that year would have been HK$493,374,000 and &5 Bt A K 2 Fl £5493,374,0005 7T M
HK$106,056,000, respectively. 106,056,000 7T ©
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202043H31H

30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 0. RERERERMET
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(@) Major non-cash transactions @ FEFHREXRH
(i) During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group (i) MRAE20204F3H31H IEESE

invested in certain media content production
projects. As at 31 March 2020, investment cost
of HK$1,746,000 and HK$6,265,000 which were
recognised as intangible assets and investments in
media contents, respectively, remained unsettled
with corresponding credit to trade payables.

(ii)) During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group (i1)
had non-cash additions of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities of HK$5,935,000 and HK$5,935,000
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for
office premises (2019: Nil).

7 4R G A T AR
RIMETEH o 8202043 H31
H > 5 Al e 58 5 S 2
&9 8 VNE YOk S -9
71,746,000% 7€ 26,265,000
s TR R &5 > I A E ET
AN G AT A -

A 202043 H31H IE4EFE >
AEBBHRBAYEMRE
ZHEME RS E 2 EB
SN ERHEAEN A
5,935,000 7T % 5,935,000 i
JG (20194 : &) -

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b BMMEITBHELENEEEH
activities
The table below details the cash flows and non-cash 3R FE G &G B A B AR R
changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing B B B e B R B s
activities. Except as disclosed below, there were no non- B o BR T SCPT#K BR # S T%ﬁ
cash changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from Pl IS B A A R AR R A
financing activities. FEEEH -
Amount
due to a Dividend Lease
shareholder payables liabilities
BA—A
IR R IR EARE HEAEE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
T 0T T# T T 7T
At 1 April 2018 @2018@4)% 1H 34,477 53,250 —
Changes from financing cash flows [l & B 4 i & 5 B) (34,475) (125,750) =
Dividends declared EE IR BB — 72,500 —
Foreign exchange movement A1 B 5 8 Q) — —
At 31 March 2019 #20194E3A31H — — —
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 B AN A S B
e JI| 2516 5% 1Y 5 2 — — 808
At 1 April 2019 (restated) 201944 H1H
O ES) — — 808
Changes from financing cash flows il fé B4 v 2 ) — (30,696) (2,762)
Dividends declared EEKKE — 30,696 —
New leases A — — 5,935
Interest expense FI 5 B 2 — — 132
At 31 March 2020 #20204E3H31H — — 4,113
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30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

31.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continuea)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the
statement of cash flows within operating activities and
financing activities were HK$869,000 and HK$2,762,000,
respectively during the year ended 31 March 2020.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group lease certain of its office premises, warehouses and
a car parking space under operating lease arrangements. Leases
for properties are negotiated for terms ranging from 6 months
to 26 months.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases falling due as follows:

AR B R AR R RE

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

0. ZFEHREREXRKME 0

31.

¢ HEREARHLAE
 £20204E3H31H IF 4 > Bl
S U B 7R P AR TG B K Rl I )
TR FH B B4 AR EE A R 2
869,000 7T 1 2,762,0005 JG °

KeETHERIE
AEBMBRELEHELHEMBET
WA - AR — RN - P
MRS I RER 1R E A A Fo A &
2610 A -

T S 5 SR > A B AR 4 S AT A
K FHLB R T 513 B E A0 oK R B
R EFE BT

2020 2019

20204 20194F

HK$°000 HK$°000

TET T T

Within one year — R 44 816
In the second to fifth years, inclusive R HAR

(L 45 & E W 4F) — 167

44 983
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31 March 2020
202043H31H

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

@

In addition to the transactions and balances detailed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had the
following material transactions with related parties during
the year:

Medialink Animation International ¥ 5 & 3 (15 %)
Limited*: BN E*
Management fee income CELE-dTPN
Commission income EAT PN

A related party*: oA W e
Consultancy fee i ) 2

RN.BHAIRS
@ %% BRI 5 R
G50 N > BN AE R AR 4R B
B AR E RS

®
(i1)

(iii)

2020
20204

2019
20194F
HK$’000
F 0

HK$°000
TERT

— 4,286

630 —

Notes:

@

(i1)

(ii)

MAIL was a related company of the Group which was jointly
controlled by the Controlling Shareholder and Ms. Chiu Siu
Fung, Noletta, an executive director of the Company and a sister
of the Controlling Shareholder. On 27 August 2018, MAIL
became a wholly- owned subsidiary of the Group as part of the
Reorganisation and its results were consolidated to the Group
thereafter.

A related party, is a close family member of a director of the
Company,

The management fee income was related to the corporate and
business support services rendered by the Group to the related
company and was charged on terms mutually agreed between the
relevant parties.

The commission income was related to the agency support
services rendered by the Group to the related company and was
charged on terms mutually agreed between the relevant parties.

The consultancy fee relates to provision on the consultancy
services with respect to the Group’s investment projects and
information system upgrade. The consultancy fee was charged on
terms mutually agreed between the relevant parties.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(@)

(b)

(Continued)

In addition, on 27 June 2018, the Group acquired a 15%
equity interest in Whateversmiles Limited from Ms.
Chiu Siu Fung, Noletta, thereby increasing its ownership
interest from 85% to 100%, for a cash consideration of
HKS$15. The consideration was determined with reference
to the nominal value of the issued share capital of
Whateversmiles Limited.

Whateversmiles Limited is an investment holding
company which owns a 100% equity interest in
Whateversmiles #k = & #1., a company established in
Japan primarily involved in the investments in media
content production. The carrying amount of the non-
controlling interests in Whateversmiles Limited at the
date of acquisition was a debit balance of HK$85,000. The
Group recognised a credit to the non-controlling interests
of HK$85,000 and a debit to equity attributable to owner
of the parent of HK$85,000.

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including directors’ remuneration as disclosed in
note 9 to the financial statements, is as follows:

AR B R AR R RE

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

RN.BHEERZw

(@)

(b)

(#])

AN > R20184E6 H27H » A< 4E H
Bt /N R e - U i Whateversmiles
Limited 2 15% HE £ » A% H ¢
H HE HH85% 8 2£100% > Bl 4 AL
s ot RETTR2 %
Whateversmiles Limited £ %5 17 i
ENGONTTE(E: i

Whateversmiles Limited 4 — [ %
BT > HEA Whateversmiles
L7 3= vl i Sl Gl 119 & I N VA 1)
AF FERFEBEEBAE
RAE) 2 HE 45 o AR
Whateversmiles Limited [ 3F % i
HE 4 119 R T A 2% 1 75 4% 85,000
W0 o A 2 B e R I HE SRR 45 A
H85,000% 7T K& B/ F HE A A\ JE
s HE 2 11 H 85,0005 IC

A G A BN B
AEEEEER NN S (R

375 JF 755 i 3 B Gk 9 i 5% 1) 1 = Ml
&)W

2020 2019

2020F 20194

HK$°000 HK$°000

FHERT T TT

Short term employee benefits A 18 B A A 19,663 22,826

Post-employment benefits i HEE 1% A 170 174
Total compensation paid to key mEEEHANE AT

management personnel P 4 44 %8 19,833 23,000
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31 March 2020
202043H31H

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY B.IREHNE ST A

CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

T R > A% & il TR R R
T {EL 40T

Financial assets

TRMEE

Financial
assets at Financial
fair value assets at
through amortised
profit or loss cost
BERSIERHN  BHARSIERE
HK$’000 HK$°000
TH# T T 70
As at 31 March 2020 #20204£3H31H
Trade receivables B 5 e Ui R IH — 149,590 149,590
Financial assets included in FIATEAT RIE ~ A&
prepayments, deposits and other B L At JBE st 1Y
receivables & ﬁ 5 — 1,274 1,274
Investments in media contents & N 25 25,083 — 25,083
Cash and cash equivalents e kBl &% EY — 298,047 298,047
25,083 448,911 473,994
As at 31 March 2019 R20194-3H31H
Trade receivables B 5 e K IH = 111,045 111,045
Financial assets included in FEATEATRIE - A
prepayments, deposits and other T A JE Wi 3K I 1Y)
receivables & g E — 789 789
Cash and cash equivalents Ba kB &EEY - 163,754 163,754
— 275,588 275,588
Financial liabilities ctEas

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

RBHERAVENSRARS

2020 2019

20205 20194F

HK$°000 HK$°000

THE T T o

Lease liabilities HEAR 4,113 —

Trade payables B 5 e A 3 H 133,943 125,579
Financial liabilities included in accruals A RE ST A K H At FE AT 3K

and other payables H 1) 4 il B 12,884 15,134

150,940 140,713
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34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, trade payables
and financial liabilities included in accruals and other payables
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short
term maturities of these instruments or the effect of discounting
is not material.

As at 31 March 2020, the investments in media contents, in
which the underlying media contents were in the production
stage, their fair values were estimated with reference to their
respective production budget and profit sharing projection. The
fair values for investments in media contents were approximate
to its carrying amounts and were measured using significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3).

The movement in fair value measurements within Level 3
during the year are as follows:

AR B R AR R RE

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

M. 2MIANAFERDF

15 4% 5l

LG O R AL - i A B TR A A
P E BB A E R B
& RBEEEY - B BIGOR > Gt
N T BOE ~ i S R H At 1 Ui koA
MY B > B o M A BRI DA K EEA
JE Tt R At B A RO RO < B
R S (6 B HC R T {E K B A

A20204F3 H31H » % & i 4 4 25 (R
A R 10 8 O 25 B A SRR B B B T
{8 )52 B4 B 0 RE 8 55 K s A 4
TBEATALE - WEHBAEN L
V- {H B H R T EAH 2 > 36 E R
AN R A B (R =) R E -

A P 24 T R85 = A 0 5 B
IR

HK$°000
T

At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 and

JA20184F4H1H ~ 201943 H31H K

1 April 2019 20194F4H1H —
Additions byl 25,083
At 31 March 2020 202043 H31H 25,083

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31 March 2020 and 2019.

During the year, there were no transfer of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2019: Nil).

7 2 [ A 2020 4F 1 20194E3 H 31 H i 4
AT ] #8228 F-{H 51 & 0 & @A o

AT PR Sl 08 A 5 — % BEL A — % R B A
V{8 wF B H M g E e A
A 5 = 2R B A 5B = S (2019
) o

202058 BEEEARAT 181 -



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e TSR R MR

31 March 2020
202043H31H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT I.erEMREEREERBE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments include cash and
cash equivalents and an amount due to a shareholder. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to finance the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which
arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures mainly arise from sales or purchases by operating
units in currencies other than the unit’s functional currencies.
The majority of the Group’s foreign currency purchase
transactions are denominated in US$. On the other hand, the
sales and disbursements are mainly denominated in US$, RMB,
HKS$ and JPY. As HKS$ is pegged to USS$, the directors of the
Company anticipate that there will be no significant movements
in the US$/HKS$ exchange rates and the exposure on US$ will
not be material.

The Group’s risk management principle with regard to its
foreign currency denominated monetary assets, liabilities,
commitments, and cash flows is to match as far as possible
the values of such assets and cash flows against similarly
denominated liabilities and cash flows. Decisions on either
holding net short or long positions in foreign currency
denominated monetary assets or liabilities are taken on a case-
by-case basis and by taking into consideration the amount and
duration of the exposure, market volatility, economic trends and
requirements of the business.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in RMB
and JPY exchange rates, with all other variables held constant,
of the Group’s profit before tax.

31 March 2020 20205 3A31H

If HK$ weakens against RMB i 75 oG S N R B2 (E
If HKS strengthens against RMB i 8 o0 50 N R THE
If HK$ weakens against JPY i ¥ G 56, H [E] B2 {8

If HK$ strengthens against JPY i 7 T 5 H B FHE

31 March 2019 20195 3A31R

If HK$ weakens against RMB R ESSTWN L  S
If HK$ strengthens against RMB i % o0 50 N R THE
If HKS$ weakens against JPY i ¥ 7T 56, H [E] B2 (8

If HK$ strengthens against JPY i 7 T 5% H B FHE

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not
significant.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties, there is no requirement for collateral.
Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer/
counterparty. At the end of the reporting period, the Group
had certain concentrations of credit risk as 20% (2019: 19%)
and 60% (2019: 64%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due
from the Group’s largest debtor and the five largest debtors,
respectively.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note
19 to the financial statements.

AR B R AR R RE

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

. cEEREEEERBE

(#)

S 85 L B o)
TRERREREHR > BEHTE
At 53 WOHE R AN B AS B Y BR BL
i ) 25 A IR e BB 3¢ T 5 2
5 ) 1Y) IR o

Increase/
(decrease) in
Change in  profit before
exchange rate tax
B B Al 3% F
Exgg ®=m  CHP)
HK$°000
T#H T
5% 407
5% 407)
5% 598
5% (598)
5% 791
5% (791)
5% 528
5% (528)

=& = B

A 4 W) B R T KA R B AR =
TTINER Gy o MEALEBBOK > B
A BEIAR B R R 5 I F AR
RHEBERT - Wb > BB RIA 6
R B AR R A 4R UK 32
1 398 B Ja B RS E K e

H A A 45 [ 8 B A R T ROR fE AR Y
B =Nt S o i 8 2R K
e B EERBREES/ X5 E
Hoo R EBIR > ARALEBEYE Y E
g FIEHF A 20% (20194F : 19%) X 60%
(2019%F : 64%) 7 7l 7 JE Wi 7 48 ]
KAE BN e R AE B N FKIH > A
AL TEPEERER -

A7 T A 45 ) B R B W RO E AR I R

B JE B 1 3 — 25 AL BB R S
F M EE19 B 7R -
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R B IRARMIEE

31 March 2020
202043H31H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT I.erEMREEREERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (coninued) ()

Credit risk EE R
Maximum exposure and year-end staging REREERFELRER

R I A AR R A R 4y
ZIRHEE R R G S E bR e o £ "
AR O 0 R E (R I A ZE A
R 2 B A Bl A B AT BT
fib BERE) > DA B A3 H31H Z 4F A B Bt
R WIBE S TMEEZ BIK

The tables below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 March. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

TH{E -
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
128 B H
FEBR PHEHEERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  Approach Total
F-KH F-BR =K Etri )
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$°000
THT THT TikT TiBT TBT
As at 31 March 2020 R202053831H
Trade receivables 5 e 3R — — — 160,431 160,431
Financial assets included in FEATEAN HOH - HE R
prepayments, deposits and other A JE i SR I
receivables BHEE 1,274 — — — 1,274
Cash and cash equivalents BaRkBe%ED 298,047 - - — 298,047
299,321 — — 160,431 459,752
As at 31 March 2019 A2019%F3H31H
Trade receivables B 5 e i 7R0H — — — 122,361 122,361
Financial assets included in FEABEAT IR ~ A R
prepayments, deposits and other HoAl Wi SR
receivables SMEE 789 — — — 789
Cash and cash equivalents e RkBE%EEY 163,754 — — — 163,754
164,543 — — 122,361 286,904

- 184 MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED 2020 Annual Report



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to ensure there are adequate funds to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer terms by

considering the maturity of its financial assets and liabilities
and projected cash flows.

The following tables show the maturity profile of the Group’s
financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based
on the contractual undiscounted payments.

AR B R AR R RE

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

. crEMREEREERBE
(#)
FEBESRAR
7 45 [ 9 6 A L 4 T 7
A B 0 E DL TE B 4
e {5 70 JE 4 B 0 0 % R 0
b T

TRBURRIE S ORI B A > &
4 RS i S 0D OR B 2 A R A B
DL -

More than
1 year but In the
Less than less than second to
On demand 1 year 2years fifth years Total
BE-F E=-F%
REX SR-F EIRWMF £RE @t
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T T T Tt T T TH# T
31 March 2020 2020534318
Lease liabilities HEAR — 3,108 808 342 4,258
Trade payables B 5 I A+ 3R — 133,943 — — 133,943
Financial liabilities included in 7 AMERH 22 I B H At
accruals and other payables A5F SRR I 4 A — 12,884 — — 12,884
— 149,935 808 342 151,085
31 March 2019 2019438318
Trade payables B 5 A 30 = 125,579 = — 125,579
Financial liabilities included in T A RERT %2 I K HoAth
accruals and other payables E OV A 8= — 15,134 — — 15,134
— 140,713 — — 140,713
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A B RR MR

31 March 2020
202043H31H

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or
issue new shares. The Group is not required to comply with
any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 31 March
2019.

36. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As further explained in note 2.2 to the financial statements, the
Group adopted HKFRS 16 on 1 April 2019 using the modified
retrospective approach. Under this approach, the comparative
amounts in the financial statements were not restated and
continued to be reported under the requirements of the previous
standard, HKAS 17, and related interpretations.
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36.

THEABEEEERBE
(%)

EXERE

7% S T K B R A AR
A% S [ A T A R A B
{7 B 7 > DA B S I o i A
i PN

A 42 [H] [R] R 48 9 IR U A Bl M AR BE &
1) JEL o BT B R e AR
W o MMEFFO B E AR > R
] W] AE 5 R ) B RS AT R R~ 1)
J AR B AR BB AT R A o AR 4R
9] 4% JH 25 57 AT 0] A0 3 HE AT B B AR B
FE o J # £ 20204F3H31H K 20194
3H31H IE 4 5 > HE 4 50 4 HE A
HEBEE - BoR a2 s o
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AR B R AR R RE

31 March 2020
2020%3H31H

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 37. AR B AR R K

OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the A BH A R A A | BB R UL R Y
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: E R R

As at 31 March As at 31 March

2020 2019
20205 JA 20194
3H31H 3H31H
HK$°000 HK$°000
T 0 T ¥ o
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries & Mt &g 2\ —* —
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments T A B 275 58
Due from subsidiaries R 5 B B 2 ) RIE 202,047 —
Cash and cash equivalents Ba kB &5 EY 16,511 —
218,833 58
Current liabilities nEBARE
Accruals and other payables JRE 5t ) e At
JRE At ek IE (580) —
Due to subsidiaries JRE ASF BF Jag > W] 3k TH — (69)
(580) (69)
Net current assets/(liabilities) RBEEFE
(RBEEFEH) 218,253 (11)
Net assets/(liabilities) BEFHE (EETE) 218,253 (11)
Equity =
Issued capital ST R A 27 19,920 —*
Reserves (note) fith A (BFF ) 198,333 (11)
Total equity AR 2 218,253 (11)
* The amount is less than HK$1,000. g £V iR1,000% T ©
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R B IRARMIEE

31 March 2020
202043H31H

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 37. & A T B # Ak R ]| )
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note: B & -

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AN ) fit A AR A

Share premium Retained profit/

account (Accumulated loss) Total
RE#RA
IR 4 33 B IR (RetE8E) @t
HK$000 HKS$’000 HK$°000
T 0 T T
At 29 October 2018 R2018510829R — - —
Loss for the period A Ji 4 = (11) (11)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 R2019438318 % 2019544818 — (11) (11)
Profit for the year A s A — 38,986 38,986
Issue of shares under initial public offering MR R A B B B 17 Ak 204,180 — 204,180
Share issue expenses AT A B 3 (14,126) — (14,126)
Dividends i B, = (30,696) (30,696)
At 31 March 2020 R202053831H 190,054 8,279 198,333
38. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 38. #LAEM B K
STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue # O F R 20204F 6 H30 H 4t #fE I #% HE
by the board of directors on 30 June 2020. T 8% B B5 ok o
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EFEHBERE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and 7% 4 [ ;A 48 2 {0 B B4 B2 () 36 45 DL L
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial & /& - B & MK JF £ A 25 M 2 (G &k B 40
years, as extracted from the Prospectus and the published audited i & 2 K& O 1) %% 48 95 4% B 155 i %) #5110
financial statements, is set out below. The summary does not form | ° VN R N e o AT
part of the audited financial statements.

RESULTS E

Year ended 31 March
B Z3A31ALEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

20204 20194F 20184 20174 20164
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TET T T T # 0 T T T IT

REVENUE W = 315,122 475,522 313,876 263,823 171,091
Cost of sales B B Wl A (169,548) (247,330) (156,910) (137,991)  (91,398)
Gross profit E A 145,574 228,192 156,966 125,832 79,693
Other income and gains, net  F A it A K i 4 75 %8 4,414 5,496 17,541 5,429 5,114
Selling and distribution 5 K or $5 BA 32

expenses (44,778)  (47,956)  (43,959)  (34,669)  (21,128)
General and administrative ~ — % M 47 B BH 52

expenses (51,261)  (62,575) (24,869)  (17,071)  (12,252)
Other expenses, net HAth BH 2 (%A (18,783) (4,898) 133 (16,828) (6,777)
Finance cost Bl A A (132) = = — —
PROFIT BEFORE TAX RR B A & A 35,034 118,259 105,812 62,693 44,650
Income tax credit/(expense)  JIF 15 Bi #& % (B %) 917 (12,676)  (11,977) (9,116) (9,306)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR &R F 35951 105,583 93,835 53,577 35,344
Attributable to: DA 4% JE JHE 4 -

Shareholders of the ZNNEI i@

Company 35,951 105,579 93,899 53,592 35,354
Non-controlling interests IF ¥ I HE 4 — 4 (64) (15) (10)

35,951 105,583 93,835 53,577 35,344
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hEBHE

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

AE BEKkER

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
20204 20194 20184 20174F 20164F
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000  HK$’000
FHB T T 0 T o T 0 T 0
Non-current assets IE Wi B A 77,638 48,783 18,979 10,622 12,753
Current assets i B 619,092 434,343 407,074 338,201 240,812
Total assets % A 696,730 483,126 426,053 348,823 253,565
Current liabilities = (211,968)  (213,408)  (228,349)  (193,581)  (147,249)
Total assets less current & /& 48 {H Ji i B A 1&
liabilities 484,762 269,718 197,704 155,242 106,316
Non-current liabilities JF Ji ) & & (1,184) 951) = — —
Net assets BEEFE 483,578 268,767 197,704 155,242 106,316
Equity attributable to 4% /A A i 3
Shareholders JEAG HE 45
of the Company 483,578 268,767 197,793 155,267 106,326
Non-controlling I 2 I HE 4
interests — — 89) (25) (10)
Total equity R R 483,578 268,767 197,704 155,242 106,316
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In this report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following
expressions shall have the following meanings.

“Actual Selling Price”

[

“Adoption Date”
(4% 4 H 3

“Articles” or “Articles of
Association”

(4 HI) ] 2% T4 Ak = 72 41 H )
“associate(s)”
RiE PN

“Audit Committee”

[FEHZ AT

“Award”

[ 4% &) J

“Award Period”
[ 45 i 199 )

“Award Shares”
[ 52 b Fg 3 )

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

[E g

“Brand Licensing Business”

[y L 452 6 5

Definitions

Bx

AR A > BRICFE T A BTG o R A At
HAUT#E -

means the actual price at which the Award Shares are sold (net of brokerage, Stock
Exchange trading fee, SFC transaction levy and any other applicable costs) on
vesting of an Award pursuant to the Scheme;

AR 5wt ) S A D I o B A MOy ) R PR AR (BRI - WS TR
by B~ B 5 by BOE BT A AR T A

means 6 February 2020, the date on which the adoption of the Share Award
Scheme was approved by the Board;

202042 H6 H - Bl HE =g it vf PR A A0 4E ) st &0 0 B

the articles of association of our Company, conditionally adopted on 12 April 2019,
as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

AN A AL AR B AR AR > 20194 A H 12 HA R SR A > SRR RT - 4l A 5R
1& o

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules;

TR R P T R E 2R

the audit committee of our Board

EREENLELZART

means an award granted by the Board to a Selected Participant, which may vest in
the form of Award Shares or cash equivalent to the amount of the Actual Selling
Price of the Award Shares, as the Board may determine in accordance with the
terms of the Scheme Rules;

B S AR T IR B0 A R P 1) 4 E 2 B R A B8 o T e 5% ) AT
VLA ) 17 A B I 3 B B A A S A B B 9 TR X

means the period commencing on the Adoption Date, and ending on the day
immediately prior to the 10th anniversary of the Adoption Date;

PRA H B 0 22 BR Ak 0 EE S 10 A 4R HT — H Ak I

means the Shares granted to a Selected Participant in an Award;

DAAE ) T2 5 o) 4 € 2 B3 B B

the board of directors of our Company
AT ESEE

business of licensing of brands by (i) sub-licensing various rights to use the brands
granted by brand licensors and (ii) acting as the agent for the brand licensors to,
among others, identify potential licensees for these brand licensors

A3 () P 52 M ot R R O 3 T ) 22 T o TG R B i) 1 A o TR HE T 14
PO By 5% 55 i WP J7 (R o 60 355 ) W (0 T8 1 4 452 WE 7 A A7 Y o T 42 HE 6 5
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Definitions

“Business Day”
& %H]

“BVI”
3 Jag i Lot B )

“Capitalisation Issue”
[EA AL B 1T]
“CG Code”

[ 36 36 <7 J

“close associate”

B3 PN

“Companies Law” or “Cayman
Companies Law”

[ Wl 3% JE TR 8 A Rl

“Companies Ordinance”

[ w Ao il

LT IYs

“Company”, “our Company”,
“we” or “us”

[ 5 W) s T e
“Connected Person(s)”
[BH#E A+

“connected transaction(s)”

[BH 22 5 )
“Controlling Shareholder(s)”
[ 452 e Ji o

“Director(s)” or “our Director(s)”

[# =

means any day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the business of dealing in
securities;

I 5 o B R R 2 38 S B H T

the British Virgin Islands
U B B

the issue of 1,493,999,999 Shares to be made upon capitalisation of an amount
of HK$14,939,999.99 standing to the credit of the share premium account of our
Company

A ) e 0y T A R 22 7R TR %14,939,999.99 95 JT 1§ 78 AN IFF 85 171,493,999,999
Ji& 11 A5y

Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

T A SUDBES Bk F A 2 EA SF

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

H A E iR BT T A 2R

the Companies Laws, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman Islands as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time

B2 A R 0 W BE22 % (19614F T4 Bl = » 48 45 &5 RAERT) » S8 R REIE T ~ il 72
g LA At 75 48 2k

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended or
supplemented from time to time

A 35 B 6227 2 mI R ) > AR IR B T R T

MEDIALINK GROUP LIMITED, an exempted company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability on 29 October 2018 and references to “we”,
“us” or “our” refer to our Group or, where the context requires, our Company
RIREMA R AR > — A A 20184E10H 29 H i BH = B & 5T M L 57 A9 1 38 % A
FR 2 m] > [ AM ) Bl A /Y 1Y $2 20t 8 A £ 1 A 2> =] (8 F- S0 26 T 1)

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules;

TR P T B E 2R

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

H A B R BT BT B 2R

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules and in the context of our
Company, means Ms. Lovinia Chiu and RLA

HA BRI iR > A ARSI o 588/ &t M RLA

the director(s) of our Company

BN
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“Eligible Person(s)”

[EEm AL

“Frost & Sullivan”
[ 27 W7 4 b ) 3¢

“Frost & Sullivan Report”
[ 3 5 W7 R 0 M SR A

“Global Offering”
[ Bk 5% 4

“Grant Date”

[ it H 4

CLITs

“Group”, “our Group”,
“we” or “us”

[ S ) s A

“HK$”, “HKD” or
“Hong Kong dollars”
[ 7t ]

“HKFRS”
[ s S 5 ot e B

“Hong Kong”
[ i |

Definitions

means any individual, being a director (excluding independent non-executive
Directors), senior management, employee (whether full-time or part-time),
consultant or advisor of the Group who the Board considers, in its sole discretion,
has contributed or will contribute to the Group; however, no individual who is
resident in a place where the grant, acceptance or vesting of an Award pursuant to
the Scheme is not permitted under the laws and regulations of such place or where,
in the view of the Board, compliance with applicable laws and regulations in such
place makes it necessary or expedient to exclude such individual, shall be entitled
to participate in the Scheme and such individual shall therefore be excluded from
the term Eligible Person;

S AR S R AR A S0 A RO AR S 0 S OR RS B S R BT
) SAREEANE - RS (R ECHR) - BR SR E R 8 R L A
JIr e i [ F) 5 R Dk KR A LR AR R R ) e M R~ Ak B A
HEFGREARBEE LR AR LTREERRZAL AIZAL
WHEZ B AR RMAGERK AL

Frost & Sullivan International Limited, an independent consulting firm that
provides market research and analysis

91 7 B0 5 U A SC R AT R m] > — ] R T 85 W A0F % o A B 8 ST R

a market research report commissioned by us and prepared by Frost & Sullivan

FeAM 22 BB o 4 i e 10 B SC A SRR T 35 B 5 R

the Hong Kong Public Offering and the International Placing
A 2> B 5% B D o [t i B

means the date on which the grant of an Award is made to a Selected Participant,
being the date of an award letter;

6] 5 7E 2 Bl 35 43 0 A ) 6 F 3BT o B AR Y 1K A H A

our Company and its subsidiaries at the relevant time or, where the context
otherwise requires, in respect of the period prior to our Company becoming the
holding company of its present subsidiaries, such subsidiaries as if they were
subsidiaries of our Company at the relevant time

A ) B FG TR A T R (D 00 R > D > ERAN SO 3R 0 A AR o AR 28 mD R B
A B T8 2 WA 2 2 w22 W D B0 2 A AT S0 D0 AR 2 ] R 2 R R
5 it )& 2~ W

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
L E BT

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
A B 5 e A v 1

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
o B A U R AT R
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Definitions

“Hong Kong Branch Share

Registrar”

[ 5 B ot 5 % 5T 0 B

“IPY”
[HH

“Listing”

[

29

“Listing Date

[ H )

“Listing Rules”

[ b B A
“Macau”

RSN

“MAIL”

[ 0 ) 3 (I F%) )

“MAIL Acquisition”

[ 50 B T (B B Wi )

“Main Board”

[E ]

“Media Content Distribution

Business”
[ 15 8 N 25 3 4T

Tricor Investor Services Limited, our branch share registrar and transfer agent in
Hong Kong

L BT RA T > B AT T U I 0 P B R 4

Japanese Yen, the lawful currency of Japan

HA 2 B H A

the listing of the shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
B A7 7% B 52 BT EAR BT

the date on Tuesday, 21 May 2019, on which the Shares were first listed and from
which dealings in the Shares were permitted to take place on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange

20194F5 121 H (B 1 =) » BIVBc A 1 v b i Sl 8 of i B 5 P AR B AR L
ZH

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, as amended or supplemented from time to time

I A 5 Sy B AR A R RS SR BT R A > AR B AE T B T

the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC
H e TR AR AT IR [

Medialink Animation International Limited, a company incorporated in Hong
Kong on 11 August 2000 with limited liability
Fo IR B i (B BE) A R A A > — B R 20004F8 H 11 H 76 7 W &5 it 1z i A R

247

acquisition of the remaining 50% shareholding interest in MAIL by Ms. Lovinia

Chiu, completion of which took place on 27 August 2018
T /1N 386 L o i R R B (I B ) R R 50% B HE - AT B UGB 1A 20184 8 27 H 5
I

the stock exchange (excluding the options market) operated by the Stock Exchange
which is independent from and operated in parallel with GEM of the Stock
Exchange

H B 28 BT 1Y 8 55 5 B BT (A B0 6 S0 R 117 35) - A 8 57 R W 5 BT GEM Y 1
DUT B GEM — [R] i B 28 BT 4

business of distribution of media content by sub-licensing various rights to exploit
the media content granted by the media content licensors and co-investment in the
production of media content

75 8 T 15 4% Bl RSURE LA B 3 15 B R 72 3 O B R RE T B 0 A DA e SR B
B B T A Y R TN A R AT R
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“MEL”

[ F 5 42 |

“Memorandum” or

“Memorandum of Association”

[ e R A ) s [AH 4% 55 7 K 4

“MFE”

[MFE ]

“Ms. Barbara Chiu”
[ /NS 2]

“Ms. Lovinia Chiu”

[ /N 3 4+ )

“Ms. Noletta Chiu”
[ /] B L+

“myTV SUPER”
[myTV SUPER ]

“Net Proceeds”

[T 45 75K JH 15 A1

“Nomination Committee”

g

“on-market”

(% N2 5 )

Definitions

Medialink Entertainment Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong on 13
October 2000 with limited liability and a wholly owned subsidiary of our Company
IR IR YA IR A w] > — AR 20004E10 H 1I3H 7E & s sk MR 2 A BR A ) - fb
Ay w22 W A W

the memorandum of association of our Company, conditionally adopted on 12 April
2019, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

AN ) AR AR T R KA R 20194F A H 12 H A R AT R A > BORIFAEET - il 78 5L
DA At 77 A& 2

Medialink (Far East) Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong on 11 July
2001 with limited liability and a wholly owned subsidiary of our Company
Medialink (Far East) Limited > — [ i 20014E7H 11 H 7£ & ¥ 51 M 557 19 A BR 2
GV RN DS < d i) - 2]

Ms. Chiu Siu Ling Barbara, a member of our senior management and the sister of
Ms. Lovinia Chiu and Ms. Noletta Chiu
B /NFE Lo e A TR A B A B /) e L B N R & Y B b

Ms. Chiu Siu Yin Lovinia, the chairman of our Board, an executive Director and
chief executive officer of our Company, our Controlling Shareholder, and the sister
of Ms. Noletta Chiu and Ms. Barbara Chiu

/N > RNRFEEG T - PUAT I AT B R B R R A R
INJB 2 R N B e B B ik

Ms. Chiu Siu Fung Noletta, our executive Director and the sister of Ms. Barbara
Chiu and Ms. Lovinia Chiu
/N R e FRAM I AT S R N B Lo B /D e L I N ik

a media platform operated by TVB Group
—fl B TVB 4 [ 1 R 6

Proceeds from issuance of the shares in the Company in connection with the
Listing after deduction of the underwriting fees and commissions and expenses

payable by the Company
KEFT B AR 20 ) B AN 60 8 B B 4 DA R BA S A% - B T AR TR Y AR A0 WD R B
GEECE S5

the nomination committee of our Board
HEGRAZEY

means the acquisition of Shares through one or more transactions through the
facilities of the Stock Exchange in accordance with the Listing Rules and any other
applicable laws and regulations;

FRAEE b i KRR R AT a7 G Al AR B 05 7R B 3k AR TE i 52 T AR i 2 A — I E 2 IR 32
oy Wi E By
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Definitions

PO 2
ES
#
“PRC” or “China” or The People’s Republic of China, but for the purpose of this report and for
“Mainland China” geographical reference only and except where the context requires, references

in this report to “China” and the “PRC” do not include Hong Kong, Macau and
Taiwan

A AR T RN e N RSLANE > A AR HROE R M B F - KBRS AR AR A N R
AR ARSI - WM LA

“Principal Share Registrar” Walkers Corporate Limited

[ 1y 48 58 5T 48 | Walkers Corporate Limited

“Prospectus” prospectus of the Company dated 30 April 2019

[ B % 7 A w B £520194F 4 A 30 H A 7 i 75 72

“Remuneration Committee” the remuneration committee of our Board

[# % 8 e EHEHEMERE

“Reorganisation” the reorganisation of our Group in preparation for the Listing

[ 40 ] A B2 ) f 3 b T AT R AR

“Reporting Period” means the reporting period for the year ended 31 March 2020

[ 399 ] % 20204F3 31 H 1E4F B 1 1

“Returned Shares” means the Award Shares that are not vested and/or are forfeited in accordance with

the terms of the Scheme, or such Shares being deemed to be Returned Shares under
the Scheme Rules;

(R 2 i 1 ) AR ) A NG A B A T2 A ) S D 7 AR B R B R R R T
i3 19 BB A3 5
“RLA” RLA Company Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI with limited liability

on 23 October 2018, which is one of our Controlling Shareholders and wholly
owned by Ms. Lovinia Chiu

[RLA | RLA Company Limited > — [ i~ 20184F10H23 H 7& 9 J& J& L B 55 sk Mt 7 9 4
Rawr > BERMEBERERL— - Tl 2 ERA

“RMB” Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

NS B E BN R

“Scheme” or “Share Award means the share award scheme adopted by the Company in accordance with these
Scheme” Scheme Rules on the Adoption Date;

[&1# | 5% TR AR A 2w AR B s AR R PR A ) Ty 5 D S )
[ 1oy 5% &) =t &) )
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“Scheme Limit”

(5 #1 FFR

“Scheme Rules”

[ &t #1812l

“Selected Participant(s)”
[46 € 2 Bl & |

“SFC”
[ Bg )

“SFO”

[ 75 B 0 B e o )

“SGD”
[ 38 ¢ |

“Share(s)”

e 3]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ 3

“Stock Exchange”
RS

“subsidiary(ies)”

[ A Jag 2% )

“Subsidiary” or “Subsidiaries”

[ i} Jag 2% )

Definitions

means the aggregate number of Shares underlying all grants that may be made
pursuant to the Scheme (excluding Award Shares that have been forfeited in
accordance with the Scheme), being 10% (i.e. 199,200,000 Shares) of the total
number of issued Shares as at the Adoption Date;

R wH H 00 2 B BT 9 R B TR 3 AR (AN 0 455 AR 452 ) 352 s 1 5 D I )
BIVER 44 H 1 2 38 AT B S B9 10% (R1199,200,000 8 A7) 5

means the rules set out in the Scheme as amended from time to time;

w1 I SR R R (RS BB T

means any Eligible Person approved for participation in the Scheme and who has
been granted any Award;

AT o] 6 Wi 2 Bt ) S % 2 4 i 09 5 B AN L

means the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong;

HBEFLMBEHEEEREZRE:

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended or supplemented from time to time

B 35 01 50571 & g5 S ) B ] o B W B RT A R

Singapore dollar, the lawful currency of Singapore

TN 3 3 RE BN R 35 e

means ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company, or, if
there has been a sub-division, consolidation, re-classification or re-construction of
the share capital of the Company, shares forming part of the ordinary share capital
of the Company of such other nominal amount as shall result from any such sub-
division, consolidation, re-classification or re-construction;

Ay E R AR H g BT (BL0.01HE T #9578 I > s (A A R AR - S 0F - &
Wy B A PR AR - & OF - R 0 ST EE A BT A A AR A W A A A
T L H) i 3 5

holder(s) of Shares
I ELES DN

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
s i 5 52 5 P A PR 22 )

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

FLA b i 5B A9 2R

means any subsidiary (as the term is defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company;

Ay mAT AR B T 28 ] (G 38 S BT BRI 5
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Definitions

PO 2
ES
#
“Substantial Shareholder” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
[ 2 FLAT i 050 BT 3 1 R R
“Trust” means the trust constituted by the Trust Deed to service the Scheme;
EEEA 15 5E 22 40 A A e 5 w81 1) A5 5E
“Trust Deed” means the trust deed to be entered into between the Company and the Trustee (as
may be restated, supplemented and amended from time to time);
[5 7t 47 AN A B2 G NFT AL RS RE AT (S| AR 51~ R BT
“Trustee” means the trustee appointed by the Company for the purpose of the Trust;
ESiPN ARNF R R ZFEN
“US dollars” or “US$” United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
S F Bk E R E T
“Vesting Date” means the date as determined from time to time by the Board, on which the Award

(or part thereof) is to vest in the relevant Selected Participant as set out in the
relevant award letter.

[ fist J§ 11 39 ) S N I TR E A T AE D R i R A ) (s CHC TR ) BB T A B s E 2
EERMHEMY -

LEIT3 LEET

In this report, the terms “associate”, “close associate”, “connected A 4G A > BRIE X B H IR > & Q[ B
person”, “connected transaction”, “controlling shareholder”, “core % A | ~[Z BB A |~ TB#H A1 |- [BH#H
connected person” and “subsidiary(ies)” shall have the meanings 355 | ~[4E B B o | ~ TAZ 0 B4+ | & TR
given to such terms in the Listing Rules, unless the context otherwise  J& /2 & | E B 45 7 & JI Ar il 7 2 i 36 -
requires.
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Glossary of Technical Terms

SR

This glossary contains explanations of certain terms used in this 4% fl & %% 8 A5 4% i 5 o F 45 T sl 5 0 figt
report. These terms and their meanings may or may not correspond to % o % 5 il 52 S H i 28 oK % B 5% 55 ) ¢

standard industry meaning or usage of these terms.

“brand(s)”

[

“brand licensor(s)”

[t 452 HE 7

“character brand(s)”

[ 0 TE B i it

“fashion brand(s)”

[ B 14 i B

“inflight distribution rights”

[ 22 85 17 hRAE

«1p”
(A0 il

“IPTV rights”

[ - 2 0 i e i
“media content”

[EHE N2

“media content licensor(s)”
[ B T 2 P T )

“merchandising rights”

REEEES

“minimum guarantee”

[ AR 58 4

0 1 e 2K e SRS — B e

comprising trademarks, characters, labels, names, logos, designs, or the names and/
or likeness thereof, which may be further categorised into character brands, fashion
brands, lifestyle brands and other brands

G AE - R 20 e RETS 2R G T
O3 B A TR SR R - TRE I R~ 2RI R B A o

licensor(s) of brand(s)

i WA 7

brand(s) involving characters from animation or comics

e E Ik RN RN iR

brand(s) involving fashion labels or fashion names

W B Ry 5 i R IR 19 42 R ) R

the rights to exhibit the media content to aircraft passengers during a flight via
aircraft broadcasting channels

P TR S e 208 A0 S B B 0 M A 1) AU K o R R s A R A A ) HE

intellectual property

R il 7

the rights to distribute streaming media content directly to viewers over the internet
Via private, dedicated network

75 FL N S A A% T 1) T A B AT R O L 1A O HE M

media content including animation series, drama series, animated feature films,
live-action feature films and other video content

HEANEEEHER EHE - RRBHEEY - EARRBE P &L H 15
%

licensor(s) of media content

RS N R HE DT

the rights to produce, manufacture, sell and otherwise distribute, advertise and
promote any tangible items, goods and/or products being or using the brands,
characters, designs or the names and/or likeness thereof

AR A RET SR AR SRR - R B E R Ay
2o 8 E R AT A A TR R B S Y RE

an advance payment made by a licensee to a licensor to obtain the licensing
rights, which will be recognised as licensed assets; it is usually non-refundable but
recoupable or shall be set-off against the royalty payable

WA HE T 1) 2 HE 7 ST RO FEAS 3K > A AT SRR HE A > 52 B AE R S e G 2 4%
REE A s O AN AR M T AR AT o O K B AT A RRBL
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iR

“OTT”
[OTTI

“promotion rights”

[i2 5 HE |

“royalty rate(s)”

[ <

Ty
[ ]

“VOD rights”

[ 45 S 8% % |

over-the-top channels that distribute streaming media content directly to viewers
over the internet via open network, including subscription-based video on demand
services

75 1t BA ok =X A 4% T 2 ) G A B B B AT R O A B TR 8 Y over-the-top JRAH
A5 LT R R 00 A B 9 AR 5

the rights to use brands, characters, designs or the names to advertise and
promote the goods, services, or general business operation of a licensee, including
advertisements prepared for all print and audio-visual media uses (including radio,
television and film), packaging materials, point-of-sale displays, premium items
and other promotional items

AR~ A BRI A AR RER o DLE Rk B R T I B IR
BCRE B SE SRS AR L I A BRI B AR R T A (RS AR R A
BB 5 M SAE (0 B~ G HEORE - B B B R UR 8 S B A AR B W

payment made by one party, the licensee/sub-licensee, to another party, the
licensor/master licensee, for the use of media content/brands of the licensor/master
licensee expressed as a percentage of the revenue obtained using the media content/
brands or as a fixed value, depending on the agreements between the parties

— 7 (BB HE T7 /P W M T ) o A ) W A R T B IR TR 2
0] 53— 07 (BHE Ty R IERE 7)) SCAT I 3K > BF & 07 2 B ek o 2y 6
I PR 72 T A I A R 1 — 43 b s — R R

television

video-on-demand rights, i.e. the rights to exhibit the media content, where the
timing of the delivery/exhibition of the media content is not pre-determined, but
rather is at the viewer’s discretion, and in connection with a fee

AL UF B R HE DR S I OO A B RE A > b I PR A S AT R T TR O
St /Y > T2 B B AT PE > I ZH SN 2
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